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United Bankers Plc is a Finnish asset management and investment market expert. United Bankers has two busi-
ness areas, wealth management and capital markets services. In wealth management, the Group specialises 
in real asset investments including forest, real estate, and infrastructure funds. The majority of the income from 
operations is generated by wealth management segment, whose customers include individuals, companies 
and institutions. United Bankers’ main market area is Finland, but the Group also actively offers its services in 
Sweden. Versatile real asset investment solutions have been the spearheads, as the company has expanded 
the distribution of its products to other Nordic countries and the Central European market in recent years. United 
Bankers’ aim is to be the leading Nordic alternative asset manager and the most trusted partner to its clients.

United Bankers in brief

UNITED BANKERS
BUSINESS SEGMENTS

wealth management

funds
—

asset management
—

structured products

capital markets services

corporate finance advisory services
— 

equity and debt based financing
—

corporate finance solutions
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assets under management 

4.8 bn eur

founded

1986
investment professionals *

~200

Listed on Nasdaq Helsinki
Stock Exchange Ltd

Building wealth in a responsible way

funds

25

*Total number of employees and tied agents
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CEO’s review
John Ojanperä
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I am John Ojanperä and I now have the pleasure of writing my first

CEO’s review. In early November, I took the baton from Patrick Anderson, 

who has led the company for 18 years, and who will be nominated as full-time 

Chairman of the Board at the AGM in spring 2025. I have started my new role as 

CEO of United Bankers Plc filled with curiosity and excitement. I have been

part of the UB team for ten years. For the last eight years, I have been the

CEO of our fund management company and a member of the Group’s

management team. The company has evolved enormously in that time. 
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During Patrick’s tenure as CEO, which began in 2007, a new 
growth strategy was created for the company, the company went 
public and UB has become one of the leading alternative invest-
ment management companies in the Nordic region. I have had 
the pleasure of working closely with Patrick for a long time and I 
am delighted that our close cooperation will continue in the future.

The year 2024 was one of slowing inflation and falling interest 
rates. It was a mixed year for the investment markets: global eq-
uity, interest rate and forestry markets performed well, while the 
Finnish real estate and equity markets clearly underperformed the 
rest of the world. 

For the United Bankers Group, 2024 was the strongest year in 
terms of revenue and operating profit in the company’s 38-year 
history and the sixth consecutive record-breaking year. Revenue 
increased by 19.1 per cent to EUR 62.1 million. Our adjusted oper-
ating profit increased as much as 40.0 per cent to EUR 23.7 million 
and profit for the financial period rose by 33.3 per cent to EUR 18.4 
million. Net subscriptions to our funds fell to EUR 128 million (EUR 
187 million), as total sales of asset management products and 
services increased by 4.7 per cent to EUR 524 million. Our cost-
to-income ratio improved to 0.62 (0.67).

While the year was very strong in terms of the figures, in both ab-
solute terms and relative to most of our competitors, it was also a 
varied year in terms of business. Our forest funds and our wealth 
management business again delivered excellent returns to our 

clients and the returns of almost all of our other funds were also 
positive. The largest net inflows were into our asset management 
services and, on the fund side, into fixed income and renewable 
energy. 

On the other hand, it was a difficult year for new sales of all our 
alternative funds, as the positive effects of interest rate cuts have 
mainly carried over to 2025. Our real estate funds produced 
slightly negative returns for our clients during the period, but we 
avoided fund closures and significant redemptions thanks to the 
excellent diversification of the funds, which are geographically 
spread across the Nordic countries and broadly across proper-

ty categories. In capital markets services business, on the other 
hand, the quiet transaction market and the postponement of pro-
jects weighed on the performance, which was lower than both the 
previous year and the targets. Moreover, once again, we were not 
spared from the effects of general inflationary pressures on our 
costs in the financial year just ended.

Despite the slower-than-normal growth in assets under man-
agement, we were able to deliver on our strategy with excellent 
performance. In a nutshell, this meant simplifying our business 
and focusing on the launch of new core funds and on fundrais-
ing. Around Europe, we met more new institutional investors than 
ever before, and the first housing fund in the company’s history 
was established. The fund aims to take advantage of the above- 
average expected returns of the Finnish housing market, as many 

Our share is the only one on the Helsinki

Stock Exchange that has delivered a positive

total return to its shareholders for seven

consecutive calendar years



9

investors are forced to sell their housing stock in illiquid markets at 
below-average valuation levels.

The biggest internal system reform in the company’s history was 
rolled out in spring 2024. This will accelerate our efficiency work 
in the future, as a single system will speed up and increase the 
agility of the company’s operational processes and their further 
development. At the same time, we will be able to further improve 
the client experience. 

Through our selection of funds, we want to play a stronger role in 
addressing global environmental challenges while delivering ex-
cellent risk-adjusted returns to our clients. All our core funds are 
working on global solutions, and through them we can make a dif-
ference, which is significantly greater than our size, in terms of the 
mitigation of climate change, for example. These megatrends that 
drive international capital flows will increasingly provide us with 
tailwinds in the coming years.

At the end of 2024, United Bankers received excellent scores in 
the PRI (Principles for Responsible Investment) assessment of the 
responsibility of its investment activities. In the asset-specific as-
sessments, we received a full 5/5 stars for all scored assets and 
improved our scores in the sections on engagement and voting 
activity compared to the previous assessment in 2023.

We received some of our investor feedback in the form of posi-
tive subscriptions and some in the form of new shareholders. The 
number of our shareholders increased by about 10 per cent during 
the year and our share is the only one on the Helsinki Stock Ex-
change that has delivered a positive total return to its shareholders 
for seven consecutive calendar years. As a result of the positive 
value development, our company was upgraded to the Mid Cap 
segment on the Helsinki Stock Exchange at the turn of the year.

The most important asset at United Bankers is the UB team. In 
2024, United Bankers received the Most Inspiring Workplaces in 
Finland recognition for the third year in a row, and the PeoplePower 
Index, which measures employee engagement, continued to de-
velop positively. Based on the results of the sustainability section 
of the employee survey, United Bankers also received an award 
for being the Most Responsible Workplace in Finland. As a strong 
sign of commitment, we can mention that the share of ownership 
of United Bankers among its personnel, board members and tied 
agents totalled approximately 57 per cent of the company at the 
end of the financial year.

As the new CEO, I look to the future of the company with confi-
dence. The change of leadership will not change the company’s 
strategic direction, but the new division of responsibilities within 
the top management is expected to enable an even more effective 
execution of the growth strategy – together with the UB team and 
with all our stakeholders. As a person and a leader, I am first and 
foremost a team player, which is why team spirit has always been 
closest to my heart when it comes to our company’s values. I be-
lieve that together with the entire UB team we can go a long way. 
I am surrounded by a top team, our focus is in the right place and 
our products and services are of the highest quality. We now have 
every opportunity to take the company to the next level.

Finally, I would like to thank our clients and shareholders for their 
strong and long-standing trust. I would also like to thank the in-
credible UB team for their great teamwork in a demanding envi-
ronment. The work done in 2024 and our record profit provide us 
with an excellent basis to continue creating value for our clients 
and other stakeholders. Our focus on generating future growth 
is even more strongly beyond Finland’s borders and our goal is 
to build our company into a European alternative fund manager. 
This international growth will not prevent us from improving our 
operations in Finland and we will not forget our roots. We want to 
continue being the most trusted asset management partner for our 
Finnish clients. 

John Ojanperä
CEO, United Bankers Plc



10

Year 2024 in figures

revenue

meur 62.1
growth compared

to the preceding year

+19.1%

adjusted operating profit 

meur 23.7
growth compared

to the preceding year

+40.0%

earnings

per share 

eur 1.66
growth compared

to the preceding year

+34.3%

profit for the 
financial period 

meur 18.4
growth compared

to the preceding year

+33.3%
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Year 2024 in figures

dividend proposal

eur 1.10

funds’ forest hectares

~140,000 ha

ownership of the ub share by 
personnel and the board

57%

funds’ real estate area

~406,000 m2
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United Bankers’ full-year result once again reached 
a new record high. The key factor driving the strong growth in 
profits was the sale of partnership interests and 33,000 hectares 
of forest properties of the UB Nordic Forest Fund II LP to the Ger-
man Munich Re Group’s asset management company, MEAG, in 
March. The forest fund transaction was an excellent demonstra-
tion of United Bankers’ ability to build profitable forest property 
portfolios for its investors.

United Bankers’ assets under management increa- 
sed from EUR 4.6 billion to EUR 4.8 billion over the year. The 
positive performance of asset management and nearly all funds 
contributed to the development of assets under management. The 
funds attracted net subscriptions of EUR 128 million during the 
year, including investment commitments from limited partnership 
(LP) funds. The market environment was not favorable for Unit-
ed Bankers’ real asset funds, and especially the real estate funds 
suffered from the weak market conditions. However, the demand 
for discretionary asset management services continued its strong 
growth, with new capital raised more than twice as much com-
pared to the previous year.

In May, United Bankers organised directed share is-
sues for the Group’s employees and management, as well as for 
the Group’s tied agents and certain holding companies of key per-
sons acting as directors of alternative investment funds managed 
by the company’s Group. The issues generated broad interest, 
and they were subscribed 2.2 times in total. Nearly 70 per cent of 
those eligible to subscribe participated in the employee issue, and 
approximately 75 per cent of those eligible subscribed to the tied 
agent issue. A total of 137 UB employees and agents participating 
in the issues demonstrates a strong commitment to the long-term 
strategy and objectives of the company.

Key events of the year 2024 in brief
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The commitment to a thriving and motivated personnel 
was reflected in the results of the employee survey conducted by 
Eezy Flow. United Bankers once again received Fin-
land’s Most Inspiring Workplace recognition. Addi-
tionally, the company was awarded the title of Most Responsible 
Workplace in Finland in 2024. Good team spirit and positive at-
mosphere among the personnel were also reflected in the cus-
tomer experience. According to customer satisfaction surveys, 
satisfaction has improved among both private and institutional 
investors.

During the spring, United Bankers’ major IT system 
reform moved into the roll-out phase. The reform re-
placed the previous systems for portfolio management, custody 
and settlement of securities and reporting, among others, with one 
new system. The system project was carried out in cooperation 
with the Finnish software company Digia Plc. The move to a single, 
modern master system simplifies and streamlines the Group’s in-
ternal processes and allows for more flexible development of ser-
vices such as digital services and client reporting.

In November, the Board of Directors of United Bank-
ers appointed John Ojanperä as the company’s new 
CEO. John Ojanperä, who has been with the United Bankers 
Group since 2014, previously served as the CEO of UB Fund Man-
agement Company Ltd. In addition, he has been a member of 
United Bankers’ management team since 2016. Patrick Anderson, 
the company’s long-time CEO, is nominated to the company’s 
Board of Directors at the 2025 Annual General Meeting. If Ander-
son is elected to the Board of Directors, the current Board mem-
bers who are proposed for the Board of Directors, if re-elected, 
have announced that they will elect Patrick Anderson as Chair of 
the Board.

Key events of the year 2024 in brief
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Ten years as a listed company

The new CEO, John Ojanperä, continues close collaboration 
with Patrick Anderson to develop the company.
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At the end of November, United Bankers marked the tenth

anniversary of its stock exchange listing. The company transitioned to the 

Helsinki Main Market via the First North marketplace in June 2020. Another 

milestone was achieved at the beginning of 2025 when the company moved 

to the Mid Cap category for mid-sized companies on the Helsinki Main Market. 

Looking ahead to future growth goals, the company is now charting its course 

under new leadership, with John Ojanperä taking over as CEO of United 

Bankers on November 1, 2024. Meanwhile, Patrick Anderson, who had led

the company since 2007, is a candidate for United Bankers’ Board of Directors 

and its chairmanship at the 2025 Annual General Meeting.



16



17

The 2014 listing on the First North marketplace was a significant 
step in United Bankers’ growth strategy, which had been launched 
in 2007. The purpose of the listing was to accelerate growth and 
expand operations both organically and through corporate trans-
actions. The growth strategy had already been implemented de-
cisively before the listing, with a particular emphasis on the de-
velopment of the fund business, which was recognised as a key 
component for future success. Nevertheless, ten years ago, trans-
action-based business still played a significant role in the com-
pany’s results. “Securities brokerage, the sale of structured in-
vestment products, and investment banking activities had a much 
larger role than they do today. However, even then, we understood 
that future growth needed to be built on asset management and 
fund operations,” explains CEO John Ojanperä.

Bold decisions drove significant
growth in funds

The first steps in expanding the fund business were taken even 
before the company’s listing, when United Bankers’ subsidiary, UB 
Fund Management Company, acquired the business operations 
of Aventum Fund Management Company at the end of 2011. The 
arrangement complemented United Bankers’ fund selection with 
funds investing in listed real estate and infrastructure companies, 
serving as the starting point for wealth management solutions fo-
cused on real asset investments. The arrangement also signifi-
cantly strengthened United Bankers’ position among institutional 
clients. The decision to focus on its area of expertise has since 
proven to be highly successful and well-timed, as today, various 
real asset investment solutions account for 37 per cent of the 
Group’s assets under management.

The acquisition of Nordic Forest Management Ltd at the begin-
ning of 2014 also played a significant role in the growth of United 
Bankers’ business. This acquisition led to the establishment of the 
company’s first forest fund. Since then, several funds have been 
launched for both private and institutional investors, and the suc-
cess of forest funds has become one of the key drivers of United 
Bankers’ growth. “Developing the business centered a round for-
estry expertise has, in my view, been one of our company’s most 
important achievements. In 2014, our first forest fund had assets 

of just a few tens of millions of euros, whereas today, the com-
bined assets of our forest funds total nearly EUR 700 million. Ad-
ditionally, forest investments have consistently delivered excellent 
returns for our clients,” emphasises Ojanperä.

Over the years, the development of the fund selection has sought 
to leverage the company’s unique expertise in real asset in-
vesting, aiming to offer clients solutions that stand out from the 
mainstream. For example, alongside real estate equity funds, the 
company soon introduced funds investing directly in real estate. 
“Funds that invest in the real estate markets of Finland and other 
Nordic countries have been one of the core pillars of our busi-
ness, alongside forest funds, even though the past couple of years 
have been challenging for real estate investors due to rising inter-
est rates. Despite the tough market environment, our real estate 
funds have performed commendably, thanks to broad diversifica-
tion across different real estate classes and successful portfolio 
management,” says Ojanperä. He also notes that the real estate 
market is now expected to improve after a two-year downturn. 
“With declining interest rates, the outlook for real estate markets 
appears much brighter again, and we aim to offer our clients the 
opportunity to take advantage of favorable conditions in the Finn-
ish housing market. The first capital calls for UB Asuntorahasto I 
Ky, established in the fall and targeted at professional investors, 
were issued at the turn of the year. I believe that, in the long run, 
real estate investments belong in a well-diversified portfolio. For 
this reason, real estate funds will continue to play an important role 
in our company’s growth in the future.”

Investments can create positive impact

Understanding and leveraging megatrends have also been crucial 
to the growth of United Bankers’ business. In particular, address-
ing climate change has emerged as a significant theme in the 
development of the fund portfolio. United Bankers’ funds provide 
opportunities to invest in carbon sequestration and assets that 
support the transition to a low-carbon, climate-resilient economy. 
The climate change mitigation megatrend is especially evident in 
the forest funds, whose owned forests serve as substantial carbon 
stores and sinks. “In recent years, we have sought to increase our 
ability to address global environmental challenges, and through 
our funds, we can play a role far larger than our size would sug-
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gest. Our latest funds, UB Forest Industry Green Growth Fund 
(UB FIGG) and UB Renewable Energy Fund, are excellent exam-
ples of this. Both funds have strong link to the ongoing green tran-
sition. I am proud and excited that our products enable investors 
to genuinely create positive impacts and improve the world – with-
out compromising returns. Investment choices matter,” Ojanperä 
concludes.

United Bankers has continuously deepened its expertise in the for-
estry sector over the years. The strategy of the UB FIGG private 
equity fund, which invests in forest and bio-based innovations, is 
also strongly rooted in the company’s extensive forestry knowl-
edge. “The forest industry is undergoing a transformation where 
sustainability is the guiding theme. This shift is giving rise to en-

tirely new pulp, paper, and wood-based products that can replace 
materials such as plastics, ceramics, fossil-based chemicals, and 
even battery components. Our fund is actively investing in these 
innovations,” explains Ojanperä.

Through its forest funds, United Bankers is the fourth-largest pri-
vate forest owner in Finland. This provides significant synergies 
between the company’s forest funds and the UB Renewable Ener-
gy Fund, which invests in renewable energy development projects 
and power plants, such as wind and solar energy. “We have al-
ways aimed to develop our fund family by leveraging our expertise 
and ensuring that the funds complement our existing real asset 
solutions. For instance, UB Renewable Energy Fund’s own wind 
power projects are being planned on land owned by our forest 
funds. This flexible collaboration significantly accelerates the de-
velopment of renewable energy projects, thereby hastening the 

realisation of expected returns. Similarly, the unit holders of our 
forest funds benefit from additional revenue through land lease 
agreements for wind turbines,” explains Ojanperä.

Growth requires bold decisions and a focus 
on what matters most

Since its listing in 2014, United Bankers has successfully created 
stable growth. In addition to the favorable development of its as-
set management business, particularly its funds, growth has also 
been driven by successful acquisitions. The most significant of 
these is likely the company’s largest acquisition in its history, when 
United Bankers acquired the entire shareholding of Suomen Pank-

kiiriliike Oy in 2017. The acquisition of Suomen Pankkiiriliike signif-
icantly strengthened the company’s distribution power. Over the 
years, the company has also completed several smaller transac-
tions. ”After the 2008 financial crisis, industry regulation increased 
significantly. As a result, it became clear that profitable growth 
would require the company to scale up to a larger size. Our suc-
cess recipe in corporate acquisitions has been simple. We have 
always tried to find the parts of businesses that complement our 
own, rather than focusing on achievable cost savings. We have 
also been careful to ensure that compatibility extends to company 
cultures,” emphasises Ojanperä.

In the ten years following its listing, United Bankers’ revenue, 
profit, assets under management, and client base have all experi-
enced strong growth. In recent years, the company has repeatedly 

In the ten years following its listing, United
Bankers’ revenue, profit, assets under management,
and client base have all experienced strong growth



19

managed to improve its performance, despite the challenges pre-
sented by the operating environment, ranging from the pandemic 
to the war in Ukraine, as well as the acceleration of inflation and 
the subsequent rapid rise in interest rates. ”It is important that we 
expand our business and develop new areas. Still, I consider sim-
plifying our operations as a key to success, as it has strengthened 
our profitability. We have streamlined our processes and clarified 
our organisational structure by reducing the number of group 
companies and eliminating redundant functions. Overall, growth 
has required many reforms and a clearer focus on our core activ-
ities,” summarises Ojanperä. ”Today, the majority of our compa-
ny’s profits come from businesses that didn’t even exist ten years 
ago or were just getting started. Focusing on the scalability of our 
business and services that generate ongoing fees has been an 
important guiding principle in this transformation. It has meant di-
recting our resources towards wealth management and expertise 
built around real assets.”

The development of information systems and digital services has 
also had a significant impact as an enabler of growth. ”Feedback 
from our customers indicates that digital services will play an even 
more important role in the future. Therefore, investments in digital 
services will continue to play a key role moving forward. In the 
spring of 2024, we completed the largest information system over-
haul in our history. The goal now is to leverage the opportunities 
provided by the new system, particularly in the further development 
of digital services and improving operational efficiency. Through 
process automation, we can achieve significant cost savings, but 
even more importantly, we aim to provide top-tier customer expe-
riences through high-quality online services,” Ojanperä reminds.

United Bankers succeeds together

When United Bankers went public ten years ago, the company em-
ployed around 80 people. Today, there are more than 160 employ-
ees. Additionally, 25 tied agents serve the clients. CEO John Ojan-
perä highlights successful key recruitments as a central factor in the 

company’s success: ”We have managed to build a truly amazing 
and professional team, combining the solid experience and exper-
tise of those who have worked with the company for many years, 
along with the fresh perspectives and specialised knowledge 
brought by new key individuals. Commitment to shared values 
and long-term development of the company is strongly reflected 
in our work. This has certainly contributed to the fact that we have 
gained increasing interest as an employer in recent years.”

A positive work atmosphere and investments in employee expe-
rience are also reflected in the results of employee surveys. Ac-
cording to these, United Bankers has been recognised as one of 
Finland’s most inspiring workplaces for several consecutive years. 
”Our employee turnover is extremely low, and people stay with us 
for a long time. In addition to team spirit, our key strengths include 
an open communication culture, a flat hierarchy, and, above all, a 
positive vibe and a shared desire to succeed together. Through 
the employee share issues we have organized over the years, 
about 75 per cent of our employees and tied agents are now com-
pany owners. This is a strong message of commitment and the 
entrepreneurial spirit present throughout the organisation,” Ojan-
perä praises.

The positive atmosphere among employees also reflects in the 
customer experience, and customer orientation is a core value for 
United Bankers. Ultimately, the company’s success is a result of 
its customers’ success. ”In our operations, we emphasise long-
term thinking and the goal of exceeding our clients’ expectations. 
Instead of aiming for quick results, we focus on building long-term 
and trusting client relationships. This requires truly listening to 
and understanding our clients’ needs. In the customer satisfac-
tion survey we conducted last fall, our clients expressed that they 
particularly value the reliability, personal approach, and customer 
orientation of our service, as well as our high level of expertise. The 
customer perspective is central to everything we do and all of our 
decisions,” concludes Ojanperä.
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Experience is the key
in wealth management
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Jani Lehti is one of the most experienced members of United Bankers’ 

personnel. Lehti, who is currently the CEO of UB Asset Management and a 

member of the management team, completed 30 years of service with the 

company at the turn of the year. His journey to United Bankers began through 

a business acquisition in 1994, when United Bankers, originally a stockbroker, 

decided to expand into asset management. The target of the transaction

was Kariluoto & Lehti Oy, a company specialising in equity portfolio

management, co-founded by Jani Lehti and Jukka Kariluoto. 
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Throughout his long career, Jani Lehti has witnessed significant 
shifts in the investment market, observing firsthand the evolution 
of the asset management industry. Digitalisation and globalisa-
tion, for example, have profoundly transformed and diversified 
the field. “In the 1990s, portfolios were often built with individual 
stocks, and there was a heavy focus on domestic markets. By the 
following decade, Finland began adopting investment funds and 
ETFs, which made geographical diversification much easier,” Lehti 
explains.

Today, global index-based allocation plays a central role in invest-
ing in equity and fixed income markets. United Bankers has em-
braced this philosophy. “A few years ago, we renewed our wealth 
management concept. At the core of our new UB 360 model is 
diversification across global equity and bond markets. This global 
diversification approach has delivered strong returns for our cli-
ents, even in volatile times. The diversification of portfolios can 

be further improved by including real asset classes like forestry, 
energy, or real estate,” says Lehti.

United Bankers’ expertise in real asset investments is a key 
strength in its wealth management services. “Many of our clients 
seek diversification into real assets because it improves the risk-re-
turn ratio of portfolios and offers the potential for cash flow returns. 
Real assets also typically have a low correlation with other asset 
classes, such as equities and bonds. In recent years, the infla-
tion protection offered by real asset investments has made them 
even more attractive. This has been particularly evident in forestry 
investments,” Lehti elaborates on the advantages of real assets.

Sustainability is a rising theme
in wealth management

In recent years, sustainability has become an increasingly im-
portant aspect of investment activities. At United Bankers, this 
is reflected, inter alia, in the growing share of green investment 
products, in the selection of investment targets, and in regular 
and comprehensive sustainability reporting. “Four of our funds are 
classified as ‘dark green’ under the SFDR sustainability framework, 
making sustainable investments in forestry and renewable energy. 
Our other funds are classified as ‘light green,’ promoting sustain-
ability factors alongside other characteristics. Climate change and 
the green transition have played a key role in the development 
of our fund offerings. Our products fit a variety of portfolios while 
also contributing to solving global environmental challenges,” 
Lehti emphasises.

While the wealth management market and various investment 
solutions have evolved significantly, Lehti points out that some 
things remain unchanged: “Our clients still aim for good returns 
with low or moderate risk. Meeting this expectation is essential, 
even in today’s rapidly changing and increasingly digital world. 
Alongside good performance, the importance of personalised ser-
vice remains very high among our clients. Customer orientation is 
one of our core values, and we strive to uphold it to the best of our 
ability. Our clients have also come to expect high-quality reporting, 
now primarily delivered digitally through our OmaUB service.”

Customer orientation is one of our core
values, and we strive to uphold it

to the best of our ability
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Lehti also highlights the extensive experience and high level of ex-
pertise of United Bankers’ team as a key competitive advantage: 
“One of our most significant strengths is undoubtedly our experi-
enced, dedicated, and professional staff. Our wealth managers 
have been active in the markets for decades. This level of experi-
ence cannot be replaced by any other quality.”

In addition to his role as CEO of UB Asset Management, Lehti 
remains actively involved in client work and daily investment activi-
ties. “Understanding clients’ wishes and needs is essential for de-
veloping products and services. That’s why I value regular discus-
sions with our clients. Keeping up with investment activity is best 

achieved by actively monitoring the economy and markets,” Lehti 
says of his multifaceted role. As an asset manager, he is clearly in 
his dream job. “Every day in the investment markets is different. 
When you wake up in the morning, you never know what the day 
will bring. Risks and opportunities continuously arise, and master-
ing them is never a finished skill. For someone as competitive as 
I am, the markets always present new challenges. However, ex-
perience in different situations brings confidence and helps elimi-
nate unnecessary mistakes. It improves investment performance. 
I don’t think I can ever get bored of following the investment mar-
kets,” he concludes.

Experience in different situations
brings confidence and helps
eliminate unnecessary mistakes”
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From left Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow, Eero Suomela, Chairman of the Board Johan Linder,

Rasmus Finnilä, Rainer Häggblom, Tarja Pääkkönen and Vice Chairman of the Board Lennart Robertsson.

Board of Directors
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The Board of Directors of United Bankers consists of experts from the

company’s business sectors and representatives of significant shareholders.

The goal is to ensure that the Board has diverse expertise, experience, and perspectives,

as well as a strong understanding of United Bankers Group’s businesses.

In 2024, the Board members had experience in various executive and

board positions, knowledge of capital markets and business operations,

and complementary educational backgrounds, skills, and expertise.

The Board comprised five men (71%) and two women (29%) in 2024.

Nationality

 Finnish    Swedish

2

5

Age (years)

 30–39    40–49    50–59 
 60–69    ≥70

11

5
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Lennart Robertsson
Lennart Robertsson has been a member of the Board since 2017 and a Vice 
Chairman since 2018. Robertsson has an extensive experience in companies 
representing a wide range of industries, and has held a number of international 
positions. Robertsson has had a long career in ASSA ABLOY Group and Statoil. 
He currently acts as an advisor to entrepreneurs, owners, management teams, 
and boards on various strategic issues and corporate arrangements. He is also 
a Chairman or a member of the Board in several Swedish companies. He has a 
Bachelor’s degree in Economics. He owns 2,910 UB shares through InterFager-
vik AB.

Eero Suomela
Eero Suomela has been a member of the Board of since 2020. Eero Suomela 
is a full-time board professional. He has forty years of experience in auditing in 
various industries and more than thirty years of experience in management posi-
tions. Suomela has a Master’s degree in Economics and is an authorised auditor. 
He owns a total of 10,000 UB shares personally and through EGS Sijoitus Oy.

Rasmus Finnilä
Rasmus Finnilä has been a member of the Board since 2022. He was also a 
member of the Board from 2013 to 2020, and has been a Board member in 
various United Bankers Group companies since 2021. Since 1987, he has been 
working in the United Bankers Group as an asset manager. Finnilä has a Master’s 
degree in Economics. He owns 1,105,330 UB shares through Jarafi Oy.

Holdings 31.12.2024.

Rainer Häggblom
Rainer Häggblom has been a member of the Board since 2014. Häggblom is a 
Chairman of the Board of Häggblom & Partners Ltd. Oy, The Forest Company 
Ltd, and Vision Hunters Ltd. Before his current duties, Häggblom has had a long 
career in the global forest industry, for example at Jaakko Pöyry Consulting and 
Vaahto Group Plc. Häggblom has a Master’s degree in Agriculture and Forestry 
and a Master’s degree in Economics. He owns a total of 109,086 UB shares 
personally and through Häggblom & Partners Ltd. Oy.

Tarja Pääkkönen
Tarja Pääkkönen has been a member of the Board of since 2018. Pääkkönen has 
years of experience on the boards of both listed and growth companies. She is 
a partner in Boardman Ltd. She has a Doctorate in Technology with a thesis on 
business strategies and a Master’s degree in Engineering. She owns 10,342 UB 
shares.

Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow
Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow has been a member of the Board since 2024. Dreijer 
von Sydow is a full-time board professional. She has previously worked in M&A 
and private equity roles in several Swedish companies. Dreijer von Sydow holds 
a Master’s degree from the Intellectual Capital Management program. She owns 
a total of 1,454 UB shares personally and through Seablite Ab.

Johan Linder – Chairman of the Board
Johan Linder has been a Chairman of the Board since 2010. He has also held management positions 
and acted as the Chairman of the Board in various United Bankers Group companies since 1987. Linder 
has a Bachelor degree in Law. He owns 36,529 UB shares.



27From left Timo Ronkainen, Jani Lehti, John Ojanperä, Jukka Rasku, Inka Noramaa, Patrick Anderson and Jarkko Saukkola.

Management team
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United Bankers is led by an entrepreneurial and highly committed team with a proven

track record of successfully developing the business. The members of the management

team represent diverse expertise and bring extensive and multifaceted experience in the 

financial sector and within the company. The team’s unwavering determination and

ability to make bold decisions have been key factors in executing the growth

strategy and driving the company’s success.

At the end of 2024, there was a leadership change within the management

team, as John Ojanperä was appointed CEO of United Bankers in the beginning

of November. Long-time CEO Patrick Anderson transitioned to the role of Advisor

to the CEO and is a candidate for the United Bankers Board of Directors

at the Annual General Meeting in spring 2025.
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Jukka Rasku
Head of UB Private, M.Sc. (Econ.). Employed by United Bankers since 2020. He 
owns 21,729 UB shares.

Timo Ronkainen
CEO of UB Fund Management Company Ltd since November 2024, prior to 
which he was the Head of Institutional Asset Management at UB Asset Manage-
ment Ltd., M.Sc. (Econ.). Employed by United Bankers since 2012. He owns a 
total of 248,655 UB shares personally and through Oy Ottiger Ab.

Jarkko Saukkola
Chief Operating Officer, M.Sc. (Econ.). Employed by United Bankers since 2018. 
He owns 16,745 UB shares.

Patrick Anderson
CEO of United Bankers Plc until October 2024, after which he became an Advisor 
to the new CEO, M.Sc. (Econ.). Employed by United Bankers since 2000. He 
owns 600,000 UB shares through Bockholmen Invest Ab.

Jani Lehti
CEO of UB Asset Management Ltd, M.Sc. (Econ.). Employed by United Bankers 
since 1994. He owns 498,346 UB shares through J. Lehti & Co Oy.

Inka Noramaa
Chief Communications Officer, M.Sc. (Econ.). Employed by United Bankers 
since 2000. She owns 89,509 UB shares.

Holdings 31.12.2024.

John Ojanperä
CEO of United Bankers Plc since November 2024, prior to which he was the CEO of UB Fund Management 
Company Ltd, M.Sc. (Econ.). Employed by United Bankers since 2014. He owns 71,045 UB shares.
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Financial key figures

CONSOLIDATED KEY FIGURES

Income statement and profitability, EUR 1,000 1-12/2024 1-12/2023 1-12/2022 1-12/2021 1-12/2020

Revenue 62,111 52,145 48,562 43,828 34,358
EBITDA 26,114 19,174 18,428 16,257 10,043
	 EBITDA, % of revenue 42.0% 36.8% 37.9% 37.1% 29.2%
Adjusted EBITDA 26,433 19,132 18,487 16,257 10,321
	 Adjusted EBITDA, % of revenue 42.6% 36.7% 38.1% 37.1% 30.0%
Operating profit 23,382 16,966 16,506 14,319 8,350
	 Operating profit, % of revenue 37.6% 32.5% 34.0% 32.7% 24.3%
Adjusted operating profit 23,701 16,923 16,565 14,419 8,627
	 Adjusted operating profit, % of revenue 38.2% 32.5% 34.1% 32.9% 25.1%
Profit for the period 18,439 13,837 12,871 11,210 6,523
	 Profit for the period, % of revenue 29.7% 26.5% 26.5% 25.6% 19.0%
Earnings per share, EUR 1.66 1.24 1.19 1.00 0.60
Earnings per share, EUR (diluted) 1.64 1.23 1.16 0.98 0.59
Cost-to-income ratio 0.62 0.67 0.65 0.66 0.74
Return on equity (ROE), % 32.6% 27.8% 27.9% 26.9% 17.1%
Return on assets (ROA), % 22.4% 18.7% 17.2% 16.4% 10.8%

Average number of shares (outstanding shares) 10,863,231 10,745,276 10,557,789 10,396,110 10,423,731
Diluted average number of shares (outstanding shares) 10,979,914 10,787,002 10,786,525 10,513,493 10,501,133
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Other key figures 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Distribution of funds per share, EUR 1,10** 1.00*** 0.90 0.80 0.51
Distribution of funds per earnings 66.2% 80.9% 75.8% 80.4% 85.3%
Effective distribution of funds yield 6.2% 6.9% 6.6% 5.6% 4.8%
Price/Earnings Ratio, P/E 10.7 11.6 11.5 14.3 17.9
Equity per share, EUR 5.60 4.75 4.49 4.19 3.73
Share price at the end of the period, EUR 17.80 14.40 13.60 14.20 10.70
Market capitalisation, EUR 1,000 195,142 155,132 145,438 148,275 111,728
Share trading volume during the financial year 403,135 586,276 364,025 546,269 761,039
Relative share trading volume, % 3.7% 5.5% 3.4% 5.3% 7.3%
Equity ratio, % 69.5% 67.7% 67.1% 56.7% 66.9%
Capital adequacy ratio, % 28.4% 24.1% 24.0% 24.9% 17.8%

Personnel at the end of the period (FTE)* 161 160 148 137 129
Assets under management at the end of the period, MEUR 4,807 4,585 4,411 4,800 3,772

Number of shares at the end of the period (outstanding shares) 10,933,185 10,754,327 10,628,312 10,384,428 10,402,198
Diluted number of shares at the end of the period (outstanding shares) 10,968,992 10,786,116 10,793,244 10,515,547 10,494,888

* The number of personnel stated has been converted to full-time personnel
** The Board of Directors’ proposal concerning distribution of dividend for the 2024 financial period: a dividend of EUR 1.10
*** Distribution of funds for the 2023 financial period confirmed by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 22 March 2024: A dividend of EUR 0.50 and an equity repayment of 
EUR 0.50.

Reconciliation of adjusted key figures and items affecting 
comparability, EUR 1,000 1-12/2024 1-12/2023 1-12/2022 1-12/2021 1-12/2020

Items affecting comparability
 Non-operative costs and earn-out payments on acquisitions -5 -42  59  -  39
Cost of listing on the Helsinki Stock Exchange  -   -   -   -  239
Payments on the discount of personnel issue according to IFRS 2  324  -   -   -   -  
   Write-down of goodwill (no impact on adjusted EBITDA)  -   -   -   100  -  
Total items affecting comparability  319 -42  59  -  278

EBITDA 26,114 19,174 18,428 16,257 10,043
Adjusted EBITDA 26,433 19,132 18,487 16,257 10,321

Operating profit 23,382 16,966 16,506 14,319 8,350
Adjusted operating profit 23,701 16,923 16,565 14,419 8,627
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FORMULAS FOR CALCULATING KEY FIGURES

IFRS key indicators 

Revenue = Income arising in the course of entity’s ordinary activities

Profit/loss for the period = Directly from the income statement

Earnings per share =
Profit or loss for the period attributable to owners of the parent company
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period

Earnings per share (diluted) =
Profit or loss for the period attributable to owners of the parent company
Weighted average share issue adjusted number of shares outstanding during the period

Alternative key indicators
United Bankers Plc publishes other financial indicators in addition to those required by IFRS to describe the performance and financial position of its business. 
In addition to the key indicators derived directly from the income statement, United Bankers uses adjusted EBITDA and adjusted operating profit as key indicators in its 
reporting in order to provide a better picture of the performance of ongoing business and to improve comparability between reporting periods. Adjusted key figures are 
adjusted for items affecting comparability, such as the impacts of corporate restructuring on operating income and expenses, as well as certain material non-business 
items. United Bankers presents adjusted indicators as part of the published key indicators.

EBITDA = Operating profit/loss + depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation of intangible assets

Operating profit/loss =
Revenue - fee and commission expenses - interest expenses - administrative expenses - 
depreciation, amortisation and impairment - other operating expenses

Adjusted EBITDA = EBITDA +/- items affecting comparability

Adjusted operating profit/loss = Operating profit/loss +/- items affecting comparability

Items affecting comparability Material items that differ from continuing operations, such as:
- impacts of corporate restructuring on financial performance
- operating income and losses related to corporate restructuring
- earn-out payments on acquisitions
- other non-operational items affecting comparability

Return on equity (ROE), % (floating 12 months) =
Operating profit/loss - taxes on income (floating 12 months)

x 100
Equity + non-controlling interest (average of beginning and end of period)

Return on assets (ROA), % (floating 12 months)
=

Operating profit/loss - taxes on income (floating 12 months)
x 100

Total assets (average of beginning and end of period)

Cost-to-income ratio =

Fee and commission expenses + interest expenses + administrative expenses + 
depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation of intangible assets (excl. amortisation of 
customer relationships + other operating expenses + impairment of other receivables
Operating income

Distribution of funds per share = Dividends or equity repayment declared or proposed to be declared for the period
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Distribution of funds per earnings, % =
Distribution of funds per share

x 100
Earnings per share

Effective distribution of funds yield, % =
Distribution of funds per share

x 100
Closing price for the period

Price/Earnings Ratio, P/E =
Closing price for the period
Earnings per share

Relative share trading volume =
Share trading volume during the financial year

x 100
Average number of shares

Equity per share =
Equity
Undiluted number of outstanding shares at the end of the period

Equity ratio, % =
Equity and non-controlling interest

x 100
Total assets

Capital adequacy ratio, % =
Group CET1

x 100
Total risk-weighted commitments

Market capitalisation = Number of shares at the end of the period x closing price for the period
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United Bankers’ revenue and profit growth remained strong in 
2024. During the financial period, the Group’s revenue (income 
from operations) increased to EUR 62.1 million (EUR 52.1 million), 
increasing by 19.1 per cent from the previous year. The Group’s 
adjusted EBITDA developed strongly, increasing by 38.2 per cent 
to EUR 26.4 million (EUR 19.1 million). The adjusted operating 
profit increased by as much as 40.0 per cent to EUR 23.7 mil-
lion (EUR 16.9 million), and the adjusted operating profit margin 
increased to 38.2 per cent (32.5 per cent). Earnings per share 
amounted to EUR 1.66 (EUR 1.24). Return on equity strengthened 
to 32.6 per cent (27.8 per cent), and the cost-to-income ratio im-
proved to 0.62 (0.67).

The very strong performance and profitability development is 
mainly explained by the sale of the UB Nordic Forest Fund II to the 
German Munich Re Group’s asset management company MEAG 
in March. 

Overall, the financial year was positive for the Group’s wealth man-
agement business. The segment’s revenue increased to EUR 60.6 
million and its EBITDA to EUR 27.2 million. The majority of the per-
formance fees, EUR 19.9 million, were generated by the Group’s 
forest funds, significantly influenced by the fee recorded for the 
financial year from the aforementioned sale of UB Nordic Forest 
Fund II. Among the individual funds, the performance fees of the 
renewable energy fund were also significant.

The development of fund management fees remained stable. A 
significant portion of the management fees during the financial 
year was generated from United Bankers’ forest funds. Manage-
ment fees from real estate funds declined slightly but continued to 
play an important role in the overall fee structure. Strong demand 
for discretionary asset management services increased assets un-
der management under these services, leading to a clear rise in 
asset management fees. The interest margin from client assets 

Board of Directors’ Report
1.1.–31.12.2024

also had a positive impact on the wealth management segment’s 
results. On the other hand, lower sales volumes of structured in-
vestment products compared to previous years put pressure on 
the fees generated from them.

The market environment for corporate and financial transactions 
remained subdued in 2024, reflecting on the demand for the 
Group’s capital markets services. The segment’s revenue declined 

REVENUE DEVELOPMENT

MEUR

48.6
52.1

62.1

2022
2023

2024
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from the previous year to EUR 0.7 million (EUR 1.0 million), and 
EBITDA remained negative at EUR -0.4 million (EUR -0.3 million).

The segment-specific figures are presented in more detail in the 
sections describing the development of the business operations.

The Group’s expenses increased from the previous financial year, 
but the rate of cost growth was in line with expectations. Admin-
istrative expenses, including personnel and other administrative 
costs, increased by 9.6 per cent to EUR 28.5 million (EUR 26.0 
million). Personnel expenses increased by 10.4 per cent to EUR 
21.0 million (EUR 19.0 million), while other administrative expens-
es grew by 7.5 per cent to EUR 7.5 million (EUR 7.0 million). The 
increase in personnel expenses was partly due to the large-scale 
but moderate salary increases introduced at the beginning of the 
year. However, a significant part of the increase in personnel ex-
penses can be explained by one-off items related to employee 

share issue carried out in the spring, the recruitment of key per-
sonnel and the performance bonuses related to the sale of the for-
est fund. The increase in other administrative expenses was main-
ly driven by higher IT and systems costs and general cost inflation. 
Depreciation and impairments increased to EUR 2.7 million (EUR 
2.2 million) due to a comprehensive system renewal implemented 
in the Group. 

The number of full-time equivalent employees remained close to 
the level at the end of the previous year, totaling 161 employees at 
the end of the year (160 employees). Of these, 9 were temporary 
employees (10 employees). New key personnel recruitments were 
focused on areas such as asset management sales.

More information on the development of the Group’s financial re-
sult is available in the attached Financial key figures of the Board 
of Directors’ Report.

ADJUSTED EBITDA

MEUR

18.5

16.6 16.5

19.1

16.9 17.02022

2022 2022

2023

2023 2023

ADJUSTED OPERATING 

PROFIT

MEUR

26.4

23.7 23.42024

2024 2024

OPERATING PROFIT

MEUR



36

Performance of assets under management
(comparison figures as at 31 December 2023)

The company’s assets under management increased to EUR 4.8 
billion (EUR 4.6 billion) during the financial year, representing an 
increase of 4.8 per cent from the end of 2023. The positive devel-
opment was driven by both a generally favorable market environ-
ment and new sales of asset management products and services. 
When examining the development of assets under management, 
it is important to note the sale of the partnership interests in the 
UB Nordic Forest Fund II, which decreased assets under manage-
ment by EUR 134 million compared to the end of 2023.

Positive developments in global equity markets and declining in-
terest rates supported the performance of United Bankers’ funds 
and discretionary asset management services. The highest re-
turns were achieved by the UB American Equity Fund (27.3 per 
cent), the UB Emerging Markets Infra Fund (21.2 per cent), the UB 
Global (12.5 per cent), and the UB Smart Fund (10.3 per cent). The 
returns of forest and fixed income funds, as well as the fund in-
vesting in renewable energy, were also clearly positive. In contrast, 
the returns of listed real estate funds and funds investing directly 
in real estate remained close to zero or slightly negative. Only the 
fund investing in listed real estate equities in the North American 
market achieved a clearly positive return.

United Bankers aims to have as much of the Group’s assets under 
management as possible invested in products and services that 
generate recurring fees. At the end of the year, a total of EUR 3.5 
billion (EUR 3.3 billion) of assets under management were invest-
ed in either funds or discretionary asset management. Of this, the 
share of funds was EUR 3.0 billion (EUR 2.9 billion). The relative 
share of assets generating recurring fees was 73 per cent (71 per 
cent) of total assets under management. 

United Bankers specialises in real asset investment solutions with-
in its wealth management business. Funds investing in forest, real 
estate, and infrastructure constitute a significant portion of the 
company’s assets under management and growth potential.

Expertise in the forestry sector is at the core of United Bankers’ 
strategy. Following the sale of partnership interests in the UB Nor-
dic Forest Fund II LP in March, United Bankers continues to man-
age four forest funds: UB Timberland Fund (AIF), UB Timberland 
Global Fund (AIF), UB Nordic Forest Fund III LP, and UB Nordic 
Forest Fund IV LP. The combined assets (GAV) of these forest 
funds amounted to EUR 731 million at the end of the financial year 
(EUR 773 million as at 31 December 2023, including the capital of 
UB Nordic Forest Fund II LP).

DEVELOPMENT OF ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

BN EUR

4.4
4.6

4.8

2022
2023

2024
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ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

4.8 BN EUR

Other 27%

Funds 62%

Asset Management
(excl. funds) 11%

ASSET CLASS BREAKDOWN

Other 13%

Stocks 31%

Fixed Income 19%

Real Assets 37%



38

The challenging environment in the real estate market impacted 
United Bankers’ real estate and real estate equity funds through 
both redemptions and value performance. The combined capitals 
(GAV) of UB Nordic Property Fund (AIF) and UB Finnish Properties 
(AIF) slightly declined, amounting to EUR 649 million at year-end 
(EUR 675 million). Investment commitments in housing fund UB 
Asuntorahasto I Ky have not been included in assets under man-
agement yet, as capital calls were issued only in early 2025. The 
capitals of real estate equity funds decreased to EUR 139 million 
(EUR 160 million), while capitals in infrastructure funds grew to 
EUR 175 million (EUR 158 million), supported by new subscrip-
tions in the UB Renewable Energy Fund. Overall, real asset invest-
ments totaled EUR 1.8 billion at year-end (EUR 1.9 billion). They 
accounted for 37 per cent of all assets under management in the 
Group (41 per cent) and 60 per cent of total fund capital (66 per 
cent). The reduction in the share was influenced by the aforemen-
tioned divestment from the UB Nordic Forest Fund II.

The sales of asset management
products and services

Despite the positive development of international stock markets, 
the sales of asset management products and services also faced 
headwinds, as the sluggish performance of the Helsinki Stock Ex-
change continued to affect the sentiment of Finnish private inves-
tors. For many institutional investors, challenges arose from the 
situation where the share of illiquid investments, such as private 
equity funds, has increased significantly due to multiple funds call-
ing for additional capital. At the same time, relatively little capital 
has been returned from these investments. This had a particular 
impact on the demand for alternative funds, which are central to 
United Bankers. Overall, however, the sales of United Bankers’ as-
set management products and services increased by 4.7 per cent 
to EUR 524 million (EUR 501 million).

United Bankers’ fund net subscriptions amounted to EUR 128 
million (EUR 187 million). The figure includes investment commit-
ments to limited partnership funds. The highest capital inflows dur-
ing the year were recorded in United Bankers’ fixed income funds 
and the renewable energy fund. The strong performance of the 
U.S. stock market also boosted subscriptions to the UB American 
Equity Fund. Additionally, forest funds attracted new capital, de-

spite the overall decline in the popularity of alternative investments 
from peak levels due to the rise in interest rates. The weak real 
estate market and the general redemption pressure on real estate 
funds in general also affected United Bankers’ real estate funds. 
On the other hand, housing fund UB Asuntorahasto I Ky, which 
launched its fundraising in the autumn, raised approximately EUR 
20 million in investment commitments during the latter part of the 
year. 

International sales were very actively promoted, including a new 
distribution partnership in the Netherlands with KKL Partners B.V. 
United Bankers’ unique expertise built around the forest sector 
was very well received by international investors, but the deci-
sion-making processes of large institutional investors are pro-
gressing quite slowly. Investments from international markets still 
fell short of targets.

Successes included the sale of discretionary asset management 
services, which continued its strong performance in 2024. The 
UB 360 and Private Investment Office (PIO) asset management 
services attracted a total of EUR 237 million in capital, more than 
double the amount compared to the previous year. Demand was 
supported by the uniqueness of the models and the favorable re-
turn performance of both service concepts. The investment strate-
gies of the asset management models also performed strongly in 
competitor comparisons.

The sales volume of structured investment products launched by 
United Bankers decreased to EUR 29.9 million (EUR 54.7 million) 
during the financial year. The general decline in interest rates and 
the significant tightening of corporate bond risk premiums in the 
second half of the year reduced the feasibility of offering cred-
it-linked products under reasonable terms, which impacted sales 
volumes. In contrast, the sales of equity-linked products remained 
stable, with their share of the total volume being higher than usual.

Operating environment 

The normalisation of inflation and interest rate cuts by central 
banks were key themes in the economy and markets in 2024. The 
slowdown in inflation allowed central banks to ease their tight mon-
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etary policy, although stronger-than-expected economic growth in 
the United States delayed the start of interest rate cuts until the 
end of the year. Both the European Central Bank (ECB) and the US 
Federal Reserve (Fed) finally cut their policy rates by a total of one 
percentage point during the year.

Except for the United States, global economic growth remained 
modest, with particularly weak development in the euro area. Ac-
cording to preliminary figures, the US economy grew by 2.8 per 
cent last year, while GDP growth in the euro area was 0.8 per cent. 
In China, economic growth continued to slow, but still stood at 5.0 
per cent. Finland’s recovery from the recession was slow. GDP still 
contracted slightly from the previous year, although the economy 
recovered in the latter part of the year. Geopolitical tensions around 
the world remained a topic of discussion, but the prolonged war in 
Ukraine or the escalation of the Middle East conflict no longer had 
much impact on market developments.

Stock market performance in 2024 was generally favorable. The 
average return as measured by the MSCI ACWI index of global 
markets reached 15.7 per cent. The US experienced a second 
consecutive year of strong gains, driven by the AI boom and the 
technology sector. Donald Trump’s victory in the US presidential 
election and expectations of pro-economic policies contributed 
to the rally towards the end of the year. Europe and Japan also 
saw positive developments. China’s stock markets, which had 
been weak for a long time, also rebounded in the autumn thanks 
to the economic stimulus measures announced by the Chinese 
central government. The Helsinki Stock Exchange failed to gain 
momentum from global stock markets and continued its sluggish 
performance. The S&P 500 price index rose by 23.3 per cent and 
the STOXX Europe 600 by 6.0 per cent over the year. The return 
on the OMX Helsinki Cap price index ended up 4.4 per cent nega-
tive. 2024 was also a good year for fixed income investors. Falling 
market interest rates and narrowing credit spreads on corporate 
bonds supported fixed income returns.

The clear decline in interest rates strengthened the outlook for 
the real estate sector after two years of weakness. The downward 
pressure on property values eased over the year. In Sweden and 
Norway, certain property segments showed clear signs of a turn-

around. Transaction volume in the Nordic real estate market ex-
ceeded the 2023 level by 30 per cent, with Norway and Sweden 
seeing the strongest growth. In Finland, however, market devel-
opment remained sluggish, with volumes more than 10 per cent 
below the 2023 level.

The changing interest rate environment has also impacted the for-
est property market in recent years. In particular, the rise in interest 
rates experienced after a long period of zero interest rates clearly 
slowed down the active forest land trade. In 2024, the situation 
seemed to stabilise, and the number of forest property transac-
tions started to increase after two years of decline. This shows 
that the market is functioning. The rise in the price level of forest 
properties was partly due to significantly higher timber prices. Ac-
tivity in the Finnish timber market remained strong and competition 
for roundwood remained intense. Based on preliminary data, the 
volume of timber sales for the year as a whole was 18 per cent 
higher than a year earlier. Sawlog prices increased by over ten per 
cent, while pulpwood prices rose by more than 20 per cent. Pine 
and birch fibre prices were at their highest levels in the history of 
the monthly statistics started by the Natural Resources Institute 
Finland in 1995.

Positive developments in equity and interest rate markets reduced 
the uncertainty that had prevailed in recent years, and a gradual 
pick-up in demand for investment services was seen. For exam-
ple, investment funds registered in Finland raised EUR 9.3 billion 
in new capital during 2024. Overall, fund capital in Finland grew by 
23 per cent over the year to almost EUR 184 billion at the end of 
the year. Most of the new money flowed into the United States and 
into equity funds investing in global markets. Real estate funds, on 
the other hand, came under increasing redemption pressure dur-
ing the year as a result of modest developments in the real estate 
market. Strong sentiment in equity markets  also attracted inves-
tors away from less liquid alternative asset classes. As a result, 
many fund operators were forced to limit or postpone redemptions 
of their real estate funds.

The rapid and sharp rise in interest rates a couple of years ago 
and the lower than usual liquidity in the market continued to be 
reflected in the demand for capital markets services. Although in-
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terest rates have clearly fallen from their peak, transaction volumes 
remained low in 2024. Listings on Nordic stock exchanges were 
also very low. Only in Sweden did the market show clear signs of 
recovery.

In recent years, financial services companies have had to adapt to 
ever-tightening regulation. In addition, the objectives of combating 
climate change, promoting green finance and corporate respon-
sibility require the creation of common frameworks and practices. 
One of the most far-reaching regulatory frameworks is the EU’s 

new Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD), which 
aims to increase the transparency of corporate responsibility ac-
tivities and further improve the comparability of reporting. The di-
rective introduces significant new reporting obligations for a wide 
range of companies, which will require a lot of time and effort to 
prepare for. Ever-increasing regulation increases costs and under-
mines the competitiveness of European businesses. United Bank-
ers will report its activities under the CSRD requirements for the 
first time in 2026, based on 2025 data.
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FEE INCOME FROM THE WEALTH MANAGEMENT BUSINESS SEGMENT 

WEALTH MANAGEMENT EUR 1,000 1-12/2024 1-12/2023 change-%*
FUNDS
Management fees 26,556 25,894 2.6
Performance fees 21,750 13,637 59.5
Subscription and redemption fees 1,285 1,253 2.6
Fee income from funds 49,591 40,784 21.6
Fee and commission expenses -3,245 -3,234 0.3
Net fee income from funds 46,345 37,550 23.4

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT
Fee income from asset management 7,018 5,153 36.2
Fee and commission expenses -1,780 -1,262 41.1
Net fee income from asset management 5,238 3,892 34.6
 
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS
Fee income from structured products 1,332 2,479 -46.3
Fee and commission expenses -175 -308 -43.2
Net fee income from structured products 1,157 2,171 -46.7
 
TOTAL FEE INCOME FROM WEALTH MANAGEMENT 57,940 48,416 19.7
NET FEE INCOME FROM WEALTH MANAGEMENT 52,740 43,612 20.9

* The percentage change has been calculated using the actual figures, the figures shown in the table have been rounded. 

Business segments

Wealth management business segment

The United Bankers’ wealth management business segment en-
compasses funds, asset management and structured investment 
products. 

United Bankers is a forerunner in real asset investments in the Nor-
dic market. United Bankers’ fund selection includes versatile real 

asset funds, including funds investing in direct real estate and in-
frastructure, funds investing in listed real estate and infrastructure 
companies, as well as forest funds. Additionally, United Bankers 
offers equity, fixed income, multi-strategy, and private equity funds.

Fee income from United Bankers’ wealth management business 
segment increased substantially during the financial period. Fee 

income increased by 19.7 per cent year-on-year and amounted to 
EUR 57.9 million (EUR 48.4 million).
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PROFITABILITY OF THE WEALTH MANAGEMENT BUSINESS SEGMENT

WEALTH MANAGEMENT EUR 1,000 1-12/2024 1-12/2023 change-%*
REVENUE 60,579 50,579 19.8
Fee and commission expenses -5,200 -4,804 8.2
Administrative and other operating expenses -28,157 -25,895 8.7
EBITDA 27,222 19,880 36.9

* The percentage change has been calculated using the actual figures, the figures shown in the table have been rounded. 

The development of recurring fee income from funds and discre-
tionary asset management is a key factor in the predictability of 
the Group’s performance. It depends not only on the amount of 
assets under management, but also on the distribution of assets 
between funds, services and investments. 

During the financial year, the overall trend in fund management 
fees and income from asset management remained stable. In-
come from fund management fees increased by 2.6 per cent to 
EUR 26.6 million (EUR 25.9 million). The growth in fee and com-
mission income was slowed by the sale of UB Nordic Forest Fund 
II, a fund that had significant capital, in March and by new sub-
scriptions largely focusing on fixed income funds, which have 
lower fees than other funds. Income from asset management, 
which is mainly derived from discretionary asset management, in-
creased by 36.2 per cent to EUR 7.0 million (EUR 5.2 million). Net 
fee income from funds and asset management accounted for ap-
proximately 98 per cent of the wealth management segment’s net 
fee income and almost 97 per cent of the Group’s net fee income 
for the financial year.

The funds’ performance fees vary from one financial year to the 
next and from one reporting period to the next as a result of chang-
es in market conditions, among other things. Most of the perfor-
mance fees for the period, EUR 10.6 million, came from the sale of 
UB Nordic Forest Fund II. Performance fees also focused on forest 
funds, which, in addition to generating good returns, constitute the 
largest pool of United Bankers’ funds in terms of capital. Of the 
individual funds, UB Renewable Energy Fund and Asilo Argo also 
generated significant performance fees. 

In recent years, United Bankers has managed to gain significant 
performance fees from its funds. The fees have been generated by 
a wide range of funds and under very variable market conditions. 
Performance-related fees are also important from the clients’ point 
of view because they only increase the company’s profits if the 
value of the clients’ assets increases.

Fee income from structured investment products decreased due 
to low sales volumes and amounted to EUR 1.3 million (EUR 2.5 
million). Overall, net fee income from the wealth management seg-
ment increased by 20.9 per cent to EUR 52.7 million (EUR 43.6 
million). 

The growth in performance fees from funds boosted revenue in 
the wealth management segment, which rose by 19.8 per cent 
to EUR 60.6 million (EUR 50.6 million). However, the growth-tar-
geted strategy increased costs, and administrative and other 

operating expenses increased by 8.7 per cent to EUR 28.2 million 
(EUR 25.9 million). The wealth management business segment’s 
EBITDA increased to EUR 27.2 million (EUR 19.9 million) in the 
financial period, increasing as much as 36.9 per cent.
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Significant events in wealth management
during the financial year

The most significant event in United Bankers’ financial year was 
the sale of the partnership interests in UB Nordic Forest Fund II 
and its forest properties totalling approximately 33,000 hectares 
to the German company MEAG in March. In the transaction, the 
buyer acquired all holdings in the limited partnership fund. It was 

one of the largest forest deals in Finnish history. The fund’s total 
price of EUR 166 million included its forest properties and the wind 
power leases of its properties. Investors in the UB Nordic Forest 
Fund II received up to as much as 13.3 per cent in annual return 
on their investments (IRR). United Bankers’ subsidiary UB Nordic 
Forest Management received a performance fee of EUR 10.6 mil-
lion from the transaction, which was booked in United Bankers’ net 
income for the period. 
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The forest fund deal, which closed in the spring, was another clear 
demonstration of the effectiveness of the Buy and Build strategy. 
The last time a similar transaction took place was in 2020 when UB 
Nordic Forest Fund I LP was sold. United Bankers’ ability to build 
profitable forest property portfolios for its investors has also been 
noted by international investors.

After the transaction, United Bankers remains the fourth largest 
private forest owner in Finland through its forest funds. The sec-
ond half of the year was very active for the forest funds, as they 
acquired forest properties worth nearly EUR 40 million. At the end 
of the year, the aggregate surface area of the properties owned 
by United Bankers’ forest funds amounted to more than 140,000 
hectares, of which approximately 119,000 hectares are in Finland 
and approximately 21,000 hectares in the Baltic countries.

In the spring, a decision was made to extend the fundraising pe-
riod of the private equity fund UB Forest Industry Green Growth 
Fund I LP (UB FIGG), which invests in unlisted forest and bioprod-
ucts companies, to the end of January 2025. The fund invests in 
companies focusing on replacing materials based on plastics and 
other fossil-based materials, on increasing the added value and 
more efficient use of forest industry and agricultural raw material 
side streams, and on expanding the use of these raw materials in 
various intermediate and end-use applications. The timing of the 
fund’s fundraising proved unfavourable. Due to their allocations, 
many domestic institutional investors wanted to avoid increasing 
the weight of illiquid investments. The fund’s investment strategy 
attracted a lot of interest, not only from Finnish but also interna-
tional investors, but many of them postponed their investment de-
cisions due to the prevailing market situation.

Alongside fundraising, UB FIGG actively promoted its investment 
activities during the first half of the year. In January, the fund led the 
second tranche of a EUR 27.5 million financing round to a Finnish 
Paptic Ltd, a growing company manufacturing wood fibre-based 
packaging materials. In June, the fund announced an investment 

in Nordtreat Inc., a Finnish technology company specialising in 
the development and production of innovative, efficient and en-
vironmentally friendly fire retardants. In September, UB FIGG led 
a significant round of growth investments in UK-based Notpla, a 
pioneer in the manufacture of seaweed-based sustainable pack-
aging. In December, the fund announced that it had acquired the 
entire share capital of FiberLean Technologies Ltd from the Ger-
man Werhahn Group. The company is a leading manufacturer of 
equipment for the production of microfibrillated cellulose (MFC).

The megatrends of climate change mitigation and the green tran-
sition are also the focus of the United Bankers’ fund that invests in 
renewable energy development projects and power plants. There 
are significant synergies between UB Renewable Energy Fund 
and United Bankers’ other funds, as the fund’s own development 
projects are mainly carried out in areas owned by United Bank-
ers’ forest funds, and this provides the fund’s operations a unique 
competitive advantage. UB Renewable Energy Fund has identified 
several potential areas for the development of onshore wind pow-
er on land owned by the United Bankers forest funds in Finland 
during the screening phase. Alongside its own project develop-
ment, the fund also made progress in its first investments during 
the year. In October, UB Renewable Energy Fund announced that 
it had acquired a significant majority stake in a project company 
that will build and operate a 30 MW battery energy storage system 
in Kemijärvi. The system can be charged or discharged for two 
hours for a total capacity of 60 MWh.

United Bankers’ investment strategy focusing on real assets and 
alternative investments also received international recognition 
when the company won first place in the category ‘Excellence in 
Alternative Investment Strategies – Nordics 2024’, awarded by the 
UK-based CFI.co - Capital Finance International magazine. The 
CFI.co jury highlighted United Bankers’ reputation across asset 
classes, its innovative asset management solutions and expertise 
in alternative investment strategies, and its commitment to sus-
tainability.
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PROFITABILITY OF THE CAPITAL MARKETS SERVICES BUSINESS SEGMENT 

CAPITAL MARKETS SERVICES EUR 1,000 1-12/2024 1-12/2023 change-%*
REVENUE 728 1,012 -28.1
Fee and commission expenses -14 -21 -33.0
Administrative and other operating expenses -1,103 -1,302 -15.2
EBITDA -390 -310 -25.6

* The percentage change has been calculated using the actual figures, the figures shown in the table have been rounded. 

FEE INCOME FROM THE CAPITAL MARKETS SERVICES BUSINESS SEGMENT 

CAPITAL MARKETS SERVICES EUR 1,000 1-12/2024 1-12/2023 change-%*
Income from capital markets services 647 686 -5.7
Fee and commission expenses -14 -21 -33.0
NET FEE INCOME FROM CAPITAL MARKETS SERVICES 633 665 -4.9

* The percentage change has been calculated using the actual figures, the figures shown in the table have been rounded. 

Capital markets services business segment 

United Bankers’ capital markets services encompass the services 
of its subsidiaries UB Corporate Finance Ltd and UB Finance Ltd. 
UB Corporate Finance is an expert in investment banking services 
and the company acts as an advisor in e.g. corporate transac-
tions, initial public offerings, share issues and bond emissions. 

UB Finance that is in wind-down process offers a web-based 
corporate lending platform. The operations of UB Securities, pre-
viously reported in capital markets services, ceased as a result 
of intra-group corporate arrangements in the demerger on 31 
December 2023, when corporate finance advisory services were 
transferred to the above-mentioned new company, UB Corporate 
Finance.

Variations between different financial periods are typical for the de-
velopment of United Bankers’ capital markets services business, 
as segment revenues are dependent on the success fees typically 
associated with assignments and their timing. The operating envi-
ronment remained challenging for the capital markets services busi-
ness, with fee income continuing to decline during the financial pe-

riod. In 2024, the revenue of capital markets services amounted to 
EUR 0.7 million (EUR 1.0 million). Net fee income from capital mar-
kets services business segment amounted to EUR 0.6 million, (EUR 
0.7 million), decreasing by 4.9 per cent compared to the preceding 
year. The EBITDA of capital markets services remained during the 
financial year, amounting to EUR -0.4 million (EUR -0.3 million). 

The number of mergers and acquisitions and capital market trans-
actions remained low throughout the year. The persistently high in-
terest rate level also contributed to the overall weaker demand for 
capital markets services. UB Corporate Finance worked on sev-
eral projects during the financial year, but some were postponed 
to 2025 or discontinued. The most significant mandate of the year 
was UB Corporate Finance acting as the sole financial advisor for 
Optomed Plc’s directed share issue in June.

UB Corporate Finance acted as the Certified Advisor for Herantis 
Pharma Plc, Solwers Plc and Aiforia Technologies Plc in the Nas-
daq First North Growth Market in Finland, as well as the Certified 
Advisor for Arctic Minerals AB (publ) in the Nasdaq First North 
Growth Market in Sweden. 

UB Finance is in the process of winding down its operations and 
new loans are no longer provided through its online corporate 
lending platform.
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Balance sheet and capital adequacy  
(comparison figures as at 31 December 2023) 

The balance sheet total of the United Bankers Group as at 31 De-
cember 2024 amounted to EUR 88.5 million (EUR 76.1 million). 
The consolidated shareholders’ equity amounted to EUR 61.5 mil-
lion at the end of the review period (EUR 51.6 million). The cash 
assets of the Group as at 31 December 2024 amounted to EUR 
13.3 million (EUR 9.4 million). The Group has at its disposal a 
credit line of EUR 7 million, which was undrawn at the end of the 
financial year. 

Capital requirement of the United Bankers Group as at 31 Decem-
ber 2024 was determined based on fixed overhead costs. At the 
end of the review period, the capital adequacy of the Group was 
at a very good level. 

The Group’s common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET 1) as at 31 De-
cember 2024 amounted to EUR 20.5 million (EUR 15.6 million) 
and the Group’s own funds relative to the required minimum cap-
ital requirement amounted to 355.1 per cent (301.6 per cent). The 
Group’s capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2024 was 28.4 
per cent (24.1 per cent). The Group management has set a min-
imum capital adequacy target level of 13 per cent. The Group’s 
equity ratio as at 31 December 2024 amounted to 69.5 per cent 
(67.7 per cent). 

More information on the balance sheet is available in the Group’s 
Financial Statements and on the capital adequacy in the Capital 
adequacy section of the Annual Report.

Resolutions of the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders

United Bankers Plc’s Annual General Meeting was held in Helsinki 
on 22 March 2024. The meeting approved the financial statements 
and discharged the members of the Board of Directors and the 
CEO from liability for the financial period 1 January – 31 December 
2023. The Annual General Meeting approved the Remuneration 
Report and the Remuneration Policy for governing bodies.

Distribution of funds

The Annual General Meeting confirmed in accordance with the 
Board of Directors’ proposal a distribution of funds a total of EUR 
1.00 per share, with a dividend of EUR 0.50 per share and an eq-
uity repayment of EUR 0.50 per share from the reserve of invested 
unrestricted equity. The record date for the dividend distribution 
was 26 March 2024 and the payment date was 4 April 2024. The 
record date for the equity repayment was 27 September 2024 and 
the payment date was 4 October 2024.

The Board of Directors and the auditor

The number of members of the Board of Directors was confirmed 
as seven (7). Johan Linder, Rasmus Finnilä, Rainer Häggblom, 
Tarja Pääkkönen, Lennart Robertsson and Eero Suomela continue 
as members of the Board of Directors, and Elisabeth Dreijer von 
Sydow was elected as new member of the Board.

The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors re-
mained unchanged. The Annual General Meeting confirmed the 
annual remuneration of the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
at EUR 35,000 and for the other members at EUR 25,000. No re-
muneration shall be paid to a member of the Board of Directors 
who is employed by a company belonging to the United Bankers 
Group. The remuneration covers the entire term and committee 
work. Travel expenses are reimbursed according to the travel pol-
icy of the Company. 

The auditing firm Oy Tuokko Ltd was re-elected as the auditor, with 
Janne Elo, APA, as the principal auditor. The auditor’s fee will be 
paid according to the invoice approved by the Company.

Authorisation to decide on the
repurchase of own shares

The Annual General Meeting granted the Board of Directors the 
authority to decide on the repurchase of a maximum of 150,000 
own shares of the Company with the Company’s unrestricted eq-
uity. The authorisation also includes the right to accept the Com-
pany’s own shares as pledge. 
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The authorisation is effective until the end of the next Annual Gen-
eral Meeting, however no longer than until 30 June 2025, and it 
revokes the authorisation granted by the previous Annual General 
Meeting to repurchase own shares to the extent it has not been 
used.

Authorisation to decide on the issuance of
shares and special rights entitling to shares

The Annual General Meeting granted the Board of Directors the 
authority to decide on the issuance of a maximum of 700,000 new 
shares in the Company, on the transfer of treasury shares held by 
the Company and on the issue of special rights entitling to shares.

The issuance of shares and the granting of special rights enti-
tling to shares may also take place in derogation of shareholders’ 
pre-emptive subscription rights (directed share issue). The author-
isation may be used, for example, to finance or carry out acqui-
sitions or restructurings, to strengthen the Company’s balance 
sheet and financial position, to make investments or implement 
share-based incentive plans and/or for other purposes decided 
by the Board of Directors. The authorisation may also be used for 
a share issue free of charge to the Company itself.

The authorisation is effective until the end of the next Annual Gen-
eral Meeting, however no longer than until 30 June 2025, and it 
revokes the authorisation granted by the previous Annual General 
Meeting to decide on the issuance of shares and special rights 
entitling to shares to the extent it has not been used.

The resolutions of the Annual General Meeting are available in 
their entirety on the Company’s website.

United Bankers’ shares and share capital 

United Bankers’ share capital amounts to EUR 5,464,225.47. As 
at 31 December 2024, the total number of shares in the compa-
ny amounted to 10,963,043. The number of shares increased by 
190,000 during the period as a result of the directed share issue 
arranged by the company in May. The issue was directed to the 
employees and management of United Bankers Group, to the tied 

agents, and to certain holding companies of key persons acting as 
directors of alternative investment funds managed by the Group. 
On 19 March 2024, United Bankers transferred a total of 20,878 
shares without consideration to the persons participating in the 
equity-based incentive plan for the company’s management pur-
suant to the share issue authorisation granted by the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting 2023. During the year 2024 United Bankers repur-
chased a total of 32,020 own shares based on the authorisations 
granted by Annual General Meetings of 2023 and 2024. As at 31 
December 2024, the company held a total of 29,858 own shares, 
corresponding to approximately 0.27 per cent of all the shares and 
votes in the company. 

The closing price of the share of United Bankers Plc on 31 Decem-
ber 2024 was EUR 17.80 (EUR 14.40 as at 31 December 2023). 
The lowest closing price for the year was EUR 13.80 and the high-
est EUR 20.30. The total number of United Bankers’ shares trad-
ed between the time period of 1 January – 31 December 2024 
amounted to 403,135 shares (586,276 shares 1–12/2023). The 
aggregate market capitalisation of the shares as at 31 December 
2024 amounted to EUR 195.1 million (EUR 155.1 million as at 31 
December 2023).

Shareholders

As at 31 December 2024, the company had a total of 1,965 share-
holders (1,790 shareholders as at 31 December 2023). Number 
of shareholders increased by 9.8 per cent during the year. At the 
end of December 2024, 56.7 per cent of the shares were held by 
corporations (57.4 per cent as at 31 December 2023) and 30.9 
per cent by households (30.3 per cent as at 31 December 2023). 
The remaining 12.4 per cent of the shares were held by foreign-
ers, financial and insurance institutions, public sector institutions, 
non-profit institutions, as well as nominee registered. At the end 
of the review period, United Bankers’ personnel, members of the 
Board of Directors and tied agents owned a total of approximately 
57 per cent of the company’s shares.

More information is available in the Shares and shareholders sec-
tion of the Annual Report on page 191.

https://unitedbankers.fi/en/united-bankers-group/corporate-governance/previous-annual-general-meetings/
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Board of Directors Shares % of shares
Linder Johan, Chairman of the Board 36,529 0.33
Finnilä Rasmus, member of the Board 1,105,330 10.08
Häggblom Rainer, member of the Board 109,086 1.00
Pääkkönen Tarja, member of the Board 10,342 0.09
Robertsson Lennart, Vice Chairman of the Board 2,910 0.03
Suomela Eero, member of the Board 10,000 0.09
Dreijer von Sydow Elisabeth, member of the Board 1,454 0.01
Total 1,275,651 11.63

Management team Shares % of shares
Anderson Patrick, CEO until 31 October 2024 600,000 5.47
Lehti Jani 498,346 4.55
Noramaa Inka 89,509 0.82
Ojanperä John, CEO from 1 November 2024 71,045 0.65
Rasku Jukka 21,729 0.20
Ronkainen Timo 248,655 2.27
Saukkola Jarkko 16,745 0.15
Total 1,546,029 14.11

Management shareholding

The members of the Board of Directors of United Bankers Plc 
owned a total of 1,275,651 United Bankers’ shares, including 
shares held by their controlled entities, on 31 December 2024. 
This corresponds to 11.6 per cent of the total number of shares 
and votes in the company.

Patrick Anderson, CEO of United Bankers until 31 October 2024, 
owned 600,000 shares in the company as of 31 December 2024, 
representing approximately 5.5 per cent of the total number of 
shares and votes. John Ojanperä, CEO of United Bankers from 
1 November 2024, owned 71,045 shares in the company as of 
31 December 2024, representing approximately 0.7 per cent of 
the total number of shares and votes The other members of the 
Group’s management team held a total of 874,984 shares, repre-
senting a total of 8.0 per cent of the shares and votes. Amounts 
include both shares held directly and through controlled entities.

Share-based incentive plans

United Bankers Plc has adopted a share-based incentive plan for 
key persons on 24 June 2015. The purpose of the share-based 
incentive plan is to promote the Group’s business strategy and 

commit key persons to the company. Share ownership creates a 
long-term interest for management in increasing the company’s 
value, and provides competitive compensation. The program will 
enable the company meet regulatory requirements for manage-
ment remuneration. At the same time, the program binds the long-
term goals of the management and the company’s other share-
holders together.

On the financial period 2024, the share-based incentive plan con-
sisted of three three-year earning periods, calendar years 2022–
2024, 2023–2025 ja 2024–2026. A potential reward for each earn-
ing period shall be paid out after the end of the relevant earning 
period.

The share-based incentive plan applied to seven key persons for 
the financial period.

Based on the decision of the Board of Directors, United Bankers 
issued a total of 20,878 shares without consideration on 19 March 

 Shareholders Shares % of shares
1 Oy Castor-Invest Ab 1,220,000 11.13
2 Amos Partners Oy  1,116,270 10.18
3 Jarafi Oy (Finnilä Rasmus) 1,105,330 10.08
4 Bockholmen Invest Ab (Anderson Patrick) 600,000 5.47
5 J. Lehti & Co Oy (Lehti Jani) 494,850 4.51
6 Olsio Tom Henrik Wilhelm 471,051 4.30
7 Jouhki Marina Sophia Helena 379,695 3.46
8 Linder Cassandra Marie 280,750 2.56
9 Linder Christoffer Magnus 280,750 2.56
10 Linder Corinne Sophie 280,750 2.56

Total 6,229,446 56.82

TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024  
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2024 to the company’s management members belonging to the 
share-based incentive plan. 13,415 shares were issued to the key 
persons belonging to the share-based incentive plan for the earn-
ing periods 2021–2023. 5,289 shares were issued as deferred re-
muneration from the earning period 2019–2021 and 2,174 shares 
from the earning period 2018–2020. The shares were issued in a 
directed share issue without consideration based on the author-
isation to the Board of Directors granted by the Annual General 
Meeting on 22 March 2023.

More information on the Group’s share-based incentive plans is 
available in note 8 to the Financial Statements; Employee benefits 
and administrative expenses and note 29; Related party transac-
tions, and on the Remuneration Policy and Remuneration Report, 
which are published as part of this Annual Report.

Events after the review period

United Bankers Plc’s shareholders’ proposals
to the Annual General Meeting 

United Bankers Plc’s shareholders who represent approximately 
40 per cent of all shares and votes in the company (31 December 
2024) have on 22 January 2025 submitted a proposal to the Annu-
al General Meeting to be held on 21 March 2025 concerning the 
number of members of the Board of Directors, the composition 
and the remuneration of the Board of Directors. 

The shareholders proposed that the number of the Board mem-
bers be confirmed seven (7). In addition, they proposed that cur-
rent Board members Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow, Rasmus Finnilä, 
Rainer Häggblom, Tarja Pääkkönen, Lennart Robertsson and Eero 
Suomela be re-elected, and that Patrick Anderson be elected as 
a new member of the Board. All nominees have given their con-
sent to the election. Additionally, they have stated that, if elected, 
they will appoint Patrick Anderson as the Chair of the Board from 
among themselves.

In addition, the shareholders proposed that the remuneration of 
the Board members remain unchanged, so that the annual remu-
neration of the Chair of the Board of Directors be EUR 35,000 and 
that the annual remuneration of those Board members who are 

not employed by the United Bankers Group of companies be EUR 
25,000. The remuneration is proposed to cover the entire term and 
committee work. Travel expenses are proposed to be reimbursed 
according to the travel policy of the company. 

According to the shareholders’ proposal, if the Board has a full-
time Chair of the Board, their remuneration may consist of the 
Board remuneration as well as employment-related compensation 
in accordance with the company’s remuneration principles and 
policies. According to the proposal, other Board members em-
ployed by the United Bankers Group, apart from the full-time Chair 
of the Board, shall not be paid any Board remuneration.

Risk management and business risks

The fundamental risks of the United Bankers Group comprise: 
strategic risks pertaining to strategic choices, commissioning of 
new products and services and changes in the operating envi-
ronment; operative risks, including procedural, process, systemic 
and information security risks, as well as financial risks, the most 
fundamental of which include market, liquidity, credit and foreign 
exchange risks.

Significant risks and uncertainty factors
for the near future 

The most important of the Group’s risks relate to market devel-
opment as well as the impacts of the external operating environ-
ment and the evolving regulation on the company’s business. The 
development of assets under management, having a focal effect 
on the results of the wealth management business segment, is 
contingent, inter alia, on the performance of the capital markets as 
well as of the real estate and forest estate market and the demand 
for investment services in general. The results performance is also 
impacted by the materialisation of the performance-linked fee in-
come pegged to the success of the investment activities. Perfor-
mance fees may vary considerably per financial and review period. 
Also, the results of United Bankers’ capital markets services are 
dependent on the success fees typically associated with assign-
ments that may vary considerably over review periods, depending 
not only on the demand for services, but also on the timing of the 
transactions. The income from the Group’s own investments con-
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sists of the change in value, as well as the capital gains or losses. 
The aforementioned profits are associated with fluctuations that 
may, in turn, impact the result.

Development in the financial markets and also in the real estate 
and timberland markets have the strongest impact on the compa-
ny’s business. With inflation easing and interest rates falling, the 
outlook for the economy and investment markets appears broadly 
stable. A favorable economic environment may, in turn, support 
demand for both wealth management and capital markets servic-
es. Risks remain in real estate funds and, to some extent, in other 
illiquid investments. While interest rate cuts seem to have stabi-
lised property values and signs of a turnaround are emerging in 
the Nordic real estate market, a recovery in transaction volumes is 
also needed. In Finland, the decision by many fund management 
companies to close their real estate funds or to extend redemption 
periods has increased investor concerns. Regardless of the mar-
ket turnaround, this may continue to sustain redemption pressure 
for some time. 

Geopolitical risks remain elevated, and tensions in Europe are in-
creasing. This has been particularly evident in the Baltic Sea re-
gion through various forms of hybrid influence. In the US, the new 
president’s protectionist policies are creating uncertainty for inter-

national trade and the economy. The actions that Trump is pur-
suing, including import tariffs, could undermine global economic 
growth prospects, including for the US economy.

More information on the Group’s business risks and their manage-
ment is available in the notes to the 2024 Financial Statements.

Outlook

Market environment

The easing of inflationary pressure and the normalisation of inter-
est rates have stabilised the outlook for the global economy and 
the investment market. At the same time, geopolitical risks and the 
unpredictable announcements and actions of the new US Presi-
dent have amplified uncertainty. In the US, investors are looking 
forward to President Trump’s growth-focused policies, including 
tax cuts and lighter regulation. On the other hand, trade policy, in-
cluding tariff increases, and a strict immigration policy are creating 
tension in international relations. 

In Europe, growth has been lagging behind the US for years and 
challenges remain. Economic growth is expected to pick up slight-
ly from 2024 levels, however. The focus is particularly on Germa-
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ny, which is hoped to step up its stimulus measures which would 
boost the European economy as a whole. In China, the crisis in 
the real estate market has undermined the country’s growth pros-
pects. China is now also expected to step up its stimulus meas-
ures. New action taken by the government could offer a positive 
surprise and support economic growth globally.

As a result of the varying pace of economic developments, the 
outlook for monetary policy in Europe and the US has now some-
what diverged. Given the modest economic growth expectations 
for the euro area, the European Central Bank is forecast to con-
tinue cutting interest rates throughout the year until the policy rate 
reaches a level of around 1.5–2.0 per cent. In the US, the Fed is 
also expected to continue cutting interest rates, but as a result of 
stronger economic growth prospects, its cuts will be more gradual 
than in the euro area. The rate cut expectations are also being 
influenced by Trump’s proposed stimulus measures and tariffs, 
which could re-accelerate inflation. US long-term interest rates 
have reflected the forecasts of a slower pace of interest rate cuts 
and started a sharp rise at the end of 2024.

The above-mentioned factors also have a material impact on 
investment markets. In the US, the growth outlook supports the 
upside for equity markets also in 2025. The key question is wheth-
er this favourable trend will continue to be driven by the big tech 
companies. The first signs of a potential bursting of the price bub-
ble were seen at the end of January, when the price of Nvidia and 
many other AI companies plummeted after the Chinese DeepSeek 
released its own high-quality AI software which is cost-effective 
and also high-performance. Other key themes for equity market 
returns include the unpredictability of Trump’s actions and the 
prevailing geopolitical tensions around the world, which could in-
crease market volatility.

In Europe, stock market performance has been much more sub-
dued than in the US in recent years, and in Helsinki it has been 
downright weak. A pick-up in economic growth in the euro area 
and in key European export markets such as China could support 
market performance. In addition, the low valuation of domestic 
stock markets relative to the US makes European markets attrac-
tive.

The normalisation of the interest rate environment is having a ma-
terial impact on many asset classes. The real estate market is ex-
pected to recover in Finland and other Nordic countries in 2025 as 
the decline in interest rates improves market liquidity. The Swedish 
market was already showing signs of a turnaround towards the 
end of 2024, and the real estate market is also expected to gradu-
ally improve in the other Nordic countries. Performance is forecast 
to be more heterogeneous across regions and property types, 
however. The rise in construction costs experienced in all Nordic 
countries in recent years supports the positive performance of ex-
isting buildings. 

The outlook for timberland investors is expected to remain posi-
tive in the year ahead. This is partly supported by continued fierce 
competition for roundwood in the Finnish timber market, and tim-
ber prices are expected to remain above the long-term average. 
There are signs of a turnaround in the forest property market, with 
professional investors increasing their purchases as expected real 
returns on acquisitions have risen to attractive levels. Impact in-
vesting is becoming increasingly important in timberland invest-
ment, and this is also expected to increase the demand for forest 
properties in the future, especially among institutional investors.

Business outlook

The development of United Bankers’ business is critically depend-
ent on the company’s success in growing assets under manage-
ment in products and services that generate recurring fees. The 
amount of assets under management affects not only the man-
agement fees generated by funds and asset management, but 
also potential performance fees, which are difficult to predict as 
they can vary significantly across asset classes in response to 
changes in market conditions. 

The company aims to raise new capital, particularly for funds that 
are essential to its strategy and to discretionary asset manage-
ment. The long-term demand outlook for alternative investments 
remains positive. Real assets, in particular, are part of a well-diver-
sified portfolio, as they provide cash-flow and protection against 
inflation, and improve the risk-return ratio of the portfolio. In the 
short term, the growth outlook for private equity and other alter-
native funds is still uncertain, but demand is expected to pick up 
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as the economy improves and institutional investors gain better 
liquidity to allocate to alternative investments. 

United Bankers aims to grow assets under management with the 
support of multiple business areas. One of the priorities is the pro-
motion of international sales, in which the company has invested 
significantly and to which it will add resources during the current 
year. The positive reception from international investors creates 
confidence that the work is starting to bear fruit. Individual in-
vestments can be substantial in the international sales customer 
segments and the potential for success is high. Megatrends are 
also expected to support United Bankers’ growth prospects. The 
megatrends of climate change mitigation and the green transition 
have played a key role in the investment solutions the company 
has launched over the past years to support the transition to a 
low-carbon, climate-resilient economy. 

United Bankers’ expertise in forests and the forest sector is ex-
pected to play an important role in the growth of the company’s 
business. Forests are attractive, not only for the associated envi-
ronmental values, but also for the stable profit potential they offer, 
independent of financial market performance. As a result of the 
sale of UB Nordic Forest Fund II, the forest funds’ capital is low-
er than a year ago, which affects their fee income. Of the funds 
investing directly in forest property, UB Timberland Fund and UB 
Nordic Forest Fund IV, a fund for professional investors, accept 
new investments. For large international investors, solutions can 
also be tailor-made. International investments will play a key role in 
increasing the capital of forest funds.

Investors are expected to focus not only on well-managed forests, 
but also on the opportunities created by the increasing and diver-
sifying use of wood. In the fight against climate change and in the 
reduction of the use of plastics, for example, the replacement of 
fossil raw materials with alternative solutions is extremely impor-
tant. The strong interest in UB FIGG, which invests in innovation 
in the forestry and biotechnology industries, encourages United 
Bankers to continue developing the fund’s strategy. 

Transaction volumes in the real estate market have fallen sharply 
over the last couple of years. As a result, many market players 
have been forced to extend the redemption periods of their real 
estate funds or close their funds altogether. As a result of uncer-
tainty among investors, the demand outlook for real estate funds 
is expected to remain weak at least for the first half of the year. On 
the other hand, after a couple of years of price pressure, the first 
signs of turnaround in the real estate market also offers opportu-
nities. Based on this, United Bankers launched UB Asuntorahasto 
I Ky for professional investors in the autumn, offering investors the 
opportunity to benefit from the favourable situation on the Finn-
ish housing market. The fund raised EUR 20 million in investment 
commitments in 2024 following its launch. Fundraising has only 
just started, and the targeted total equity is EUR 100 million. Lev-
eraging would in this case increase the fund’s investment capacity 
to a maximum of EUR 200 million. The fund made its first property 
acquisitions in January 2025.

The return potential of the UB Renewable Energy Fund, estab-
lished in 2023, relies heavily on the green transition and the growth 
opportunities created by the electrification of societies. In Finland, 
electricity consumption is projected to double over the next ten 
years as a result of industrial electrification and the electricity 
needs of data centres, among other things. This reinforces the 
need for renewable energy, which is expected to continue to at-
tract new capital to the fund. UB Renewable Energy Fund’s own 
project development is well underway, and investments in strate-
gic projects have started.

The operations of United Bankers are firmly rooted in asset man-
agement, and the growth prospects of discretionary asset man-
agement appear very favourable. Demand for the new financial 
management service concepts that were updated a few years ago 
has been growing strongly. In fact, the funds under management 
within these services have risen significantly. The asset manage-
ment sales team, UB Private, has also been strengthened with a 
number of experienced key personnel, which is expected to further 
support fundraising. 
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The capital markets services’ order book looks much better now as 
we head into the new year. This supports the segment’s outlook. 
The general business environment is also moving in a positive di-
rection, thanks to a pick-up in economic growth and falling interest 
rates. Since many transactions and financing arrangements have 
been postponed due to the weak environment, an improvement in 
market conditions could open up new opportunities.

United Bankers’ business outlook for 2025 remains positive. Man-
agement fees from funds and asset management services are ex-
pected to develop steadily. By contrast, performance fees are ex-
pected to remain below last year’s level as the comparative period 
includes a significant profit fee related to the sale of a forest fund.

Financial guidance for 2025

The company estimates its adjusted operating profit to be signifi-
cantly below the level of 2024, as performance fees are expected 
to be lower than in the exceptionally strong comparison period.

27 February 2025, Helsinki

United Bankers Plc
Board of Directors
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Sustainability is part of long-term
value creation

Sustainability is a key part of United Bankers’ value creation and 
growth strategy, guiding the development of its business opera-
tions. United Bankers supports climate-resilient growth and ena-
bles its clients to invest in the green transition through its product 
offering. At United Bankers, sustainability comprehensively en-
compasses economic, social, and environmental perspectives, 
making it an essential part of both the business strategy and daily 
operations.

The importance of sustainability in the financial sector has grown, 
and investors are increasingly interested in the environmental and 
social impacts of their investments. United Bankers believes that 
the company’s climate actions, aligned with its climate roadmap, 
and responsible investment practices support long-term value 
creation while generating positive impacts on both the environ-
ment and society.

United Bankers puts efforts in the assessment, verification, and 
clear communication of sustainability to meet stakeholder expec-
tations and regulatory developments. The progress of sustaina-
bility efforts is monitored through various indicators, including the 
offering of products and services, company reputation, customer 
satisfaction, equality, as well as employee well-being and exper-
tise. Developing sustainability in collaboration with stakeholders is 
a key part of United Bankers’ operations.

In addition to the Sustainability Report published as part of the An-
nual Report, United Bankers will release a separate Corporate Re-
sponsibility Report for 2024. The structure of the report takes into 
account the guidelines of the EU Sustainability Reporting Stand-
ard, which it informally follows as a reference framework.
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SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT 2024

Sustainability is part of long-term value creation 

•	 United Bankers advanced sustainability in line with its selected focus 
areas, sustainability programme, and established targets.

•	 United Bankers conducted the double materiality analysis required by the 
EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD). The results of 
the analysis will be incorporated into the company’s ongoing sustainabili-
ty development.

•	 Regarding sustainability risks, United Bankers refined its internal 
guidelines, particularly concerning the identification and management of 
climate risks, and took measures to prevent greenwashing.

•	 The company promoted the actions outlined in its climate roadmap and 
prepared to set climate targets in accordance with the Science Based 
Targets initiative (SBTi) by conducting a preliminary study to support the 
climate roadmap for its real estate funds.

Responsible investment contributes to the
green transition 

•	 The fund investing in sustainable and resource efficient forest and bio-
based industries, UB Forest Industry Green Growth Fund I LP, made four 
new investments.  

•	 UB Renewable Energy Fund, focusing on wind and solar power invest-
ments, continued to promote wind power development projects and made 
its first investment in battery energy storage system.  

•	 UB Nordic Forest Fund IV, primarily investing in forests in the Baltic Sea 
region, launched its investment activities.  

•	 United Bankers introduced a new fund, UB Asuntorahasto I Ky, focused 
on residential investments in growth centers.  

•	 United Bankers received excellent ratings in PRI’s (Principles for
	 Responsible Investment) assessment of the implementation of respon-

sible investment principles, demonstrating further development of its 
responsible investment practices.  

•	 The responsibility of investment targets was advanced through active 
ownership actions, including Proxy Voting services, investor initiatives, 
and direct engagement with companies.  

•	 United Bankers joined the PRI Spring investor initiative, aimed at encour-
aging companies to take action to halt biodiversity loss.

United Bankers is the most responsible
workplace of the year

•	 United Bankers received the Most Inspiring Workplaces in Finland 
recognition for the third consecutive year, and the PeoplePower index 
measuring employee engagement continued to show positive develop-
ment.  

•	 Based on the results from the sustainability section of employee sur-
veys, United Bankers was awarded as the Most Responsible Workplace 
in Finland.  

•	 A new skills development model was created for United Bankers.  

•	 Employee satisfaction continued to develop positively.  

•	 United Bankers focused on leadership by offering a comprehensive 
training program to strengthen leadership skills for managers. As part of 
the training, managers developed shared principles for good leadership.

Interaction with stakeholders supports
development work 

•	 The responsibility of investment targets was communicated for the first 
time through a report on the implementation of Ownership Policy.

•	 In addition to the Sustainability Report published as part of the Annual 
Report, United Bankers will release a separate Corporate Responsibil-
ity Report for 2024. The structure of the report takes into account the 
guidelines of the EU Sustainability Reporting Standard, which it informal-
ly follows as a reference framework.  

•	 Customer satisfaction remained at a very high level, with results
	 improving compared to the previous year, both among private clients and 

institutional clients.  

•	 According to the Reputation&Trust survey, United Bankers’ reputation 
was at a moderate level.
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Sustainability focus areas were complemen- 
ted by defining material sustainability themes

United Bankers’ sustainability focus areas were defined in 2023 
and remained in effect in 2024. The key focus areas for the busi-
ness are grouped as follows:

•	 Sustainable products and good stakeholder and client
	 relations: United Bankers drives the transition to a sustainable 	
	 economy and increases its clients’ wealth sustainably
•	 Meaningful and inspiring work: United Bankers offers
	 meaningful work and inspiring opportunities
•	 Reliable and transparent governance: United Bankers is
	 transparent and accountable for its actions

United Bankers wants to take responsibility for society and the en-
vironment and contribute to the achievement of the Sustainable 
Development Goals. In practice, sustainability is reflected in client 
and stakeholder relations, responsible investment and the product 
offering, employee well-being, and sound corporate governance. 
In addition, climate change, human rights, and biodiversity are rel-
evant cross-cutting sustainability themes.

In 2024, United Bankers conducted the double materiality analysis 
required by the EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive 
(CSRD). The goal was to identify the key sustainability themes for 
United Bankers in accordance with the EU Sustainability Report-
ing Standard, considering both financial and impact perspectives. 
The assessment was carried out by following the principle of dou-
ble materiality, which took into account United Bankers’ previously 

E E1 	Climate change 
E4 	Biodiversity and ecosystems S S1 	Own workforce

S4 	Customers and end-users G G1	  Business conduct

FIGURE 1: SUSTAINABILITY FOCUS AREAS AND MATERIAL SUSTAINABILITY THEMES
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identified sustainability focus areas as well as the requirements of 
the sustainability reporting standard.

In the double materiality assessment conducted in 2024, the key 
sustainability themes identified were climate change, biodiversity 
and ecosystems, own workforce, consumers and end-users, and 
business conduct. United Bankers will report on the key themes 
for the first time in 2026, based on data from 2025. 

Further details on the definition of double materiality and the im-
plementation of the analysis will be included in United Bankers’ 
separate Corporate Responsibility Report for 2024. The compa-
ny’s sustainability focus areas and their definition will continue 
to be updated and developed, including in accordance with new 
sustainability reporting regulations.

Commitments and principles guide
responsible business practices

Clients and their goals and needs are at the core of United Bank-
ers’ operations. United Bankers operates in an economically, en-
vironmentally, and socially responsible manner, and promotes the 
implementation of corporate responsibility in its operations and 
investments. The company is guided by not only its values, but 
also by international commitments, best practices, and financial 
regulation. The key principles and commitments that guide United 
Bankers’ sustainability are set out in the Code of Conduct and 
Principles for Responsible Investment. United Bankers also re-
quires that the operations of its business partners, such as service 
providers and suppliers, comply with the company’s sustainability 
standards. The principles and requirements are set out in United 
Bankers’ Supplier Code of Conduct.

The commitments contained in these principles are integrated into 
the company’s governance system, policies and strategies and 
their implementation is regularly monitored. The way in which mon-
itoring is carried out varies depending on the subject matter and 
the context in question. The key players in the monitoring process 
include the Sustainability Steering Group, the risk management 
and compliance functions, the company’s executive management 
and ultimately, the company’s Board of Directors (see Managing 

and leading sustainability). As the Principles for Responsible In-
vestment are central to United Bankers’ investments and prod-
ucts, their implementation is described in more detail in the chap-
ter Responsible investment contributes to the green transition.

United Bankers’ Code of Conduct guides
common practices

United Bankers’ Code of Conduct guides all employees to act in 
accordance with shared values, guidelines and principles of op-
eration. The aim of these is to strengthen mutual trust and open 
communication within the organisation. The Code of Conduct 
also supports the promotion of equality and non-discrimination, 
helps build the company’s reputation and creates a secure and 
confidential framework for managing client and other stakeholder 
relationships.

The aim of the Code of Conduct is to promote the image of the 
company to its external stakeholders. It opens the company’s val-
ues, business principles, guidelines and practices, which contrib-
ute to ensuring responsible behaviour and open interaction with 
stakeholders. The Code of Conduct also guides the management 
of responsibility in United Bankers’ value chain. More information 
about the value chain and its associated ethical guidelines is pro-
vided in the separate United Bankers’ Corporate Responsibility 
Report 2024. 

International commitments

Since 2012, United Bankers has been committed to the UN Prin-
ciples for Responsible Investment (UN PRI). United Bankers con-
tinuously develops its activities in line with these principles and 
reports annually to the PRI organisation. 

United Bankers is committed to setting climate targets for its op-
erations in line with the international Science Based Targets initi-
ative (SBTi). With these targets, United Bankers aims to achieve 
climate-resilient growth and net zero emissions in accordance with 
the Paris Agreement by the end of 2050 at the latest. Climate tar-
gets based on SBTi will be set during 2025. The actions needed to 
achieve them will be identified and integrated into the company’s 

https://unitedbankers.fi/api/content/document/code-of-conduct?lang=en
https://unitedbankers.fi/api/content/document/vastuullisen-sijoittamisen-periaatteet?lang=en
https://unitedbankers.fi/media/2tuhank4/ub_code-of-conduct_suppliers_06-2023.pdf
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Promoting sustainability together with
industry advocacy organisations

In addition to its own activities, United Bankers’ policy is to pro-
mote the sustainability of the financial sector as well as respon-
sible investment through a range of advocacy organisations and 
initiatives. United Bankers has been a member of the Finland’s 
Sustainable Investment Forum (Finsif ry) since 2018. Finsif’s mis-
sion is to promote sustainable investing in Finland. Throughout 
2024, among others, United Bankers continued its work in the Fi-
nance Finland’s Sustainability Committee and participated in the 
work of the Nature Commitment Working Group. United Bankers 
is also a member of the Finnish Venture Capital Association and, 
among other things, is active in the association’s legal working 
group.

United Bankers’ stakeholders include the following organisations 
and associations, with which the company actively cooperates:
•	 Finland’s Sustainable Investment Forum (Finsif ry) 
•	 Finance Finland 
•	 Finnish Venture Capital Association 
•	 European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) 
•	 Global Listed Infrastructure Organisation (GLIO) 
•	 UN Principles for Responsible Investment (UN PRI) 
•	 Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP)
•	 Task Force for Climate-Related Disclosures (TCFD) 
•	 Finnish Forest Association 
•	 Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi)

The impacts of the sustainability programme 
and operations are reported annually

The management of United Bankers’ sustainability focus areas 
and the target setting for 2024 are based on the company’s sus-
tainability programme, which is founded on the results of the 2022 
materiality analysis. The sustainability programme defines actions 
as well as short- and long-term goals to enhance the manage-
ment of the company’s sustainability impacts. The management 
of material impacts is integrated into the company’s sustainability 
policies and guidelines. Additionally, methods and indicators for 

operations and responsible investment processes. More informa-
tion on climate targets can be found in the chapter Responsible 
investment contributes to the green transition.

Since 2022, United Bankers is committed to respecting human 
rights in its operations in accordance with the UN Guiding Prin-
ciples on Business and Human Rights (UNGP). United Bankers 
exercises due diligence and avoids violating human rights in its 
operations and business relationships. The commitment covers 
the principles of fundamental rights as defined in the UN Decla-
ration of Human Rights and the International Labour Organisation 
(ILO) declaration. The integration of human rights considerations 
into responsible investing and the Group’s activities as a whole 
were continued during 2024.

United Bankers’ human rights commitments are integrated into 
the company’s responsible investment processes, including due 
diligence and monitoring processes. More information on respon-
sible investment processes can be found in the chapter Responsi-
ble investment contributes to the green transition.

As of 2021, United Bankers has been committed to assessing 
the climate risks of its operations according to the internation-
al Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) 
guidelines. The climate risk assessment is part of the compa-
ny’s responsible investment processes, such as investment due 
diligence and monitoring, as well as its risk management guide-
lines and processes. More information on responsible investment 
processes can be found in the chapter Responsible investment 
contributes to the green transition and on risk management in the 
chapter Managing sustainability risks.

In the spring of 2024, United Bankers joined the PRI Spring inves-
tor initiative, which aims to encourage companies to take action 
to halt biodiversity loss. Throughout 2024, United Bankers also 
participated in CDP’s Non-Disclosure campaign, which urges 
companies to set credible, science-based climate targets for their 
operations.
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impact monitoring are outlined in internal process guidelines. The 
company’s risk management and compliance functions oversee 
the proper functioning of processes related to impact manage-
ment.

The measures and targets outlined in the sustainability program 
aim to further improve the management of potential negative im-

pacts while promoting positive outcomes. The Sustainability Steer-
ing Group and executive management update the sustainability 
programme annually. The company’s Board of Directors approves 
the programme and monitors its implementation and progress in 
accordance with the Board’s annual schedule.
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TABLE 1:
SUSTAINABILITY PROGRAMME THEMES, OBJECTIVES, MEASURES AND RELATED PRINCIPLES OF OPERATION

Impacts Main policies and guidelines to 
manage impacts

Goals 2024 Measures and achievements 
2024

We drive the transition to a sustainable economy and increase our clients’ wealth sustainably

Sustainable products 
and services

Climate, social, 
human rights and 
biodiversity impacts 
of UB’s products

Sustainable products and services

Guidelines on sustainability risk 
management

UB’s Climate Roadmap

Increasing the carbon 
sequestration of investments 
and reducing the greenhouse 
gas emissions of investments, 
creating a climate roadmap for 
at least one asset class

Internal guidelines on climate risk 
assessment and reference levels for 
carbon intensity were refined, and 
training on the topic was provided 
to portfolio managers. Operational 
greenhouse gas emissions increased 
compared to the previous year. 
Investment-related greenhouse gas 
emissions increased during 2023 
(calculations for 2024 will be com-
pleted in H2/2025)

Creating a climate roadmap for 
at least one asset class

Analysis was conducted to lay the 
foundation for climate roadmaps for 
real estate funds

Promoting investment 
activities in line with the UN 
Principles for Responsible 
Investment (UN PRI)

UB performed excellently in the areas 
of responsible investment manage-
ment, strategy, and assurance (4/5 
stars), as well as in asset class-
specific sections (5/5 stars), slightly 
improving its overall score from the 
previous year

Sustainable financial 
development of the 
company  

The impact of UB’s 
activities on the 
realisation of the 
green transition and 
the economic impact 
on investors, clients, 
employees and other 
stakeholders

Policies and guidelines for product 
development and sales

1)	SFDR 8 and 9 products 
account for at least 50% of 
UB’s assets under manage-
ment
2)	Sales of SFDR 8 and 9 
products at least 50% of UB’s 
sales (excluding external funds 
and bonds)

1)	The share of SFDR Article 8 and 9 
products accounted for more than half 
of UB’s assets under management
2)	The sales of SFDR Article 8 and 
9 products represented more than 
half of UB’s product sales (excluding 
external funds and bonds)

Client and stakeholder 
relations

Impacts for example  
on the financial 
situation of clients 
and investors, 
client experience and 
satisfaction with the 
quality of service, 
data protection and 
security

Client relationship management 
policies and guidelines

Policies and guidelines for managing 
stakeholder relations

Policies and guidelines on client data 
protection and security

Policies and guidelines on client 
feedback and the whistleblowing 
channel

We improve client satisfaction 
among both retail and institu-
tional clients

Based on customer satisfaction sur-
veys (SFR study and UB’s customer 
satisfaction survey 2024), satisfaction 
among both customer groups 
improved compared to previous 
surveys 

Improving the company’s 
reputation among investor 
target groups

The results of the Trust & Reputation 
survey, which measures the organiza-
tion’s reputation, were at a moderate 
level in 2024  

In 2024, no reports were received 
through the whistleblowing channel
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Impacts Main policies and guidelines to 
manage impacts

Goals 2024 Measures and achievements 
2024

We offer meaningful work and inspiring opportunities

Enthusiastic person-
nel and a close-knit 
working community

Impact on employees’ 
well-being, rights, 
skills and equality

Human resources policy and policies 
and guidelines on staff practices, 
including the equality plan and the 
workplace development plan

UB’s Ethical guidelines

100% of development 
discussions held

Development discussions were recor-
ded for 84% of the personnel in 2024

Systematic strengthening of 
leadership capabilities for 
supervisors

The creation of United Bankers’ prin-
ciples of good leadership and training 
programs to strengthen leadership 
capabilities for managers

Employee survey: PeoplePo-
wer index at least at the 2023 
level. With a rating of ”Good” 
(AA), UB is one of the most 
inspiring workplaces in Finland

The overall results of the emplo-
yee survey improved compared 
to the previous year, and UB once 
again achieved the Most Inspiring 
Workplaces in Finland recognition

Top-level expertise The goal is an annual average 
of 15 hours of training for 
expert positions

Employees spent an average of 11 
hours on training in 2024

A diverse work 
community

Achieving equality objectives UB achieved the equality objectives 
set for the Group

Implementation of an 
assessment on gender pay 
gaps and the establishment of 
guidelines for pay equity

A salary gap assessment was 
conducted, and a working group 
was established to develop United 
Bankers’ pay equity policy
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Impacts Main policies and guidelines to 
manage impacts

Goals 2024 Measures and achievements 
2024

We are transparent and accountable for our actions

Direct environmental 
and social impacts of 
UB’s activities

Climate, social, 
human rights and 
biodiversity impacts 
of UB’s activities

Policies and guidelines on procure-
ment and supply chains

Supplier Code of Conduct

Creating an SBTi roadmap 
for own operations, covering 
Scope 1, 2, and 3 (excluding 
Scope 3-15 investments)

The SBTi roadmap for own operations 
will be created based on the climate 
targets to be set in 2025 

Managing 
sustainability risks

Climate, social and 
human rights impacts 
of UB’s products and 
activities

UB’s Principles for Responsible 
Investment

Policies and guidelines on risk mana-
gement and portfolio management, 
and in particular on sustainability risk 
management

Implementation of a double 
materiality analysis

The double materiality assessment 
was conducted during 2024

Reliable and 
transparent 
governance

UB’s impact on 
clients’ data security, 
data protection and 
wealth

Action to prevent 
money laundering and 
corruption

Tax implications of 
UB’s activities

Policies and guidelines for the 
management of investments and 
client assets

Policies and guidelines on the 
prevention of money laundering, 
corruption and conflicts of interest

Policies and guidelines on reporting, 
accounting, taxation and financial 
management

Policies and guidelines on corporate 
governance

Policies and guidelines on data 
security and data protection

Enhancing supply chain 
management processes 

Corruption, bribery, or money 
laundering cases: 
No violations

Supply chain management processes 
were refined regarding the implemen-
tation of counterparty due diligence  
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Managing and leading sustainability 

Sustainability is a central part of United Bankers’ operations and 
is integrated into many of the Group’s activities. In addition to the 
United Bankers Board of Directors, subsidiaries’ Boards and exec-
utive management, the United Bankers Group has a Sustainability 
Steering Group and an ESG team to organise and implement sus-
tainability and responsible investment.

The Board of Directors of the parent company is re-
sponsible for the management and proper organisation of the 
United Bankers Group. The Board of Directors decides on the or-
ganisation and methods of sustainability work within the Group 
and monitors sustainability activities, their results and the associ-
ated risks. The Board of Directors of United Bankers establishes 
the Group’s sustainability principles and Principles for Responsi-
ble Investment, which ensure that activities comply with laws, reg-

ulations, guidelines and good international practices. Principles 
for Responsible Investment and the related internal guidelines also 
include due diligence processes for investment activities. As part 
of the organisation of sustainability, the Board of Directors also 
approves the sustainability objectives contained in the company’s 
sustainability programme and monitors their implementation. The 
role and responsibilities of the Board of Directors are described 
in more detail in the section Corporate Governance Statements. 

The executive management of the parent company 
(management team) and the CEOs of each Group company man-
age the day-to-day administration of the Group companies in ac-
cordance with the principles and guidelines set by the Board of 
Directors of the parent company. A person responsible for sustain-
ability has been appointed to the management team, to whom the 
Head of ESG reports to. 

UNITED BANKERS GROUP BOARD

MANAGEMENT TEAM
Reporting

UB ASSET MANAGEMENT BOARD

       PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT ESG team

Portfolio 
managers

Investment 
committees

Allocation 
team

ESG (Management)

SUSTAINABILITY
STEERING GROUP

Role: Body responsible
for monitoring and
developing corporate
responsibility

UB FUND MANAGEMENT BOARD

RISK MANAGEMENT

UB Group Risk
Management
• Reporting and monitoring 
of operational risks, incl. 
sustainability risks

UB Fund Management 
Company Risk
Management
• Sustainability risks
• Fund risk reporting

COMPLIANCE Guidance
Monitoring
Training

FIGURE 2:

MANAGING AND LEADING SUSTAINABILITY
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To steer sustainability and responsible investment, United Bank-
ers Group has a Sustainability Steering Group, chaired by 
the Head of ESG. The Steering Group reports to the management 
team. The Steering Group is responsible for developing and mon-
itoring the sustainability of the business. Among other things, the 
Steering Group plans the company’s sustainability programme 
and the setting of its targets. It is also responsible for providing 
guidance on the application of the Principles for Responsible In-
vestment and for preparing an update of the Principles for approv-
al by the Board of Directors.

The ESG team acts as an expert team on sustainability issues, 
supporting portfolio management, business operations, and risk 
management on sustainability issues as well as develops the sus-
tainability of operations. 

Identifying and managing sustainability
risks require continuous commitment

The sustainability risks of United Bankers’ activities include both 
the sustainability risks related to investments and the sustainability 
risks of the Group’s other activities. A significant part of United 
Bankers’ sustainability risks relates to investments and their im-
pacts. United Bankers focuses on identifying and managing the 
following sustainability risks in its investments:

•	 Environmental, social and governance risks
	 (so-called traditional ESG risks)
•	 Human rights risks
•	 Climate risks

ESG, climate, and human rights risks are identified as part of the 
due diligence assessments conducted before investment deci-
sions. In 2024, United Bankers further developed its methods and 
processes for analysing, monitoring, and managing sustainability 
risks. Special emphasis was placed on identifying climate risks, 
particularly in United Bankers’ real estate and forest funds.

The Sustainability Steering Group monitors sustainability risks 
related to United Bankers’ operations, defines management 
measures, provides guidance on handling sustainability risks in 
investments, and enhances overall corporate responsibility. The 
risk management function integrates sustainability risks into the 
Group’s overall risk management framework.

Especially human rights risks and climate risks are considered not 
only from an investment perspective but also from the perspec-
tive of the United Bankers Group, and are therefore separated into 
their own entities. This is due to United Bankers’ commitment to 
the principles of the UN Global Compact (UNGC) and to reporting 
its climate risks in accordance with the TCFD. 

Further details on sustainability risks can be found in the separate 
United Bankers Corporate Responsibility Report, to be published 
for the year 2024.
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Responsible investment contributes
to the green transition  

The goal of United Bankers’ investment and asset management 
operations is to achieve the best possible returns for clients at their 
chosen risk level in a responsible manner, both in the short and 
long term. United Bankers aims to reduce the negative impacts 
of investments over the long term, enhance their positive effects 
on the environment, society, and good governance, and support 
sustainable business practices.

United Bankers strives to promote sustainable development 
goals by offering its clients investment products that support the 
achievement of these objectives. A significant portion of the com-

pany’s impact on the environment and society is realised through 
its investment products and services. United Bankers seeks to 
enhance the sustainability of investments by considering sustain-
ability risks and the environmental and social impacts of its opera-
tions in investment decisions. Currently, some of United Bankers’ 
products are specifically designed to promote certain sustainable 
development goals. While not all products have a defined sustain-
ability objective within their investment strategy, information is pro-
vided where possible on how the product contributes to different 
aspects of sustainable development.

Achievements 2024:
•	 The fund investing in sustainable and resource efficient forest and bio-based industries, UB Forest Industry Green Growth Fund I LP,
	 made four new investments.  

•	 UB Renewable Energy Fund, focusing on wind and solar power investments, continued to promote wind power development
	 projects and made its first investment in battery energy storage system (BESS).  

•	 UB Nordic Forest Fund IV, primarily investing in forests in the Baltic Sea region, launched its investment activities.  

•	 United Bankers introduced a new fund, UB Asuntorahasto I Ky, focused on residential investments in growth centers.  

•	 United Bankers received excellent ratings in PRI’s (Principles for Responsible Investment) assessment of the implementation
	 of responsible investment principles, demonstrating further development of its responsible investment practices.  

•	 The responsibility of investment targets was advanced through active ownership actions, including Proxy Voting services,
	 investor initiatives, and direct engagement with companies.  

•	 United Bankers joined the PRI Spring investor initiative, aimed at encouraging companies to take action to halt biodiversity loss.
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Clients can choose from United Bankers’ diverse fund selection, 
which focuses on real asset investments. In addition, the offer-
ing includes carefully selected investment products from trusted 
partners. United Bankers’ funds and UB 360 asset management 
solutions consider key sustainability risks specific to each industry, 
as well as factors related to climate change mitigation and adap-
tation when selecting investment targets. This approach aims to 
ensure that the investments will continue to thrive in a world of 
green transition.

Responsible investment principles guide 
investment activities

A responsible investor takes environmental, social, and govern-
ance (ESG) factors into account in investment activities. Responsi-
ble investing is at the core of United Bankers’ products and servic-
es. At United Bankers, it is believed that assessing sustainability 
factors alongside financial key figures enhances the understand-

ing of investment targets and the associated risks and opportuni-
ties. Consideration of these issues is also expected to improve the 
potential for investment returns.

United Bankers wants to offer its clients the opportunity to make 
responsible and profitable investments while growing their wealth 
sustainably. The objective of investment activities is to achieve the 
best possible returns at the chosen risk level in a responsible man-
ner, both in the short and long term. As part of this goal, investment 
decisions consider how environmental and social responsibility, 
as well as good governance, are implemented in the investments.

The consideration of environmental, social, and governance (ESG) 
factors is an essential part of United Bankers’ investment activities, 
portfolio management, as well as the planning and development 
of its products and services. United Bankers’ Principles for Re-
sponsible Investment guide the investment activities of the entire 
group, defining the company’s approach to responsible investing.

EXCLUSION 
FROM INVESTMENTS

General principles
for exclusion 

of investments
•

Principles of
norm-based exclusion

•
Monitoring

ESG INTEGRATION 
IN INVESTMENTS

Sustainability 
analysis as part 

of the investment 
decision

•
ESG databases in support 

of decision-making by 
portfolio managers

ENGAGEMENT AND
ACTIVE OWNERSHIP

Dialogue with 
portfolio companies

•
Annual General Meetings

•
Joint initiatives

REPORTING

Fund-specific 
sustainability reports

•
Sustainability reporting

in accordance with
PRI, SFDR, and

industry reporting
practices and regulations

PRINCIPLES FOR RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT 
Sustainability guidelines for the entire company • Integration of the UN’s principles for responsible investment 

into principles and processes • In-house responsibilities • Sustainability Steering Group

https://unitedbankers.fi/api/content/document/vastuullisen-sijoittamisen-periaatteet?lang=en
https://unitedbankers.fi/api/content/document/vastuullisen-sijoittamisen-periaatteet?lang=en
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ESG INTEGRATION IN INVESTMENTS

The sustainability of investment targets is analysed as part of investment 
decisions. Portfolio managers have access to ESG databases provided 
by Sustainalytics, Morningstar, and Bloomberg. These databases enable 
portfolio managers to easily access company-specific sustainability data 
when making equity and fixed income investments. Portfolio managers can 
retrieve information such as sustainability ratings (ESG scores), details 
on sustainability risks, the share of revenue from controversial activities, 
potential ESG violations, data on companies’ carbon risks and emission 
reduction targets, as well as information on principal adverse impacts.

The ESG analysis for each investment is an integral part of all investments, 
including alternative funds. In these funds, ESG analysis and value crea-
tion are central to the investment activities, and ESG analysis is integrat-
ed into the due diligence and investment processes, as well as portfolio 
management for each fund. Approaches and data sources vary by asset 
class and fund.

RESPONSIBILITY IS A KEY PART OF THE INVESTMENT PROCESS

ENGAGEMENT AND ACTIVE OWNERSHIP

United Bankers aims to promote the responsibility of its investments by fo-
cusing on the environmental, social, and governance aspects of its invest-
ment targets. The goal is to support the development of the sustainability of 
investments in line with responsible investment principles, climate princi-
ples, and good international practices. General guidelines for influence are 
outlined in the ownership governance principles of the funds managed by 
UB Asset Management Ltd and UB Fund Management Company Ltd, which 
can be found on United Bankers’ website under Sustainability-related Dis-
closures. United Bankers focuses its engagement activities particularly on 
the following areas:
• 	specific themes such as climate change, human rights, energy
	 efficiency, good governance, biodiversity, and water 
• 	norm violations 
• 	 investment-specific issues 

The methods used by United Bankers include exercising voting rights at 
shareholder meetings through the ISS Proxy Voting service or personal par-
ticipation, direct company engagement, participation in joint investor initia-
tives, stakeholder collaboration, and public discussions.

If United Bankers detects that one of its investment companies is violating 
the principles of the UN Global Compact, the situation is analysed by the 
portfolio manager and reviewed by the Sustainability Steering Group, which 
decides on the next steps. There are two options for further action: initiate 
engagement activities or exclude the investment. The goal of engagement 
activities is to encourage the company to adopt more responsible practices. 
Additional details about United Bankers’ human rights-related practices and 
processes can be found in a separate report on United Bankers corporate 
responsibility 2024.

United Bankers’ fund offering focuses on funds investing in real asset. For 
example, in funds investing in Finnish and other Nordic real estate and for-
est, United Bankers is an active owner and promotes the sustainability of 
these investments through concrete actions in collaboration with partners. 
These efforts are directly implemented in the management and administra-
tion of the funds’ investments.

https://unitedbankers.fi/en/sustainability/responsible-investing/sustainability-related-disclosures/
https://unitedbankers.fi/en/sustainability/responsible-investing/sustainability-related-disclosures/
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RESPONSIBILITY IS A KEY PART OF THE INVESTMENT PROCESS

EXCLUSION

Excluding investments is one of the most concrete ways to implement 
responsible investing. United Bankers does not invest in or will divest 
from companies it deems not to be responsible. The company has ex-
cluded certain industries from its investment portfolio, set revenue limits, 
and developed more specific sectoral guidelines. The exclusion list is 
updated as necessary.

In the investment process, a general exclusion list applies to all invest-
ments (except for index-based products):
• 	Companies involved in the production and sale of controversial
	 weapons (landmines, cluster bombs, depleted uranium, as well as 	
	 biological and chemical weapons) and companies involved in the
	 development and production of nuclear weapon programs.
• 	Tobacco, coal production, weapons (except for defense industry), 	
	 gambling, and adult entertainment. A revenue threshold of 5 per cent 	
	 of total revenue is applied.

A company that violates the principles of the UN Global Compact may be 
excluded from investment opportunities by the decision of the Responsi-
ble Investment Steering Group. Based on the decision, the company may 
either begin influencing actions to correct the situation or be excluded 
from the investment portfolio.

Additionally, United Bankers avoids investing in companies where at least 
25 per cent of revenue comes from coal-based energy production or oil 
sands extraction. However, United Bankers may make exceptions if the 
company has a clear plan for transforming its operations.

United Bankers invests in the oil and gas industry only if the investment 
passes a detailed ESG analysis, which takes into account factors such 
as the company’s climate goals and investments in the green transition.

REPORTING

United Bankers communicates the responsibility of its investments open-
ly and transparently. The sustainability reporting consists of the Group’s 
overall sustainability reports and product-specific ESG reports, which are 
regularly published. Reporting is developed in accordance with regulatory 
requirements and considers the needs of stakeholders.

United Bankers publishes ESG reports of all its equity and fixed income 
funds, as well as UB 360 asset management (excl. UB 360 bonds), which 
include details on the development of sustainability risks, ESG scores, 
Global Compact violations, carbon intensity, carbon risk, and compa-
ny-specific ESG data for the top 15 holdings. Annual separate sustain-
ability reports are published for United Bankers’ alternative investment 
funds, providing information on each fund’s sustainability indicators and 
progress in responsible investment efforts.
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Compliance with the UN Principles
for Responsible Investment in
international comparison

United Bankers signed the UN Principles for Responsible Invest-
ment (PRI) in 2012. In line with these principles, United Bankers 
has integrated the assessment of sustainability in its investment 
processes, promotes sustainability goals as an active owner in its 
investments, and develops sustainability reporting. The compa-
ny’s responsible investment activities are reported annually to PRI. 
Each year, PRI scores the signatory organisations on how they 
practice responsible investment and develop their responsible in-
vestment practices.

At the end of 2024, United Bankers received excellent scores in 
the PRI assessment of the implementation of the Principles for Re-
sponsible Investment. In asset-class-specific evaluations, United 
Bankers earned the maximum rating of 5/5 stars across all as-
sessed asset classes. For sections related to responsible invest-
ment principles, governance, strategy, and assurance process-
es, the company received 4/5 stars. Compared to the previous 
assessment in 2023, United Bankers improved its score in areas 
related to engagement actions and voting activity.

United Bankers’ public PRI results report and transparency report 
are available on the United Bankers website under the Commit-
ments and Principles section.

•	PROCEDURES, GOVERNANCE, AND STRATEGY 	     

•	DIRECT – LISTED EQUITIES – ACTIVE QUANTITATIVE 	     

•	DIRECT – LISTED EQUITIES – ACTIVE FUNDAMENTAL 	     

•	DIRECT – REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS	     

•	ASSURANCE MEASURES 		      
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United Bankers’ funds contribute
to the green transition

United Bankers strives to offer its clients opportunities to invest in 
products that promote the green transition. In particular, United 
Bankers’ alternative funds and real asset funds provide an oppor-
tunity to invest in building a sustainable society, renewable energy, 
sustainable growth, and innovations. Offering and developing a 
sustainable and responsible product range that withstands differ-
ent market conditions is at the heart of United Bankers’ business 
and growth strategy.

At the end of 2024, United Bankers had four funds focused on sus-
tainable investments (SFDR 9) and 21 funds promoting sustaina-
bility characteristics (SFDR 8). In the fall of 2024, United Bankers’ 
product offering was expanded with the launch of a new fund, UB 
Asuntorahasto I Ky, which invests in housing companies and indi-
vidual apartments. The UB Renewable Energy Fund continued to 
advance wind power development projects and made its first in-
vestment in a battery energy storage system. The UB Forest Industry 
Green Growth Fund, which invests in sustainable and resource- 

efficient forest and bio-based industries, made several new in-
vestments in 2024. Early in the year, the fund invested in Paptic 
Ltd, which produces wood fiber-based packaging materials. In the 
summer, the fund made an investment in Nordtreat Ltd, a techno
logy company focused on developing and producing innovative 
fire retardants. In September, the fund led a growth investment 
round for Notpla, a pioneering company in sustainable packaging 
made from seaweed. By the end of the year, the fund acquired the 
entire share capital of FiberLean Technologies Ltd, which manu-
factures equipment for the production of microfibrillated cellulose.

The investment strategies within the UB 360 asset management 
model (excl. bonds) are SFDR Article 8-compliant investment 
products that promote environmental and social characteristics. 
Within the UB 360 asset management model, clients can custom-
ise their portfolio by adding a focus on sustainability, selecting 
preferred funds to complement their core portfolio. Additionally, 
United Bankers’ personalised asset management solutions allow 
clients to choose investments that promote environmental and so-
cial characteristics, as well as sustainable investments, in accord-
ance with their preferences.

FORESTRY AND FOREST INDUSTRY FUNDS

UB Forest Industry 
Green Growth Fund

SFDR 8

UB Timberland 
Global Fund

SFDR 8

UB Nordic Forest 
Fund III
SFDR 9

UB Nordic Forest 
Fund IV
SFDR 9

UB Timberland 
Fund

SFDR 9

REAL ESTATE FUNDS REAL ESTATE EQUITY FUNDS

UB Nordic
Property
SFDR 8

UB Finnish
Properties

SFDR 8

UB Asuntorahasto 
I Ky

SFDR 8

UB Asia 
Real Estate Equity

SFDR 8

UB Europe 
Real Estate Equity 

SFDR 8

UB Global 
Real Estate Equity

SFDR 8

UB North America 
Real Estate Equity

SFDR 8

INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDS REGIONAL EQUITY FUNDS

UB 
EM Infra
SFDR 8

UB 
Infra

SFDR 8

UB Renewable 
Energy
SFDR 9

UB 
Finland
SFDR 8

UB 
Europe AI
SFDR 8

UB American 
Equity
SFDR 8

FIXED INCOME FUNDS OTHER FUNDS

UB 
High Yield

SFDR 8

UB Fixed 
Income Plus

SFDR 8

UB Short-Term
Bond Fund

SFDR 8

UB 
Smart

 SFDR 8

UB 
Global
SFDR 8

Asilo 
Argo

SFDR 8

UB Corporate
Lending Fund

SFDR 8



72

The aim is to influence target companies 
through active ownership

Investors play a crucial role in promoting sustainability, as financial 
and capital flows can guide companies towards more responsible 
practices. United Bankers promotes the sustainability of its funds’ 
investments by voting at the general meetings of its investments 
and by participating in joint investor initiatives. At the beginning 
of 2024, United Bankers published for the first time a report on 
the implementation of its ownership policy, which provides further 
information on the active ownership and direct engagement un-
dertaken by the company. A report on the implementation of the 
principles of ownership policy is published annually. The report 
is available in the Sustainability Reporting section of the United 
Bankers’ website.

FIGURE 3:

GENERAL MEETINGS VOTED BY MARKET
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Voting at general meetings is a key part of 
the engagement actions for equity funds

Since 2021, United Bankers’ equity funds that are valued daily 
have been using the Proxy Voting service provided by Institutional 
Shareholder Services Inc. (ISS ESG). Through the service, United 
Bankers votes at the general meetings of portfolio companies lo-
cated outside Finland. United Bankers exercises its voting rights 
in portfolio companies to promote sustainability-related themes 
such as transparency, equality, climate change mitigation, and 
the establishment of climate targets. United Bankers uses voting 
principles which promote sustainability (International Sustainability 
Proxy Voting Guidelines), provided by the service provider, under 
which the service provider’s experts prepare voting recommenda-
tions concerning funds’ portfolio companies. United Bankers’ port-
folio managers may choose to modify the pre-drafted positions or 
opt to follow the predetermined recommendations. In 2024, United 
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Bankers’ funds used their voting rights through the Proxy Voting 
service at a total of 365 general meetings. Additionally, United 
Bankers participated in the general meetings of companies in Fin-
land with a significant weighting in United Bankers’ funds.

Investor initiatives focus on
thematic engagement

In 2024, United Bankers continued its support for the CDP Sci-
ence-Based Targets climate campaign that began in 2020. This 
CDP campaign encourages companies to set emissions reduc-
tion targets in line with the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi), 
covering the entire value chain of a company’s emissions. These 
targets, in alignment with the Paris Agreement on climate change, 
aim to limit the global temperature increase to 1.5°C.

During the 2023–2024 campaign round, CDP sent letters on be-
half of United Bankers and other participating organisations to 
over two thousand companies worldwide. The companies target-
ed by the campaign were mainly in high-emission sectors, such 
as manufacturing, energy production, materials production, and 
transportation. Of the companies targeted, 71, with a combined 
market value of approximately USD 1.1 trillion and total scope 1 
and scope 2 emissions of 50 MtCO2, joined the SBTi initiative. 

Since the launch of CDP’s SBTi campaign in 2020, over 550 influ-
ential companies have been encouraged to join the SBTi initiative 
across the campaign’s four rounds. The 2024 round was the final 
round of the campaign.

United Bankers continued its support for CDP’s Non-disclosure 
campaign, which encourages companies to report their green-
house gas emissions and environmental impacts transparently. 
The campaign is carried out in collaboration with CDP-signato-
ry financial market actors and aims to contact companies that 
have not responded to requests to disclose information related 
to climate change mitigation, forests, and/or water in CDP ques-
tionnaires. The goal of the campaign is to increase the amount 
of environmental data reported by companies and enhance their 
transparency. In the 2024 Non-Disclosure campaign, a total of 
1,998 companies that had not previously provided information to 
CDP were invited to report their data related to climate actions 
and impacts, forests, and water. This represented a 26% increase 
compared to the number of companies targeted in the previous 
year. As a result of the campaign, over 8,000 companies reported 
climate change, forests, water, plastics, and biodiversity-related 
data via CDP in 2024. Through CDP, United Bankers and other 
financial market actors can utilise this data when making invest-
ment decisions.
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The majority of United Bankers’ environmental and social impacts 
occur through its investments. United Bankers aims to drive real 
emissions reductions by offering its clients a product range that 
enables investment in carbon sequestration and the green transi-
tion. United Bankers believes that providing such investment op-
portunities is at the core of responsible wealth creation.

The Climate Roadmap communicates
the level of ambition of climate action

United Bankers aims for climate-resilient growth and seeks to im-
plement its growth strategy in alignment with international long-
term climate goals. United Bankers has developed a Climate 
Roadmap for the years 2023–2050, guiding its climate actions. 
The Climate Roadmap is available on United Bankers’ website in 
the Climate Targets section. As part of the actions outlined in the 

UNITED BANKERS TAKES ACTION TO FIGHT CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate Roadmap, United Bankers is committed to setting sci-
ence-based climate targets in line with the Science Based Targets 
initiative.

United Bankers aims to influence the reduction of its investment 
targets’ carbon footprint. The company’s goal is to invest in 
low-carbon and carbon sequestration  solutions, as well as to in-
crease the carbon sequestration of its investments to ensure that 
they exceed the greenhouse gas emissions of its investments by 
2030. In addition, the company seeks to reduce its own opera-
tional carbon footprint. In the longer term, the goal is to achieve 
net-zero emissions and net-negative emissions by 2040–2050 at 
the latest. These actions aim to ensure that United Bankers’ busi-
ness is aligned with the targets of the Paris Agreement and that 
the company reaches its long-term Net Zero goals by 2040–2050 
at the latest.

GOAL 1: UNITED BANKERS SETS SCIENCE-BASED CLIMA-

TE TARGETS IN LINE WITH THE SCIENCE BASED TARGETS 

INITIATIVE (SBTI).

GOAL 2: THE CARBON SEQUESTRATION OF UNITED 

BANKERS’ INVESTMENT PORTFOLIOS WILL EXCEED THE 

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS OF  INVESTMENTS BY 2030.

United Bankers’ Climate Roadmap 2023–2050
BUILDING WEALTH IN A RESPONSIBLE WAY

2023 2023–2025 Interim targets 2025–2030  2040–2050

Commitment to setting interim 
short-term (2030) and a long-
term Net Zero climate targets in 
accordance with the SBTi 

Commitment to reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions from investments 
and increasing carbon sequestration 
so that the investments’ carbon 
sequestration exceeds emissions 
by 2030.

Setting climate targets according to 
the SBTi. The targets apply to both 
United Bankers’ own activities and 
investments (scope 1, scope 2 and 
scope 3).

Preparation of detailed climate 
roadmaps for UB’s funds and 
business areas

We grow the company’s business 
in line with United Bankers’ growth 
strategy and achieve the interim 
goals set for climate action under 
the SBTi. 

Carbon sequestration of our 
investments will exceed greenhouse 
gas emissions from our investments 
by 2030

Achieving UB’s long-term Net Zero 
target
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According to the Climate Roadmap, United Bankers focuses on 
setting SBTi targets, creating asset-class-specific action plans, 
and developing its business in line with the interim goals set for 
climate actions under SBTi. In addition to reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions, United Bankers also wants to consider the carbon 
sequestration of its forest funds in its climate targets. Key climate 
actions in the roadmap also include integrating climate work into 
the organisation’s compensation models, improving the analysis 
and management of climate risks, and increasing internal training 
on climate change.

The actions outlined in the Climate Roadmap are part of United 
Bankers’ ongoing climate measures. United Bankers’ carbon foot-
print was first calculated in 2022 based on 2021 data. The calcula-
tion follows the international GHG Protocol standard and methods 

developed by the Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials 
(PCAF) network for the financial sector.

In 2024, United Bankers advanced the actions outlined in its Cli-
mate Roadmap by preparing to set science-based climate targets. 
Portfolio managers were offered training on utilising climate-re-
lated data and indicators, as well as interpreting and assessing 
climate targets. For high-emission investments, concrete actions 
were identified to reduce investment emissions. The impact of 
SBTi-aligned targets on United Bankers’ real estate funds was also 
reviewed, and key emissions reduction measures were mapped. 
The work to set United Bankers’ climate targets, as well as to 
identify and promote emissions reduction actions, will continue 
throughout 2025 for both the company’s operations and various 
asset classes.

2012

•Signing of the UN PRI 

2019

•	 UB’s general climate targets
	 incorporated into the Principles for 
	 Responsible Investment

2020

•	 Montreal Carbon Pledge
•	 UB’s support to the CDP 
	 initiative starts

UNITED BANKERS’ KEY CLIMATE ACTIONS SINCE 2012

2021

•	 Commitment to reporting 
	 climate risks in line with TCFD
•	 Calculation of forest funds’
	 carbon balances starts

2022

•	 Calculation of United Bankers’ carbon footprint 	
	 according to PCAF accounting standard 
•	 Climate risks included in annual reporting and 	
	 sustainability reporting
•	 Tightening of the criteria for climate-based 	
	 exclusions in investments
• 	Carbon neutrality target set for property funds 	
	 (2035 carbon neutral for use-phase energy)

2023

•	 Renewed ESG reporting for Article 8 funds
	 and asset management,  
	 including metrics for carbon risk  
	 and carbon intensity
•	 United Bankers’ Climate Roadmap 2023–2050

2024

•	 Climate risk assessments of real estate and
	 forest funds
•	 Identification of key emission reduction measures
	 for individual funds
•	 Creating guidelines for climate risk identification
	 and improving reporting capabilities
•	 Training for portfolio managers on efficient utilisation
	 of climate-related data and metrics, as well as
	 interpretation and assessment of climate targets
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Reducing the emissions of investments
requires active measures 

Greenhouse gas emissions measurement and monitoring are 
essential for planning and targeting climate actions. Since 2021, 
United Bankers has tracked the development of its carbon foot-
print in accordance with the international GHG Protocol standard 
and the methodologies developed by the Partnership for Carbon 

Accounting Financials (PCAF) for the financial sector. In 2023, 
United Bankers’ investment emissions increased by 22 per cent 
compared to 20221. The company’s 2023 carbon footprint was 
430 ktCO2e (Scope 1–3), with a carbon intensity of 29 tCO2e/
MEUR (Scope 1–2) and 8,265 tCO2e/MEUR (Scope 1–3) relative 
to revenue. The vast majority (99.6%) of the carbon footprint result-
ed from emissions associated with the investments included in the 
company’s investment products.
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FIGURE 4:

UNITED BANKERS’ GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS AND CARBON

SEQUESTRATION FROM FOREST INVESTMENTS (2022–2023)

Emissions source	 Emissions 2023 (tCO2e)	 Emissions 2024 (tCO2e)

Scope 1	 0.0	 0.0

Scope 2	 36.9	 26.0

(Market-based)

Scope 3: Category 15 	 428,231.3	 Available Q4 2025

(Investments within United Bankers products)	

Scope 3: Others	 1,490.1	 1,787.0

Total	 429,758.3	 Available Q4 2025

TABLE  2: UNITED BANKERS’ CARBON FOOTPRINT
United Bankers’ investment 
portfolio does not only generate 
greenhouse gas emissions; its 
forest investments also contribute 
to carbon sequestration.

The calculation includes United 
Bankers’ funds as well as invest-
ment portfolios under discretion-
ary asset management, where 
United Bankers makes investment 
decisions on behalf of the client. 
The calculation takes into account 
all (Scope 1–3) emissions.

1Due to the availability of emissions data, the Scope 3 (Category 15) emissions calculation for investments included in United 
Bankers’ products is carried out in the second half of the year once the previous year’s emissions data for the investment targets 
becomes available.
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FIGURE 5:

BREAKDOWN OF UNITED BANKERS INVESTMENTS’ (UB’S FUNDS,

UB 360 ASSET MANAGEMENT AND PRIVATE INVESTMENT OFFICE)

EMISSIONS BY INVESTMENT TYPE (2023)

Fixed income funds 54%

Infrastructure
funds 12%

Forest funds 3%
REIT funds 2%

Real estate funds 3%

UB 360 asset management 6%

Other 7%

Equity funds 13%

The total carbon footprint of investments included in United Bank-
ers’ products was 428 ktCO2e in 2023 (Scope 3, Category 15), 
and the weighted average carbon intensity (WACI, S1+S2+S3) 
was approximately 197 tCO2e per million euros invested. Although 
investments made through United Bankers’ products and services 
generate emissions, the product range also includes forest funds 
that sequester carbon. When both investment emissions and car-
bon sequestration from forest investments are taken into account, 
United Bankers’ net emissions were 254 ktCO2e in 2023.

The main sources of emissions in United Bankers’ investments 
are concentrated in funds that invest in more emission-intensive 
industries, such as fixed income and infrastructure funds, as well 
as equity funds, which include companies from sectors like basic 
industries and transportation. When selecting investment targets, 
it is essential to identify companies with credible plans to advance 
climate action. Especially in emission-intensive industries, pro-
moting climate efforts within investment targets requires time, for 
example, for the development and adoption of new technologies. 
Throughout 2024, actions to reduce investment-related emissions 
were actively identified. Asset-class-specific plans and measures 

for reducing emissions will be further refined in connection with the 
establishment of science-based climate targets.

Among United Bankers’ investments, there are also significant 
low-emission sectors, such as forest investments, which account 
for only 3% of total emissions despite representing over 30% of the 
assets under management included in the emissions calculation. 
Similarly, emissions from the real estate sector are relatively low. 
Real estate investments account for 24% of assets under man-
agement2, but only 3% of total emissions. In line with SBTi recom-
mendations, United Bankers aims to promote the green transition 
through its investments and product offering, while also encour-
aging its portfolio companies to reduce their emissions and set 
science-based climate targets.

Excluding United Bankers’ investment products, the carbon foot-
print of the Group’s other activities, such as office maintenance 
and business travel, amounted to 1.8 ktCO2e in 2024 (2023: 1.5 
ktCO2e), representing a 20 per cent increase compared to 2023. 
The biggest change from 2023 is explained by the increase in trav-
el-related emissions. The growth in travel emissions was primarily 
due to an increase in business travel, reflecting the company’s 
growing efforts to promote international sales.

2According to current accounting standards, emissions in the real estate sector include the energy consumption of properties during use but do not account for 
carbon emissions from the construction phase or the carbon embodied in buildings. United Bankers’ real estate funds primarily focus on leasing properties rather 
than new construction.
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FIGURE 6:

DISTRIBUTION OF UNITED BANKERS’ OPERATIONAL EMISSIONS, EXCL. INVESTMENTS

SCOPE 2: Electricity – market-based

SCOPE 2: District heating – market-based

SCOPE 3: Purchased goods and services

SCOPE 3: Fuel and energy related activities

SCOPE 3: Upstream transportation and distribution

SCOPE 3: Business travel

SCOPE 3: Employee commuting

0.2%

1.3%

                                         82.4%

0.7%

0.1%

       13.8%

1.5%

MWh 2022 2023 2024

Electricity consumption 165.9 153.1 109.5

Consumption of district heating and district cooling 118.5 115.1 63.8

Total energy consumption 284.4 268,2 173.3

Change from previous year (%) 3.3% -5.7% -35.4%

TABLE 3:

ENERGY CONSUMPTION OF UNITED BANKERS’ OFFICE BUILDINGS (2022-2024)

Energy consumption

United Bankers’ office buildings consumed approximately 173 
MWh of energy in 2024, with electricity accounting for about 110 
MWh (63.2%) and heating and cooling consuming about 64 MWh 
(36.8%). The total energy consumption decreased by approxi-
mately 35% compared to 2023. The data used in the calculations 
include information from energy companies, as well as average 

office heating consumption figures from Statistics Finland, Motiva, 
and Energiföretag.

The electricity in United Bankers’ office buildings in Helsinki and 
Tampere is produced entirely from renewable energy – hydro- 
power in Helsinki and wind power in Tampere. Additionally, the 
district cooling used in the offices is also sourced from 100% re-
newable energy.
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Climate policy goals and forest
carbon sequestration

It all starts with the sun. Forests and biomass in their various forms 
act as carbon sinks, capturing carbon dioxide from the atmos-
phere through photosynthesis. Forests and other land-use sec-
tors can serve as both carbon sinks and sources of emissions. 
Globally, deforestation, driven by factors such as agricultural ex-
pansion and urban development, is one of the largest sources of 
greenhouse gas emissions. When forests are lost, the capacity for 
carbon sequestration is also lost.

The EU has set a goal of achieving carbon neutrality by 2050, while 
Finland aims to reach carbon neutrality even earlier, by 2035. This 
will require significant emission reductions as well as effective car-
bon sinks. Forests have been assigned a central role in achieving 
these targets, as all remaining emissions after reductions must be 
compensated through carbon sinks. This has sparked intense dis-
cussions on how forests should be managed more climate-smart-
ly to meet climate obligations.

How big is the role of forests in the fight 
against climate change?

Climate policy emphasises the sustainable use of forests and the 
expansion of carbon sinks in land use. Carbon sinks can be in-
creased through various actions, such as reducing logging, ex-
tending forest rotation periods, reforestation, forest fertilisation, 
wetland restoration, and applying continuous cover forestry in 
peatlands. These measures are critical for Finland to meet the car-
bon sink targets agreed upon in the EU and avoid financial sanc-
tions. However, the impacts of these actions are not limitless. Due 
to the natural dynamics of forests and the influence of various bi-
otic and abiotic3 disturbances, the level of carbon sinks is not per-
manent, and there is uncertainty associated with its development.

FORESTS, ENERGY, AND FINLAND’S PATH TO CARBON NEUTRALITY

The carbon sequestration potential of forests is directly related 
to the age and development class structure of the forests. Young 
forests are efficient carbon sinks because their absolute biomass 
growth is at its highest during this stage. As the trees mature, the 
growth slows down, and carbon sequestration decreases rapidly 
until the forest may eventually become a source of emissions due 
to decay. Old, mature forests are important carbon reservoirs, as 
significant amounts of carbon have been stored in the biomass 
and soil over a long rotation period. However, their future potential 
as carbon sinks has largely been utilised. Due to the natural devel-
opment of forests, carbon sinks cannot be increased indefinitely. 
Eventually, regenaration of forests will result in a higher carbon 
sink in the long run than prolonging the growth of the current tree 
generation.

The carbon sink capacity of forests may also decrease as climate 
change progresses, as factors such as forest fires, increased in-
sect damage, and droughts transform forests from carbon sinks 
into sources of emissions. For example, in Germany, extensive 
storm and bark beetle damage have rapidly led to a situation 
where tree removal has significantly outpaced growth, and as a 
result, forests have turned into sources of emissions. In Canada, 
large forest fires have similarly transformed local forests into car-
bon sources. It is possible to avoid widespread impacts caused 
by climate change by considering climate risks in forest manage-
ment and implementing actions to mitigate those risks.

The carbon sinks in forests have also significantly decreased in 
Finland due to factors such as logging, slowed forest growth, 
and increased soil emissions. According to the latest greenhouse 
gas inventory results from the Natural Resources Institute Finland 
(LUKE), forests have overall turned into sources of emissions be-
tween 2021 and 2023. The forest biomass still serves as a clear 
carbon sink, as the growth of trees exceeds logging and natural 
mortality. However, soil emissions have increased due to the re-
duction in forest floor litter and the accelerated decomposition of 
organic material due to climate warming. This development pos-

3Biotic factors refer to living elements, while abiotic factors refer to non-living elements, such as climate or soil.
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Young forests are effective carbon sinks,
as their absolute biomass growth is at

its peak during this stage
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es challenges to Finland’s carbon neutrality goals. Finland is not 
alone in this situation, as negative trends in forest carbon sinks 
have been widely reported across Europe. In many countries, es-
pecially due to logging and forest damage as well as the aging of 
tree stands, carbon sinks have significantly decreased, and they 
are falling short of national targets.

Forests play an important role in mitigating climate change, but it 
is clear that this challenge cannot be solved solely through car-
bon sinks. Climate change is largely a result of carbon dioxide 
emissions from the use of fossil fuels such as oil, coal, and nat-
ural gas. Therefore, moving away from these fuels is key. In this 
regard, forests can serve as part of the solution, as wood-based 
products can replace fossil raw materials in many products – on 
average, one ton of wood results in a two-ton reduction in atmos-
pheric carbon dioxide. By using wood, particularly in long-lasting 
wood products, a significantly greater positive climate impact can 
be achieved compared to carbon sink calculations, thanks to this 
substitution effect.

What other measures are needed to
achieve Finland’s climate goals?

Emissions in Finland are several times higher than the carbon 
sink capacity of forests, so achieving carbon neutrality will require 
significant emission reductions in addition to strengthening sinks. 
Total emissions in Finland have been declining steadily since the 
early 2000s. The vast majority of emissions, more than two-thirds, 
come from energy production and consumption. Therefore, Fin-
land’s climate goals require an energy transition away from fossil 
fuels towards renewable energy sources. Achieving this goal will 
primarily focus on increasing wind and solar energy.

Wind power is one of the fastest-growing forms of renewable en-
ergy in Finland. In particular, offshore wind power holds significant 
untapped potential, as the coastal areas and the Gulf of Finland 
provide ideal conditions for large-scale projects. The government 
aims to increase wind power capacity tenfold by 2035, which 
could significantly reduce emissions from the energy sector.

Although the potential for solar energy has traditionally been con-
sidered limited in Finland due to long winters, its potential has in-

creased in recent years. During the summer months, solar energy 
production is highly efficient, and the decrease in the cost of solar 
panels has increased their popularity in residential and commer-
cial properties. By combining solar energy with other renewable 
energy sources, a balanced and sustainable energy production 
model can be created.

Bioenergy, particularly the use of forest residues and wood chips, 
has long been a key part of Finland’s energy system. It provides 
an opportunity to utilise by-products from forestry in energy pro-
duction, but its use must be carefully considered to ensure that 
forests continue to function as carbon sinks. In the future, bioen-
ergy can be complemented by the production of biochar, which 
allows for the long-term storage of carbon in the soil.

Hydropower has been the backbone of Finland’s energy system 
for decades. Most of its potential has already been harnessed, but 
modernising existing plants and reducing environmental impacts 
can further improve its efficiency. Hydropower also serves as a 
balancing energy source alongside variable renewables like wind 
and solar energy.

The potential for reducing emissions by increasing the use of re-
newable energy is significant. Electrifying transportation and in-
dustry, as well as improving energy efficiency in buildings, can 
substantially cut emissions. By increasing the share of renewable 
energy to 50-60% by 2030, Finland could reduce emissions from 
the energy sector by as much as 70-80% by 2035.

Electrifying transportation alone could reduce sector-related emis-
sions by more than half, contributing to an overall emissions re-
duction of 20-30%. If Finland meets its wind power goals and si-
multaneously improves energy efficiency, national emissions from 
the energy sector could be halved compared to current levels.

There are also other effective methods for reducing emissions. 
Carbon capture and storage (CCS) is a key technology for reduc-
ing emissions in sectors that are difficult to fully decarbonise, such 
as heavy industries like steel and cement production. Several pilot 
projects have been launched in Finland with the goal of capturing 
industrial process emissions and either utilising them as raw mate-
rials or storing them underground. Carbon capture and utilization 
(CCU), where carbon dioxide is used to produce valuable prod-

81



82

ucts (such as chemicals and fuels), could also become part of Fin-
land’s energy transition. For example, Metsä Group and ANDRITZ 
have announced plans for a carbon capture pilot at the Rauma 
pulp mill next summer. Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage 
(BECCS) offers the potential for long-term carbon sequestration. 
Additionally, direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS) could 
complement carbon sink solutions in the future.

Modernising the electricity grid and energy storage play a critical 
role in the energy transition. A flexible and smart grid is necessary 
when integrating variable renewable energy sources like wind and 
solar power. This requires investments in battery storage technol-
ogies, smart metering systems, and grid optimisation. Efficient en-
ergy storage is key to stabilising renewable energy supply, ensur-
ing that energy demand is met even when production is low (such 
as on calm or cloudy days). The export of clean energy from Fin-
land is increasingly focused on neighboring countries. Connecting 
Finland’s grid to the broader European electricity network and the 
potential development of hydrogen energy could position Finland 
as a regional exporter of clean energy.

Conclusions and considerations
for reducing emissions

Achieving carbon neutrality by 2035 requires comprehensive ac-
tions. Forests and land use play a key role, but due to their limited 
capacity, the adoption of technological solutions is essential. Cli-
mate policy must take into account both nature-based and tech-
nological solutions to ensure a balance between emission reduc-
tions and strengthening carbon sinks.

Finland’s energy transition to renewable sources, the electrifica-
tion of transportation, and the use of innovative technologies are 
essential. At the same time, it is important to ensure that biodiver-
sity is preserved and climate actions support sustainable develop-
ment. Citizens’ participation in energy-efficient solutions and the 
sustainable use of natural resources is crucial. Only in this way can 
Finland achieve carbon neutrality and serve as an international ex-
ample in combating climate change.
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Ensuring biodiversity is of utmost importance to United Bankers’ 
operations. United Bankers constantly strives to increase under-
standing of the impacts of its activities on biodiversity and to find 
ways to prevent biodiversity loss. Understanding the effects and 
risks that biodiversity loss poses to United Bankers’ business is 
central to building sustainable operations.

The key impacts of United Bankers’ operations on biodiversity arise 
through the investment products it offers. The methods for assess-
ing the impacts of investments on biodiversity and the associated 
databases are continuously evolving. At United Bankers, the de-
velopment of biodiversity-related initiatives and methods is actively 
monitored, and efforts are made to enhance operations based on 
them.

Diverse forests are an advantage for investors

The operations of United Bankers’ forest funds are significant from 
the perspective of biodiversity. Biodiversity is a prerequisite for the 
health and growth of forests, making it an important aspect for for-
est investors.

United Bankers’ forest funds invest in sustainable forestry by di-
rectly or indirectly investing in forest properties and/or securities of 
forestry companies. The funds aim to contribute to climate change 

BIODIVERSITY IS AN IMPORTANT OBJECTIVE FOR FOREST FUNDS

mitigation by capturing atmospheric carbon dioxide in growing 
trees and forest land. In 2024, United Bankers was the fourth 
largest private forest owner in Finland through its funds. The total 
forest area owned by the funds was over 140,000 hectares, with 
approximately 119,000 hectares in Finland and the rest in the Bal-
tic countries. The UB Nordic Forest Fund IV, established in 2023, 
aims to not only mitigate climate change but also promote biodi-
versity and sustainable forestry practices in the Baltic Sea region 
by increasing the area of privately certified forests in the target 
countries.

United Bankers’ forest investments primarily focus on commercial 
forests, where forestry practices directly impact forest ecosystems 
and biodiversity in various ways. Biodiversity is a key condition for 
the well-being of forests. The forest fund team at United Bankers, 
consisting of forest managers and forestry experts, continuously 
develops the management of the funds’ forests in collaboration 
with operational partners responsible for managing the forest 
properties. This development considers biodiversity, climate im-
pacts, and economic profitability. The effects and quality of the 
forest management in United Bankers’ funds are monitored not 
only by the company itself but also by independent assessors and 
authorities. Operations are continuously improved through ongo-
ing evaluations, the application of industry best practices, and re-
search collaborations with partners.
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PROTECTING BIODIVERSITY IN UNITED BANKERS’ FOREST FUNDS

Forest certification with FSC and PEFC certifications – 
third-party verified sustainable forest management practices 
in line with international best practices, including stricter con-
servation measures for biodiversity

Increasing the proportion of deciduous trees – the long-term 
goal is to double the share of deciduous trees in the forests 
owned by the funds in Finland from the current level to a total 
of 20 per cent, promoting biodiversity and climate resilience 
of forests

Voluntary protection and restoration of special nature values 
– collaboration with authorities and other parties to establish 
private protected areas in sites with significant nature values

Target-specific selection and planning of forest management 
methods – designing the most appropriate treatments and 
nature conservation actions for each site in commercial 
forests

Promoting continuous cover forestry on lush peatlands – 
positively affects biodiversity, supports peatland water bal-
ance, reduces runoff, and increases the overall carbon bal-
ance of forests in Finland
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Forest certifications are a sign of quality 
forest management

United Bankers’ forest funds aim to safeguard biodiversity in forest 
management practices in various ways. The forest management 
of the funds follows the principles of sustainable forest manage-
ment. The implementation of sustainable forest management is 
ensured through certifications, which are also beneficial for inves-
tors due to the demand and price trends of certified wood. The 
goal of United Bankers’ forest funds is to have all forest properties 
in Finland certified by both the PEFC and FSC. Outside of Finland, 
the funds require at least one of these certifications. Particularly, 
FSC certification is significant for biodiversity, as in Finland, for 
example, it mandates that at least 5 per cent of the certified forest 
area is set aside from commercial use to protect biodiversity.

In 2024, 100 per cent of the forests owned by United Bankers’ 
forest funds in Finland were PEFC certified, and 78 per cent were 
FSC certified. The certification rate of the funds’ forests is rela-
tively high, as approximately 90 per cent of all forests in Finland 
are PEFC certified, and about 10 per cent are FSC certified. For 
forests located outside Finland, 45 per cent had FSC certification, 
and 85 per cent had PEFC certification. The high certification rate 
indicates that the management of the forests is economically, so-
cially, and ecologically sustainable. The certification criteria for 
forest management take biodiversity into account, often going be-
yond national regulations.

For United Bankers’ forest funds, forest management actions are 
planned on a site-specific basis. Forest management follows the 
criteria for sustainable forestry set by regulations and certifications, 

taking into account protected and/or endangered species and 
valuable habitats to minimise the impacts of forest management. 
Observations of endangered species in the forests influence, for 
example, the choice of forest management methods and the po-
tential protection of the area.

Increasing the proportion of deciduous 
trees promotes biodiversity

In forest ecology, large-scale ecosystems are important in addi-
tion to individual species. United Bankers’ forest funds have set a 
long-term goal to double the proportion of deciduous trees in the 
forests they own in Finland, raising it from the current level to a to-
tal of 20 per cent. Increasing the proportion of deciduous trees can 
promote biodiversity. At the same time, it increases the forest’s 
timber production capacity and improves climate resilience. The 
proportion of deciduous trees in United Bankers’ forest funds has 
been steadily increasing towards the target level.

In addition to increasing the proportion of deciduous trees, United 
Bankers’ forest funds have aligned their strategy to favor contin-
uous cover forestry on lush peatlands. Continuous cover forest-
ry is a method where the forest maintains a continuous canopy 
of trees. Large-scale clear-cutting is avoided, and tree removal 
is done gradually in smaller batches. This method is particularly 
suitable for lush peatlands. Continuous cover forestry can have a 
positive impact on biodiversity. Furthermore, the water balance of 
peatlands remains in better condition, reducing runoff to the envi-
ronment, and increasing the overall carbon balance of the forests.

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024  

UB Timberland Fund (AIF) 12.3% 12.4% 12.5% 12.8% 13.7%

UB Nordic Forest Fund III LP 11.1% 11.4% 14.9% 15.6% 16.4%

TABLE 4:
DEVELOPMENT OF DECIDUOUS TREE SHARE IN FORESTS LOCATED IN FINLAND 
OWNED BY UNITED BANKERS’ FUNDS
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At least 5% of FSC-certified forests are
designated as strict protection areas

In 2024, United Bankers’ forest funds’ total protected area was 
8,328 hectares. Of this, approximately 4,590 hectares were set 
aside from economic use in accordance with the protection re-
quirements of FSC certification. The protected areas include var-
ious types of sites, protected under different regulations and cri-
teria such as the Forest Act, the old forest protection programme, 
Natura, the grove protection programme, peatland protection 
programmes, other private forest protection, or for example, due 
to various species occurrences. Depending on the protection 
criterion, the relevant authority has defined the protection criteria 
and monitors the implementation of the protection as well as the 
achievement of any conservation goals.

Sites of strict pro-
tection, ha (FSC)

Sites subject to special 
treatment, ha (FSC)

Finland 3,738 3,738

Estonia 571 0

Latvia 0 0

Lithuania 281 0

Total 4,590 3,738

TABLE 5: PROTECTED SITES IN
UNITED BANKERS’ FOREST FUNDS
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County Surface area, ha Year established Protected natural values

Kainuu 71.3 2022 Natural bogs and stream

Northern Savonia 0.1 2020 Natural bogs and stream

Northern Savonia 3.6 2020 Deciduous swamp zone, coastal forest

Central Finland 3.0 2022 Various types of swamp

Kainuu 33.0 2021 Old natural forest area, decaying wood

Kainuu 113.0 2021 Old pine forest and a natural swamp area

Central Ostrobothnia 320.7 2021 Natural forest area adjacent to the Salamajärvi 
National Park

Northern Savonia 4.7 2019 Mixed riverside forest

Northern Ostrobothnia 57 2023 Natural swamp area

Kainuu 78.2 2024 Semi-natural wetland

Päijät-Häme 4.7 2024 Old pine-dominated mixed forest

Total 697.5  

TABLE 6:
PRIVATE PROTECTED AREAS OF UNITED BANKERS’ FOREST FUNDS,
SITUATION 31.12.2024

Private protected areas are established on 
sites of particularly valuable nature conser-
vation importance

United Bankers’ forest funds are actively investing in the establish-
ment of private protected areas to safeguard biodiversity. United 
Bankers’ forestry experts, in collaboration with authorities, assess 
areas to establish private protected areas on sites of particularly 

valuable nature conservation importance. During their operations, 
the funds have established several private protected areas with-
in the framework of programs such as the METSO Conservation 
Program, the Helmi Action Program, and the Natura 2000 project. 
Through voluntary protection, the funds aim to secure ecologically 
significant sites. Whenever possible, the establishment of protect-
ed areas is prioritized on sites connected to other existing protect-
ed areas, aiming to create significant ecological habitats through 
conservation efforts.
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In United Bankers’ forest funds, the protected areas include var-
ious types of nature conservation-significant old forests and rare 
and endangered species. During 2024, United Bankers’ forest 
fund was in the process of establishing a private protected area 
consisting of an old mixed forest, which contains old deciduous 
trees, such as aspen. Aspen is particularly important for forest bi-
odiversity as it provides a habitat for many rare and endangered 
species. Another of the new protected areas established by the 
United Bankers’ forest fund during the year was a natural wetland 
in Kainuu, Finland. In 2024, United Bankers’ forest funds had a to-
tal of 697.5 hectares of private protected areas. ELY Centers (The 
Centres for Economic Development) are involved in the establish-
ment and supervision of private protected areas.

Contributing to the biodiversity of wetlands 
and small waters through restoration projects

Forest ecosystem restoration refers to actions aimed at returning 
forest ecosystems to a more natural state. Through restoration, 

County Surface area, ha Year established Project description

Southern Savonia 17.5 2024 Restoration of groundwater-impacted drained 
marshes

Northern Ostrobothnia 8 2024 Restoration of a former peat production area

Kainuu 15 2024 Restoring the marsh

Southern Savonia 0.45 2023 Water protection project with wetland and 
erosion control completed in 2024

TABLE 7: THE RESTORATION PROJECTS OF UNITED BANKERS’ FOREST FUNDS, 
SITUATION 31.12.2024

efforts are made to promote the biodiversity of wetlands, small 
water bodies, and their surrounding environments. For instance, 
by filling ditches or damming them in drained wetlands, the nat-
ural processes of the area can be restored. Restoration projects 
targeting small water bodies, such as streams or springs, can help 
return these water bodies closer to their natural condition.

In discussions about restoration, balancing forest use and resto-
ration efforts is often emphasised. Both national and EU environ-
mental goals have highlighted the importance of restoration as part 
of combating climate change and promoting biodiversity. Resto-
ration actions can also be implemented in production forests. In 
2024, United Bankers’ forest funds were in the process of initiat-
ing three new restoration projects focused on restoring wetlands 
and small water bodies in forests. In 2024, restoration measures 
for a water protection project, launched in 2023, were completed 
with the establishment of a wetland and an erosion-protected dis-
charge threshold in a flooded agricultural area.
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METSO and Helmi are voluntary forest protection and restora-

tion programmes for Finnish forest owners. Voluntary conserva-

tion safeguards forest habitats that are representative in terms of 

tree structure and species diversity. Through these programmes, 

the natural values of forests are protected and managed to en-

sure the conservation of biodiversity. The aim of the programme, 

which combines forest conservation and economic use, is to halt 

the decline of forest habitats and forest species and to establish a 

favourable trend in biodiversity.
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United Bankers is the Most Responsible 
Workplace of the year

Achievements 2024
•	 United Bankers received the Finland’s Most Inspiring Workplaces recognition for the third consecutive year, and the PeoplePower
	 index measuring employee engagement continued to improve positively.  

•	 Based on the results of the responsibility section in employee surveys, United Bankers was awarded as the Most Responsible
	 Workplace in Finland.  

•	 A new competence development model was created for United Bankers.  

•	 The positive trend in job satisfaction continued.  

•	 United Bankers invested in leadership by offering a comprehensive training program to strengthen managers’ leadership skills.
	 As part of the training, managers established shared principles for good leadership.
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The values of United Bankers – customer orientation, agility, and 
team spirit – are strongly reflected in the daily work of its employ-
ees. At United Bankers, everyone plays a crucial role as part of the 
team in achieving shared goals. A positive employee experience 
is a key factor in building excellent customer experiences and driv-
ing the company’s success. At its best, employee experience pro-
vides a unique competitive advantage.

In 2024, United Bankers focused particularly on continuous skills 
development, maintaining employee well-being and engagement, 
and strengthening leadership capabilities. The number of training 
hours increased compared to the previous year, and a compe-
tence development model and salary increase process were intro-
duced. Additionally, employees were encouraged to conduct and 
document development discussions. According to data recorded 
in United Bankers’ HR system, 84 per cent of employees had at 
least one development discussion in 2024.

The importance of leadership was emphasised throughout 2024, 
with managers receiving training on recruitment practices as well 
as a broader leadership development program. As part of this 
program, managers defined United Bankers’ shared leadership 
principles and committed to good leadership based on them. The 
goals set for leadership development were achieved, and the final 
evaluation of the training indicated that participants experienced 
improvement in all assessed areas of leadership.

During the year, efforts were also made to enhance the employer 
brand, which was reflected in an increase in the number of job 
applicants in 2024. The emphasis on responsible leadership were 
reflected in the positive development of the responsibility sec-
tion in employee surveys. Additionally, establishment of a frame-
work and guidelines for equal pay was advanced, and work will 
continue during 2025.

EXCELLENCE

customer 
orientation

agility team spirit

UNITED BANKERS’ VALUES
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United Bankers was awarded as the Most 
Responsible Workplace in Finland

As part of measuring the employee experience, United Bankers 
conducts a comprehensive employee survey annually. As in the 
previous year, the results of United Bankers’ employee survey in 
2024 were at good level, and even improved slightly compared to 
2023. The PeoplePower® index (AA, good) by research company 
Eezy increased by 1.5 points from the previous year and clearly 
exceeded the average level of Finnish expert organisations as well 
as the financial and insurance sector. Overall, United Bankers was 
considered a good workplace, with as many as 97 per cent of 
respondents agreeing or somewhat agreeing with this statement. 
As proof of its success, the company also received the Finland’s 
Most Inspiring Workplaces 2024 recognition based on the employ-
ee survey results. Finland’s Most Inspiring Workplaces is an an-
nual recognition by Eezy for organisations that have achieved ex-
ceptionally strong results in the PeoplePower® employee survey.

The survey highlighted the company’s recent development di-
rection and trust in top management’s ability to make the right 
decisions as the most positively received aspects. Areas for im-
provement were identified in professional development as well as 

the adequacy of work tools and systems. Among the indices, the 
commitment and responsibility indices stood out as particularly 
strong and clearly above the benchmark data. The sense of mean-
ingful work had also improved compared to the previous year. At 
United Bankers, the company’s values and goals are perceived as 
worth striving for and are viewed more positively than the Finnish 
expert organisations’ average.

United Bankers’ employees describe their workplace with words 
such as flexible, reliable, innovative, and fair. The majority of re-
spondents feel they are an important part of the work community 
and want to continue working at the company.

The results of the sustainability section in the employee survey 
showed excellent progress. In particular, adherence to sustainabil-
ity principles in the daily operations of different organisational units 
and encouragement toward responsible actions had developed 
positively. As proof of this, United Bankers was rewarded as Fin-
land’s Most Responsible Workplace in 2024.

United Bankers applies a hybrid work model, allowing employees 
to work flexibly both remotely and on-site at the office. According 
to the employee survey, hybrid work is seen as a strong contribu-
tor to both individual and organisational productivity.
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FLEXIBLE
 

RELIABLE
 

INNOVATIVE
 

FAIR
 

ENTREPRENEURIAL

INSPIRING

UNITED BANKERS WAS DESCRIBED WITH THESE WORDS AS AN EMPLOYER
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Good employee experience strengthens 
employer image

Strengthening team spirit through various events is important, 
but equally essential is daily interaction in the workplace. United 
Bankers aims to foster a sense of community and a good em-
ployee experience by organising, among other things, semi-an-
nual kick-off events and various social gatherings throughout the 
year, such as work parties and breakfasts. Employees have also 
had the opportunity to contribute to the development of United 

THE LEADERSHIP PRINCIPLES AT UNITED BANKERS ARE SUMMED UP IN THE WORD CONNECT AND ARE AS FOLLOWS:

C = Collaboration | I treat all my colleagues with respect. I communicate openly and constructively.  
O = Openness | I engage with my team members as individuals and build on their strengths. I support my team’s growth and development.  
N = Neutrality | I am honest, consistent, and fair. I am willing to address challenges and issues directly.  
N = Negotiating | I am authentic and approachable. I adhere to shared guidelines and principles.  
E = Engagement | I act in the best interest of United Bankers. I foster a positive team spirit within my team and throughout the organisation.  
C = Commitment | I am dedicated to my leadership role. I give and receive feedback openly.  
T = Team spirit | I enable my team to achieve its goals.

Bankers’ operations through joint brainstorming and discussion 
sessions.

A great experience is easy to share – both for the organisation 
and its employees. In 2024, United Bankers actively worked on 
enhancing both employee experience and employer branding. In-
formative and engaging career pages have significantly improved 
the candidate experience and provided new opportunities to com-
municate about United Bankers as an employer. The company 
also participates in student events and hosts visits for student 
groups – potential future UB employees.

 

A key part of employee well-being is effective leadership. Consistent and 
high-quality management not only enhances performance and employee 
experience but also fosters a sense of appreciation and fair treatment. As 
part of strengthening the employee experience, United Bankers organised a 
leadership training program in 2024 with the following objectives:

•	 Further improving leadership quality to create a better leadership
	 experience
•	 Strengthening self-awareness and interpersonal understanding
	 among leaders
•	 Providing concrete tools to support leaders in handling various
	 leadership situations in daily work
•	 Establishing a foundation for shared leadership principles, creating a 	
	 unified understanding of what good leadership means at United Bankers

The leadership training program was conducted in collaboration with an ex-
ternal partner, Lifted. Throughout the extensive, year-long program, manag-
ers gained new insights into their leadership styles and how to lead diverse 
individuals effectively. Practical tools for handling everyday leadership and 
communication situations were practiced through hands-on exercises and 
discussions. The highly committed and actively engaged participants found 
the program extremely valuable. The success of the training is also reflect-
ed in the final assessment, where participants reported improvement in 
every aspect of leadership evaluation. For example, clarity regarding lead-
ership expectations and goals increased by 22 per cent during the program.

As part of the training program, managers collaboratively defined the key 
principles of leadership at United Bankers. These principles will serve as 
the foundation for leadership practices within the company, ensuring that 
every manager upholds a fair and motivating leadership experience for all 
employees.

THE UNITED BANKERS LEADERSHIP PRINCIPLES WERE ESTABLISHED
AS A RESULT OF THE LEADERSHIP TRAINING PROGRAM



95

Well-being supports resilience and fosters a 
positive environment

United Bankers takes care of employee well-being. All employ-
ees are covered by occupational health and safety services, with 
employer obligations integrated into the company’s HR practices. 
The organisation considers key risks associated with office work 
and expert roles, focusing on areas such as managing psycho-
social stress factors, workplace atmosphere, and leadership. The 
company’s occupational safety measures cover all offices and or-
ganisational levels.

United Bankers provides comprehensive occupational health 
services to support employee well-being. In addition to statuto-
ry healthcare, all employees, including those on fixed-term con-
tracts, are covered by a supplementary medical expense insur-
ance, which includes specialist doctor visits, occupational health 
psychologist services, medical examinations, and personal vac-
cinations. Well-being and work-life balance are further supported 
through sports and cultural benefits, as well as various wellness 
and sports-related events.

United Bankers utilises an early support model aimed at assisting 
employees and preventing prolonged sick leaves. In 2024, em-
ployee sick leave rates remained very low, although there was a 
slight increase compared to the previous year. Absences due to 
musculoskeletal and connective tissue disorders decreased sig-
nificantly, while mental health-related absences increased over the 
year. Key workload factors identified include psychosocial stress-
ors as well as static strain on the neck, shoulders, and lower back. 
Office workstations are equipped with electrically adjustable desks 
and chairs, and most employees use multiple screens.

Employees have the opportunity to bring up occupational safe-
ty concerns for discussion by the occupational safety committee, 
with the option for confidential handling. The committee regularly 
reports on its activities to employees. Occupational safety guide-
lines and policies are openly accessible to all employees via the 
company intranet.

United Bankers’ corporate culture is built on close collaboration 
with its employees. The HR department supports managers and 
executives in all personnel-related matters. Employees have elect-
ed a personnel representative who represents them in employ-
ment-related negotiations.

In addition to promoting good health, United Bankers supports 
employee well-being by providing opportunities to balance work 
and personal life. Remote work, flexible working hours, and the 
option for a shortened workweek help employees manage their 
professional and personal commitments. United Bankers also 
supports employees with families by offering access to childcare 
services for sick children.

For more information on developments in employee well-being, 
see the separate United Bankers Corporate Responsibility Report 
2024.

Number of personnel remained stable

At the end of 2024, the United Bankers Group employed 172 peo-
ple (number of employees), which corresponds to 161 full-time 
equivalents (FTE). Of the total number of employees, 158 were 
permanent and 14 were temporary employees. In addition to em-
ployees, customer relations at United Bankers are also handled 
by tied agents. As of 31 December 2024, there were 25 of them.

During the year, a total of 25 new employees joined United Bank-
ers at its Finnish offices. Among them, 17 were men and 8 were 
women. Regarding age distribution, 16 were under 30 years old, 5 
were between 30–50 years old, and 4 were over 50 years old. Out 
of the new hires, 13 were employed on a permanent basis and 12 
on a fixed-term contract. During the year, 22 employees left the 
company, including 10 permanent and 12 fixed-term employees. 
United Bankers is known for long employee tenure, and overall 
personnel turnover remains relatively low. In 2024, the employee 
turnover rate in Finland was 12 per cent.

United Bankers strives to support the work-life balance of its em-
ployees in various ways. In 2024, seven employees (four women 
and three men) were eligible for parental leave, and all of them 
took advantage of it.
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United Bankers complies with labor legislation. The company 
is not a unionised employer and does not have collective labor 
agreements in place. However, it partially follows the financial sec-
tor’s collective labor agreement where applicable. All employees 
sign a written employment contract, and those in management 
positions sign an executive agreement. Regarding notice periods, 
the company adheres to labor law regulations. Typically, the mu-
tual notice period is one month, or in some cases, two months. 
If an employee resigns, the length of employment affects the no-
tice period, which is 14 days for employees with 0-5 years’ service 
and 1 month for employees with more than 5 years’ service. The 
company also follows labor legislation in matters such as potential 
change negotiations.

Training and skills development will conti-
nue to be encouraged

United Bankers continuously invests in the professional skills and 
development of its employees, supporting the organisation’s com-
mitment to responsible business practices. Employee expertise is 
maintained and enhanced through ongoing training, which pro-
vides opportunities to deepen, expand, and update knowledge. 
In addition to regulatory training, United Bankers offers other pro-
grams aimed at updating and complementing employees’ skills. In 
2024, United Bankers employees spent an average of 11 hours on 
training throughout the year (women 14.7 hours, men 9.1 hours).

Total Women Men

Number of employees 172 59 113

Permanent employees 158 55 103

Fixed-term employees 14 4 10

Full-time employees 157 53 104

Part-time employees 15 6 9

TABLE 8:
DISTRIBUTION BY TOTAL NUMBER OF PERSONNEL
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FIGURE 7:

DISTRIBUTION OF PERSONNEL EDUCATION

Vocational qualification 4%

Specialist vocational qualification 1%

College degree 7% 

Master’s degree from a University 
of Applied Sciences 1% 

University degree (University of 
Applied Sciences) 18%

Master’s degree (University)
 58%

Highest level of ter tiary
education 2%

Bachelor’s degree (University) 4%High school matriculation examination 4%

Basic vocational qualification 2%

FIGURE 8:

EMPLOYMENT IN YEARS

Less than 1 year
10%

More than 15 years
14%

1–2 years
8%

2–5 years
27%

5–10 years
31%

10–15 years
11%
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The development discussion process ensures regular conver-
sations about each employee’s skill development, motivational 
factors, and job satisfaction. All United Bankers’ employees par-
ticipate in development discussions, except those on long-term 
leave, such as study leave or parental leave. According to United 
Bankers’ personnel system, 84 per cent of employees (women 
89.7%, men 79.2%) had a development discussion in 2024. This 
figure is based on employees’ self-reported data.

Equality and non-discrimination are
key objectives at United Bankers

United Bankers is committed to promoting equality, diversity, and 
inclusivity while preventing all forms of discrimination. The com-
pany aims to ensure fair compensation and equal opportunities 
for career development and professional growth. United Bankers’ 
equality and non-discrimination plan covers the entire Finnish 
business operations and has been integrated into the company’s 
occupational safety program. The primary goal of this plan is to 
support the creation of a thriving and inclusive workplace com-
munity.

In 2022, United Bankers’ Board of Directors established diversity 
targets for the Group, which remained in effect until 2024. At the 
end of 2024, the targets set by the company were met.

The recruitment of new employees plays a significant role in 
achieving diversity goals. United Bankers welcomes all applicants 
equally and selects talented individuals of different ages, skill sets, 
educational and cultural backgrounds, regardless of gender. If the 
applicant situation allows, both genders should be represented in 
the final stage of the selection process. The most suitable person 
for the job will always be selected.

The objective remains to maintain and promote workplace diver-
sity, gender equality, and fairness. United Bankers’ new diversity 
targets will be in effect from 2025 onward.

United Bankers aims to ensure that none of its employees experi-
ence harassment or other inappropriate treatment. The company 
has a policy for dealing with inappropriate treatment and harass-
ment under which every incident that comes to its attention is ad-
dressed. Harassment or inappropriate treatment can be reported 
through the company’s whistleblowing channel. No incidents of 
discrimination were brought to the attention of the employer during 
2024 and therefore no action was taken. In the 2024 employee sur-
vey, two respondents reported having experienced discrimination, 
but no incidents were brought to the attention of the employer.

UNITED BANKERS’ DIVERSITY TARGETS 2022–2024: 

•	 Both genders are represented in at least 1/3 of all specialists in the company.

•	 Both genders represented in at least 1/3 of all supervisors.

•	 The composition of the Board of Directors and the management team always includes a sufficient representation of both genders.

•	 The objective is to increase the number of minority gender representatives on the Board by making recommendations to the largest
	 shareholders, who will prepare a proposal for the composition of the Board of Directors to the Annual General Meeting.
	 The composition of the Board of Directors should be in line with United Bankers’ business and strategic needs and its
	 members should have appropriate professional skills, education, experience, and knowledge of the industry.
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Women Men Age distribution

Board of Directors 28.6% (2 people) 71.4.% (5 people) Under 30 years 0% • 30–50 years 14.3% (1 person) • Over 50 years  85.7% (6 people)  

Management team 16.7% (1 person) 83.3% (5 people) Under 30 years 0% • 30–50 years 50% (3 people) • Over 50 years  50% (3 people)

Employees 35.2% (57 people) 64.8% (109 people) Under 30 years 14.5% (25 people) • 30–50 years 45.9% (79 people) •
Over 50 years  36.0% (62 people)

TABLE 9:
GENDER AND AGE GROUP DISTRIBUTION
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Interaction with stakeholders
supports development work

Reliable governance and open, interactive communication are key 
components of United Bankers’ operations. United Bankers’ activ-
ities are always based on good corporate governance, applicable 
legislation, and regulatory guidelines. The core of the business lies 
in a high level of expertise and responsible business practices.

United Bankers aims to communicate openly, transparently, and 
equitably with all its stakeholders. The objective is to maintain a 
positive corporate image and provide an accurate and up-to-date 
representation of the Group’s operations, goals, strategy, and fi-
nancial position.

Stakeholder surveys play an important
role in the development of operations

United Bankers’ key stakeholders are clients, employees, share-
holders, investors, public authorities, organisations and expert 
bodies, investees, business partners and the media. Key stake-
holders are defined as those whose views influence United 
Bankers’ activities or who have a particular interest in the com-
pany and those who are particularly affected by United Bankers’ 
activities.

Feedback from stakeholders on the company’s operations is im-
portant to United Bankers for both business development and 
governance purposes. United Bankers’ private bankers, portfo-
lio managers, ESG team, and Group communications actively 
engage with stakeholders, aiming to address questions related 
to sustainability and provide guidance on responsible investing 
and company operations. Feedback related to sustainability from 
stakeholder interactions is directed to the ESG team or the Sus-
tainability Steering Group to ensure that operations can be im-
proved based on the received input.

An open and active dialogue with stakeholders provides a basis 
for understanding their views and needs, and helps United 
Bankers to identify which areas of its operations should be 
developed and how. It is also important to communicate with 
stakeholders concerning the company’s goals, principles of 
operation and values, and changes in the business environment 
to build mutual understanding and trust. United Bankers’ ongoing 
and meaningful dialogue with stakeholders is described in more 
detail in Table 10.

Achievements 2024
•	 The responsibility of investment targets was communicated for the first time through a report on the implementation
	 of Ownership Policy.

•	 In addition to this Sustainability Report published as part of the Annual Report, United Bankers will release a separate
	 Corporate Responsibility Report for 2024. The structure of the report takes into account the EU Sustainability Reporting Standard
	 (ESRS) guidelines, which it informally follows as a reference framework.

•	 Customer satisfaction remained at a very high level, with results improving compared to the previous year among both
	 private and institutional clients.

•	 According to the Reputation&Trust survey, United Bankers’ reputation was at a moderate level.
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Stakeholder group and expectations Channel Activities in 2024 

Clients 
•	 Competitive and sustainable products and 
	 services 
•	 Taking account of individual objectives and 
	 personalised service 
•	 High level of expertise in services 
•	 Trustworthiness and data protection 
•	 Service channels and access to information 
	 needed 
•	 Responsible behaviour

•	 Customer feedback 
•	 Website and social media channels 
•	 Customer meetings, events and webinars 
•	 Emails, newsletters and calls 

•	 Information on funds and asset management 
	 strategies in accordance with the Sustainable 
	 Finance Disclosure Regulation 
•	 Developing internal processes to improve 
	 efficiency and customer service
•	 Commissioning SFR surveys of institutional 
	 investors 
•	 Conducting customer satisfaction survey for 
	 private clients 
•	 Organising webinars and customer events 
•	 Providing the whistleblowing channel to 
	 stakeholders

Employees 
•	 Fair treatment and open communication 
•	 Job stability and competitive salary 
•	 Opportunities for professional development 
•	 Health and well-being at work

•	 Intranet and HR system 
•	 Occupational health care
•	 Development discussions and training sessions 
•	 Personnel survey and other internal surveys 
•	 Personnel meetings 
•	 Personnel magazine UB:lainen 

•	 Developing employees’ skills 
•	 Increasing training of managers and developing 
	 interaction 
•	 Conducting employee surveys 
•	 Using employee surveys to develop operations 
•	 Improving the recruitment process
•	 Training supervisors and strengthening leadership 
	 capabilities

Shareholders and investors 
•	 Creating long-term value 
•	 Performance development 
•	 Favourable share price performance and good 
	 dividend yield 
•	 Solvency 
•	 Responsible behaviour

•	 Financial statements bulletins, half-year financial 
	 reports, annual report 
•	 Corporate governance statement 
•	 Remuneration policy and report 
•	 Stock exchange and press releases 
•	 Annual General Meeting, investor and portfolio 
	 manager meetings 
•	 Website

•	 Long-term business development to achieve 
	 stable profit performance 
•	 Attending several investor events 
•	 Taking economic, social and environmental 
	 responsibility into account in operations 
•	 Continuing implementation of the growth strategy 
•	 Participating in the Reputation&Trust survey 

Authorities 
•	 Compliance with regulations 
•	 Integrating sustainable finance regulation into 
	 business 
•	 Open, transparent, and reliable reporting 
•	 Continuous dialogue

•	 Communication by telephone and electronically 
•	 Participation in events and trainings
•	 Meetings with the authorities

•	 Developing business operations to meet changes 
	 in the operating environment, taking into account 
	 legislation and regulation 
•	 Open communication and continuous dialogue

NGOs and expert organisations  
•	 Cooperation on sustainability issues 
•	 Responsible behaviour
•	 Continuous dialogue and exchange of information

•	 Website
•	 Communication by telephone and electronically 
•	 Participation in events and trainings
 

•	 Participating in the activities of industry 
	 associations such as Finsif, the Finnish Venture 
	 Capital Association, Finance Finland

TABLE 10: 
CHANNELS AND ACTIVITIES USED IN UNITED BANKERS’ STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE IN 2024
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During 2024, United Bankers continued to promote interaction with 
its stakeholders. Client satisfaction and asset management ser-
vice experience were studied through a survey by Scandinavian 
Financial Research Ltd. for institutional clients and with a custom-
er satisfaction survey for retail and corporate clients. Continuous 
customer experience feedback was also collected for example on 
customer on-boarding and events.

Personnel job satisfaction and well-being were again surveyed in 
an annual personnel survey carried out with an external partner. 
The results of the survey are reported in more detail in the section 
United Bankers is the Most Responsible Workplace of the year.

United Bankers also assessed its reputation and investor trust 
by participating in the Reputation&Trust survey, developed by re-
search company T-Media. The annual survey, conducted for pub-
licly listed companies, examines organisations’ reputations and 

the level of trust they receive from stakeholders across eight key 
dimensions of reputation. United Bankers regularly takes part in 
this extensive research to gain insights into investor perceptions, 
set and advance reputation-building goals, and strengthen its 
reputation as a competitive advantage.

According to the 2024 results, United Bankers’ reputation was 
at a moderate level. The reputation score declined from 3.58 in 
the previous year to 3.39. The company’s reputation was signifi-
cantly stronger among those who owned United Bankers’ shares 
(3.83) compared to those who did not (3.35). One of the key take-
aways from the survey was that the company should continue to 
enhance its communication efforts and work on increasing its 
recognition among stakeholders. The strongest dimensions of  
United Bankers’ reputation remained leadership and financial per-
formance, both of which received good ratings.

https://reputationandtrust.com/
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A GOOD CLIENT RELATIONSHIP IS BUILT ON SOLID TRUST

Customer orientation, trust and personal service are core val-
ues at United Bankers in building long-term customer relation-
ships. In a nutshell, this means that the needs and wishes of 
the customer are put first in all the company’s activities. This 
approach requires a profound understanding of clients’ finan-
cial situation, risk profile, familiarity with investing and long-
term goals. As an asset manager, United Bankers’ mission is 
to provide tailored solutions that meet the individual needs of 
each and every client.

According to the annual satisfaction survey, United Bankers’ 
retail clients feel that the values mentioned above are also re-
flected in the actual client experience. Things are handled as 
agreed and the service is professional and reliable. The per-
sonalisation of the service and the investment solutions tai-
lored to the individual needs of the client are also praised. The 
following client stories describe actual experiences behind the 
survey results. 

A good asset management partner looks
in the same direction as the client

A customer-oriented asset manager is an advisor and partner to 
the client, not just a service provider. Joonas Kairajärvi, head of 
United Bankers’ private banking team, says that this requires ac-
tive listening, constant interaction and regular monitoring of the 
client’s investments. “When you listen carefully to your clients, it 
is easy to find the right solutions for them. It is also important to 
be yourself when you interact with clients. My goal when I talk to a 
client is always to make sure that we understand things the same 
way, and that the discussion and the decisions that are made 
leave the client feeling positive,” Joonas Kairajärvi says.

One of Joonas’ satisfied clients is the parish of Lohja. Tarja Vir-
tanen, Administrative Director of the parish, says that the parish 
has been a client of United Bankers since December 2016. At the 
beginning of the client relationship, she had just started her direc-
tor role, which includes responsibility for the finances and invest-
ments of the parish. 

Today, demographic changes are having an impact on parish fi-
nances. “Building buffers for the future is more and more important 
in the management of parish funds today. The declining number 
of people in younger age groups means we need to prepare for a 
shrinking congregation. For us, investing is about seeking returns, 
while maintaining stability,” says Tarja Virtanen. 

According to her, the parish’s investment guidelines are clear and 
simple: “Our goal in investing is to beat inflation, and to have a 
reasonable level of risk. With this objective in mind, it is obvious 
that we cannot deposit our funds in bank accounts alone. We also 
need to strive for returns. When I started at the parish, funds had 
accumulated in its accounts, and I set out to find suitable invest-
ments for these funds. Our cooperation with United Bankers start-
ed with a single investment product. Joonas Kairajärvi has man-
aged our client relationship from the beginning.” 

Over the years, the cooperation has expanded, and United 
Bankers is now also one of the parish of Lohja’s asset manag-
ers. “I have divided the investment activities into two very separate 
segments, asset management and individual investments. The 
parish selected its asset management partners through a com-
petitive tender process. What matters most is trust and smooth 
cooperation, which we build with asset managers over a very long 
period of time. We obviously want to keep hold of a good partner-
ship. When selecting individual investments, on the other hand, 
the emphasis is on good diversification and clear product char-
acteristics. Sustainability is also extremely important to us as an 
investor. From an environmental responsibility perspective, United 
Bankers’ forest fund, for example, is a very well-suited investment 
for us,” Tarja Virtanen says.

Tarja Virtanen emphasises the fact that investors must understand 
and accept the laws of investing. “Cyclical fluctuations are part 
of the economy and markets do change. It is natural that not all 
investments will always perform as expected. United Bankers has, 
however, also been very successful in this respect. It is essential 
that investments are always carefully reviewed. I always get clear 
answers from our contact person to any questions I may have.” 
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When you listen carefully to your clients,
it is easy to find the right solutions for them”
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Virtanen also points out that the parish is by nature a very long-
term investor: “The church is an institution that is many centuries 
old and its quarters last 25 years. This brings perspective to the 
approach.”

Trust and flexibility are at the
core of good service

A good asset management partner puts the needs and wishes 
of its clients first and provides tailored solutions that meet each 
clients’ particular needs. Tarja Virtanen says that customer ori-
entation and trust are also central in their cooperation: “United 
Bankers is a good-sized partner for us, because they can provide 
much better opportunities for customisation than bigger banks. 
You could say that we enjoy the benefits of a large investor, even 
though we are a medium-sized one.” She also highlights United 
Bankers’ flexibility and very prompt service. “The most important 
qualities of our contact person Joonas Kairajärvi are his solu-
tion-oriented approach and reliability. My own role mainly involves 
other areas of responsibility, so my time for investment matters is 
limited. Joonas tries to put himself in the client’s shoes, and I can 
be sure that he will always try to find the best solutions for us. Trust 
makes cooperation pleasant and effortless,” Tarja Virtanen says.

Personnel commitment helps build
long-term client relationships

United Bankers’ key strength is its highly experienced and knowl-
edgeable personnel. The high level of commitment is reflected by 
the fact that around 75 per cent of employees and tied agents are 
also shareholders in the company. 

An entrepreneurial mindset is an important value for Antti Palviai- 
nen. His company Tilaneuvos Oy became a client of United 
Bankers in 2018 on the recommendation of a friend. Born into a 
family of small farmers, Antti Palviainen says that life has taught 
him to value work and entrepreneurship. Having been involved in 
running a business for so many years, he feels that the employee 
ownership at United Bankers is an important factor: “Ownership 
sends a message of commitment and that is something I value as 

a client. It also influenced my choice of asset management com-
pany.” Antti Palviainen says that, all in all, his impression of United 
Bankers’ values has made a positive impression on him over the 
years. He also likes the company’s clear way of communicating.

Joonas Kairajärvi is also responsible for the Tilaneuvos account. 
Antti Palviainen describes his relationship with his UB contact as 
close and confidential. He praises Joonas Kairajärvi’s service-ori-
ented approach: “Joonas is very good at being on the same wave-
length as the client. He handles things competently but also in his 
own relaxed style. I particularly enjoy the fact that I can always ask 
questions and then get answers in simple language. Joonas also 
regularly offers me the opportunity to speak directly with portfolio 
managers. This gives me the feeling that as a client I am impor-
tant.” 

Joonas Kairajärvi also considers the personal nature of the ser-
vice to be an important value: “I always tell clients that I am there 
when they need me. I am very happy to meet clients face to face. 
For example, I visit Antti in North Karelia a couple of times a year. 
Otherwise, our communication takes place smoothly by phone.”

Antti Palviainen says that he is currently active in several sectors of 
business with a particular interest in real estate investment and for-
estry. He has also accumulated investable assets through the sale 
of his business. In his current stage of life, Antti Palviainen says he 
is looking for stability in his investments rather than a high return. 
The assets he has invested are intended to secure his retirement 
in due course. “For me, the amount of money I have acquired is 
not important as such, what matters more is quality of life and the 
meaningfulness of the work I do. I want my asset management 
company to be a partner that understands what is important for 
me and my goals as a client. This is the prerequisite for successful 
cooperation,” says Antti Palviainen.

Antti Palviainen says that he also has a long-term approach. He 
says that he is so satisfied with his current situation with United 
Bankers that it would take a lot for him to consider changing his 
asset management partner. His own positive client experience has 
led him to recommend United Bankers to friends and acquaint-
ances. “It takes a lot for me to make recommendations. You put 
your own prestige at stake,” he points out. 
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United Bankers aims to create first-class customer experiences. 
Therefore, the company continuously seeks to develop its oper-
ations and services based on client feedback. Comprehensive 
customer satisfaction surveys are conducted annually for both 
private and institutional clients. The purpose of these surveys 
is to assess the current state of client satisfaction and identify 
strengths and key areas for improvement.

According to previous surveys, United Bankers has successful-
ly met client expectations. The 2024 results indicate that client 
satisfaction has further improved, with scores rising in nearly all 
areas. This demonstrates that the actions taken based on sur-
vey feedback have brought positive results.

The survey results for private clients show that United Bankers’ 
clients are highly satisfied with the service they receive. In the 
2024 survey, key areas such as reliability, expertise, and the abil-
ity to handle matters as agreed received even higher ratings 
than before. Additionally, clients expressed high satisfaction 
with tailored solutions that met their needs, and investment re-
turns aligned well with their expectations.

The Net Promoter Score (NPS)4, which measures clients’ will-
ingness to recommend United Bankers, reached an excellent 

4The NPS score can range from -100 to +100. It is calculated by subtracting the percentage of detractors from the percentage of promoters. A positive NPS 
score is considered good, while a score above 50 is considered excellent.

level of 41 (compared to 32 in 2023), marking the highest result 
in United Bankers’ survey history. The main reasons given for 
the recommendation were reliability and expertise, client-orient-
ed service, and the quality of investment products.

For the first time, the 2024 client satisfaction survey also meas-
ured the Customer Effort Score (CES), which assesses the ease 
of doing business. Clients were asked to evaluate their expe-
riences separately in personal service interactions with United 
Bankers representatives and in the online service OmaUB. The 
results indicate that clients find both channels highly effortless 
to use. Smooth communication and expertise enhance the per-
ception of personalised service, while the OmaUB platform was 
praised for its user-friendliness and the possibility of effortless 
service.

Client satisfaction also improved further in institutional asset 
management. In the annual survey conducted by SFR Research 
for institutional clients, United Bankers ranked second in the 
category of smaller service providers and won the SFR Gold 
Award in the Challenger category. In the survey, Finnish insti-
tutional investors evaluate their asset managers based on nine 
different criteria. United Bankers outperformed its peer group in 
both customer service quality and short- and long-term invest-
ment returns.

CUSTOMER ORIENTATION IS A CORE VALUE FOR UNITED BANKERS
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Open and consistent communication
builds trust 

United Bankers’ responsible way of operating is guided by its core 
values: customer orientation, agility, and team spirit. These values 
are reflected in everyday work and in the company’s approach 
to communication with its stakeholders. United Bankers aims to 
build and maintain strong stakeholder relationships through open, 
constructive, and positive communication and interaction.

As a listed company, United Bankers prioritises providing inves-
tors and the market with timely and relevant information. Accurate 
and well-timed communication enhances the trust and interest of 
both existing and potential investors. A key objective of disclosure 

obligations for listed companies is to ensure equal, fair, consistent, 
and simultaneous access to information for all investors. During 
the year, the number of United Bankers’ shareholders increased 
by approximately 10 per cent to around two thousand. United 
Bankers’ stock is the only one on the Helsinki Stock Exchange that 
has delivered positive total returns to its shareholders for seven 
consecutive years.

In client relationships, United Bankers strives to build long-term 
and trusted partnerships. The goal is to create wealth and support 
customers in achieving success and realising their aspirations. 
High client satisfaction is built on the strong expertise of the com-
pany’s employees, as well as high-quality products and services.
Marketing and client relationship management are based on a 
customer-centric, honest, and long-term approach, ensuring 
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equal and fair treatment of all clients. Only well-founded solutions 
tailored to the customer’s situation and objectives are offered. 
This requires a deep understanding of each client’s background, 
goals, and needs. To earn and maintain customer trust, informa-
tion about products and services is communicated clearly, with 
a balanced presentation of both risks and opportunities. Finnish 
legislation sets clear guidelines on the form and scope of the in-
formation provided. In addition, United Bankers is committed to 
responsible communication and marketing by being transparent, 
knowledgeable, and easy to understand. In 2024, no breaches of 
marketing and communication regulations were identified within 
the company, nor were any concerns raised by stakeholders or 
external parties regarding United Bankers’ marketing practices.

Data protection and security are
essential for reliable operations

Investing in data protection and security is a fundamental require-
ment for reliable and customer-oriented business operations, the 
development of high-quality services, and a positive client expe-
rience. Confidential handling of personal data is a core aspect of 
United Bankers’ business. The company processes a large vol-
ume of personal data daily, used for purposes such as client re-
lationship management, marketing, stakeholder communications, 
risk management, and personnel-related matters. All personal 
data processing complies with the EU General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR), national data protection laws, and financial 
sector-specific regulations.

United Bankers ensures information and cybersecurity through 
both administrative and technical measures. Security is developed 
systematically in line with a cybersecurity strategy approved by 
the company’s management, taking into account the constantly 
evolving threat landscape. The foundation of information and cy-
bersecurity is a security policy approved by the Board of Directors, 
complemented by a data protection policy and various guidelines 
on security and personal data processing.

Employee awareness and expertise in data protection and security 
are maintained and enhanced through regular training. In 2024, 95 

per cent of employees completed an online cybersecurity training, 
while 95 per cent of the targeted group completed Data Protec-
tion in Customer Service training, and 90 per cent completed Data 
Protection in Administration training. United Bankers also utilises 
an external cybersecurity service provider to manage and protect 
its IT infrastructure against cyber threats. This service includes a 
security awareness program featuring regular briefings, tests, and 
surveys to assess employee readiness. The completion rate for 
security awareness training was 71 per cent.

In 2024, United Bankers identified or was informed of nine inci-
dents classified as personal data breaches under the GDPR, in-
volving either external data processors or clients. The majority of 
these breaches resulted from human error. None of the incidents 
posed a high risk to data subjects, so no reports were filed with the 
data protection authority.

Preventing corruption, bribery
and money laundering

United Bankers has a zero-tolerance policy towards bribery, cor-
ruption, and any form of unethical influence in its operations. The 
company actively works to combat corruption and promote trans-
parency in all aspects of its business.

Regulations on the prevention and investigation of money launder-
ing and terrorist financing apply to all United Bankers’ business 
activities. Knowing your customer (KYC) is a key obligation of this 
regulation. This means the company must identify its clients and 
their representatives, verify their identities, and understand the na-
ture and scope of their activities to detect any unusual transac-
tions. Before establishing any new client relationship, all relevant 
information is reviewed in accordance with applicable regulations 
and the company’s internal guidelines.

Investment service companies within the United Bankers Group 
operate a whistleblowing channel, allowing employees and exter-
nal parties to report suspected violations of financial market reg-
ulations, misconduct, or human rights abuses. The whistleblow-
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ing channel aims to strengthen good governance, ensure legal 
compliance, and uphold human rights within the organisation. 
Additionally, it facilitates the detection of wrongdoing and enhanc-
es organisational transparency. More details on United Bankers’ 
whistleblowing channel can be found in the company’s 2024 Cor-
porate Responsibility Report.

In 2024, no cases of corruption, bribery, or money laundering re-
lated to United Bankers’ operations were reported. The company 
also had no instances of anti-competitive behavior or violations of 
cartel and antitrust laws. Further information on United Bankers’ 
anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and anti-money laundering measures 
can be found in the 2024 Corporate Responsibility Report.

Financial value creation benefits
multiple stakeholders

United Bankers aims to grow its business, financial performance, 
and company value over the long term. Financial responsibility is 

THE SUPPLIER CODE OF CONDUCT DEFINES THE

SUSTAINABILITY REQUIREMENTS FOR BUSINESS PARTNERS

United Bankers’ environmental and social impacts are realised not only through its investment products but also 
through the activities of its subcontractors and business partners. Counterparty assessments are conducted to 
ensure that United Bankers’ partners are reliable, financially stable, and reputable. The company has implemented 
a Supplier Code of Conduct, which outlines the sustainability requirements for service providers and suppliers. This 
code is based on the UN Global Compact principles and sets minimum standards for responsible business practices 
in areas such as human rights, labor rights, environmental protection, and anti-corruption efforts. The Supplier Code 
of Conduct has been gradually integrated into new procurements and contractual relationships, with ongoing efforts 
to ensure its full implementation in the coming years.

a cornerstone of the company’s operations. By maintaining strong 
capital adequacy and profitability, United Bankers ensures its 
long-term operational viability and strives to be a secure employer. 
Through carefully considered and long-term growth investments, 
the company seeks to create value for both its shareholders and 
clients.

United Bankers reports on its business and financial performance 
transparently and accurately, ensuring that stakeholders have a 
clear and sufficient understanding of the company’s financial po-
sition and results. The company’s operations are always based 
on good corporate governance, legislation, and regulatory guide-
lines. Integrity and ethical business practices are fundamental 
principles that guide all activities.
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United Bankers is implementing a growth 
strategy based on the following elements: 
•	 building long-term customer relationships and exceeding
	 our customers’ expectations 
•	 being innovative in creating unique top-quality services
	 and products 
•	 strengthening our dedicated team of experts 
•	 ensuring success by focusing on sustainability 
•	 utilizing modern technology to further improve client
	 experience and operational efficiency 
•	 growing our business organically and through acquisitions 
•	 concentrating on scalable and recurring revenue businesses

A financially strong company can effectively meet clients’ needs, 
take responsibility for the environment, care for its personnel, and 
contribute to the well-being of society as a whole.

In 2024, United Bankers Group’s revenue (income from opera-
tions) grew by 19.1 per cent to EUR 62.1 million. The company’s 
dividend policy is to distribute at least 70 per cent of earnings 
per share or cash flow per share as dividends annually. In recent 
years, United Bankers has consistently increased its dividend. Ac-
cording to the decision of the 2024 Annual General Meeting, the 

total distribution of funds for the financial year 2023 amounted to 
EUR 1.00 per share, consisting of EUR 0.50 in dividends and EUR 
0.50 in equity repayment. Fund distribution represents an 11.1 per 
cent increase compared to the previous year. More details on the 
Group’s financial performance can be found in the Board of Direc-
tors’ report and the consolidated financial statements.

Tax and tax footprint

United Bankers is headquartered in Finland and in 2024 the com-
pany also had operations in Sweden through its subsidiary’s 
branch. United Bankers pays its taxes in accordance with local 
legislation in both countries where it operates. Most of the Group’s 
business is concentrated in Finland, and therefore, the geograph-
ical distribution of taxes is not further detailed in the report. United 
Bankers is committed to operating in compliance with all its legal 
obligations, to providing all necessary information to the relevant 
tax authorities and to engaging in an open and transparent dia-
logue with them. United Bankers’ Principles for Responsible In-
vestment also separately describes the taxation of investments.
 
In 2024, United Bankers paid a total of EUR 15.4 million in taxes 
and tax-related payments.

Tax table, EUR 1,000

Personnel 2024 2023

Withholding and tax-at-source 5,495 5,648

Pension contributions 2,776 2,600

Social security contributions 584 637

Income taxes and Taxes on distribution of funds 2024 2023

Income taxes 4,943 3,129

Withholding and tax-at-source on distribution of funds 1,021 894

Indirect taxes 2024 2023

Value added tax on sales 575 502

TABLE 11: TAX AND TAX FOOTPRINT
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TABLE 12: 
UNITED BANKERS’ GENERATED ADDED FINANCIAL VALUE

Generated added financial value for different stakeholders (EUR 1,000) 2024 2023

Revenue (customers) 62,111 52,145

Purchasing (suppliers of goods and services) 5,214 4,825

Gross profit 56,897 47,320

Wages and benefits (personnel) 20,985 19,007

Taxes (public sector) 4,943 3,129

Financial expenses (creditors) 1,424 1,314

Other expenses (operations and business development) 11,107 10,033

Retained earnings 18,439 13,837

ECONOMIC VALUE GENERATED AND DISTRIBUTED

Society income distribution, EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Fee and commission income and expense, net 53,372 44,277

Net profit or loss on trading on securities and foreign currencies 801 712

175 74

Net interest income 1,118 916

Other operating income 7 28

Total income 55,473 46,006

Personnel expenses 17,625 15,771

Other administrative expenses 7,513 6,988

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 2,732 2,209

Other operating expenses 861 842

Impairment losses on liabilities and other receivables 0 -6

Society

Income taxes 4,943 3,129

Social security costs 584 637

Pension expenses 2,776 2,600

Equity holders of the parent company 18,042 13,289

Non-controlling interest 397 548

Distribution of income 55,473 46,006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EUR 1,000 Note 1.1.-31.12.2024 1.1.-31.12.2023
Fee and commission income 3 58,586 49,102
Net gains or losses from trading in securities and foreign currencies 4 801 712
Income from equity investments 5 175 74
Interest income 6 2,542 2,230
Other operating income 7 7 28
Total revenue 62,111 52,145

Fee and commission expenses 3 -5,214 -4,825
Interest expenses 6 -1,424 -1,314
Administrative expenses
	 Personnel expenses 8 -20,985 -19,007
	 Other administrative expenses 8 -7,513 -6,988
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 18,19,20 -2,732 -2,209
Other operating expenses 9 -861 -842
Expected credit losses on loans and other receivables 27 0 6
Operating profit 23,382 16,966

Income taxes 10 -4,943 -3,129
Profit for the period 18,439 13,837

CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Total comprehensive income attributable to 18,439 13,837
Equity holders of parent company 18,042 13,289
Non-controlling interest 397 548

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of the company

Earnings per share, EUR  1.66 1.24
Earnings per share (diluted), EUR  1.64 1.23

Parent company has one class of shares.



115

CONSOLIDATED BAL ANCE SHEET

EUR 1,000 Note 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

ASSETS
Cash and equivalents 13 0 0
Claims on credit institutions 14 13,330 9,352
Claims on the public and public-sector entities 15 3 4
Debt securities 16 1,844 1,239
Shares and units 17 22,764 8,220
Goodwill 18 15,593 15,593
Other intangible assets 18 6,579 6,099
Tangible assets 19,20 2,060 2,898
Other assets 21 24,485 30,997
Accrued income and prepayments 22 1,818 1,716
Deferred tax assets 10 1 2
Total assets 88,478 76,121

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES
Liabilities to credit institutions 23  -  -
Other liabilities 24  12,571 13,479
Accrued expenses and deferred income 25 12,598 8,055
Deferred tax liabilities 10 1,809 3,016
Total liabilities  26,977 24,549

EQUITY 26
Share capital 5,464 5,464
Reserve for non-restricted equity 20,392 22,901
Retained earnings  35,327 22,761
Non-controlling interest 318 445
Total equity  61,500 51,572

Total equity and liabilities  88,478 76,121
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR 1,000 1.1.-31.12.2024 1.1.-31.12.2023

Cash flow from operating activities
	 Income received from sales  64,362  46,062 
	 Other operating income received  7  28 
	 Operating costs paid -31,622 -32,078
	 Cash flow from operating activities before finance costs and taxes  32,746  14,012 
	 Interest paid from operating activities -1,386 -1,269
	 Interest received from operating activities  2,647  2,212 
	 Income taxes paid -2,916 -1,984
Cash flow from operating activities (A) 31,092 12,970

Cash flow from investing activities
	 Acquisitions of tangible and intangible assets -2,375 -3,245
	 Changes in claims on the public and public-sector entities  1  19 
	 Dividends received from investments  175  74 
	 Investments in financial assets -15,269  1,054 
Cash flow from investing activities (B) -17,467 -2,098

Cash flow from financing activities
	 Acquisition of treasury shares -576 -295
	 Proceeds from share issues  2,963  -  
	 Drawdown of loans  -   807 
	 Repayment of loans  -  -807
	 Repayment of lease liabilities -651 -581
	 Dividends paid to non-controlling interests -524 -461
	 Dividends paid to equity holders of parent company -10,859 -9,686
Cash flow from financing activities (C) -9,647 -11,024

Net cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities (A+B+C) 3,978 -152

Change in cash and cash equivalents 3,978 -152
	 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  9,352  9,500 
		  Effect of expected credit losses 0  4 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  13,330  9,352 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUIT Y

EUR 1,000
Share 

capital

Reserve for 
invested non- 

restricted equity
Retained 
earnings Total

Non-controlling 
interest in capital Total equity

Equity, 1 Jan 2024  5,464  22,901  22,761  51,127  445  51,572 
Comprehensive income
Profit for the period  -   -   18,042  18,042  397  18,439 
Total comprehensive income for the period  -   -   18,042  18,042  397  18,439 

Transactions with owners of the Group
Distribution of dividends and return of capital  -  -5,472 -5,386 -10,859 -524 -11,383
Acquisition of treasury shares  -   -  -576 -576  -  -576
Share issue, related to corporate restructuring  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Share issue, personnel and tied agents  -   2,963  483  3,446  -   3,446 
Other changes  -   -  -194 -194  -  -194
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Management incentive plan  -   -   197  197  -   197 
Total transactions with owners of the Group  -  -2,509 -5,476 -7,986 -524 -8,510

Equity, 31 Dec 2024  5,464  20,392  35,327  61,183  318  61,500 

EUR 1,000
Share 

capital

Reserve for 
invested non- 

restricted equity
Retained 
earnings Total

Non-controlling 
interest in capital Total equity

Equity, 1 Jan 2023  5,464  24,606  17,628  47,697  359  48,056 
Comprehensive income
Profit for the period  -   -   13,289  13,289  548  13,837 
Total comprehensive income for the period  -   -   13,289  13,289  548  13,837 

Transactions with owners of the Group
Distribution of dividends and return of capital  -  -1,613 -8,073 -9,686 -461 -10,148
Acquisition of treasury shares  -  -91 -204 -295  -  -295
Share issue, related to corporate restructuring  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Share issue, personnel and tied agents  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Other changes  -   -  -23 -23  -  -23
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Management incentive plan  -   -   145  145  -   145 
Total transactions with owners of the Group  -  -1,704 -8,156 -9,860 -461 -10,322

Equity, 31 Dec 2023  5,464  22,901  22,761  51,127  445  51,572 
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1.1 BASIC INFORMATION AND STRUCTURE

The United Bankers Plc Group (hereinafter, “United Bankers” or the “Group”) is a 
Finnish expert on wealth management and investment markets. The Group’s busi-
ness segments include wealth management and capital markets services. In wealth 
management, the Group specialises in real asset investments.

The parent company of the Group, United Bankers Plc (hereinafter the “Compa-
ny”) is a Finnish limited liability company, whose business ID is 2355443-6. The 
registered office of the Company is in Helsinki and the registered address Aleksan-
terinkatu 21 A, 00100 Helsinki, Finland. The Company has been listed on Nasdaq 
Helsinki since 18 June 2020.

These financial statements were adopted by the Board of Directors of United Bank-
ers in their meeting of 27 February 2025. The Finnish Companies Act stipulates 
that shareholders of a company have the option of either adopting or rejecting the 
financial statements in the annual general meeting held after the publication of 
same. The annual general meeting also has the option of resolving to modify the 
financial statements.

1.2 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the appli-
cable International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the Europe-
an Union as in force on 31 December 2024. The International Financial Reporting 
Standards refer to the standards and interpretations issued on same, as approved 
for application within the EU pursuant to the procedure stipulated under the EU 
regulation (EY) N:o 1606/2022, as set forth in the Finnish Accounting Act and the 
regulations issued under same. United Bankers has applied the above-mentioned 
principles in all the financial periods (2023 and 2024) presented in the financial 
statements, unless otherwise stated below. The Group has not applied any new or 
modified standards or interpretations prior to the entry into force thereof.

The general accounting principles of the consolidated financial statements are pre-
sented below in this section. Information on discretionary decisions that the manage-
ment has made while applying the accounting principles, with the greatest impact 
on the figures presented in the financial statements, as well as the presumptions of 
future development and estimations have been presented in section 1.5. Manage-
ment Discretion. The accounting principles for each individual item in the financial 
statements along with the descriptions of discretionary management decisions 
and the use of estimations and presumptions have been presented in connection 
with each item in the financial statements and they are marked with the symbol 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared on the going concern basis. 
Thus, it is assumed that the Group possesses the necessary resources to continue 

its operations and the management is committed to doing so, no less than for one 
year from the signing of the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the original 
acquisition costs, except for items measured at fair value through profit or loss.
 
The financial period of the United Bankers Group is the calendar year. The figures 
in the consolidated financial statements are rounded mainly to thousands of euros. 
All the figures presented have been rounded and consequently the sum of individual 
figures may deviate from the sum presented. The key figures have been calculated 
using precise values.

The principle for the consolidated income statement: The IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements standard does not define the concept of operating profit. 
The Group has defined same as follows: operating profit is the net sum that arises 
when fee and commission expenses, interest expenses, administrative expenses, 
depreciation, amortisation, any impairment losses and other operating expenses 
are deducted from the total operating income.

The Group has no items classified as comprehensive income.

1.3 CONSOLIDAT ION PRINCIPLES

The consolidated financial statements include the parent company United Bankers 
Plc and all the subsidiaries, in which the parent Company has control at the end 
of reporting period. The parent Company has control, when it is exposed or is en-
titled to variable returns from its involvement in the company and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the company. Any acquired subsid-
iaries are consolidated into the consolidated financial statements once the parent 
company has gained control of same. Any divested subsidiaries are consolidated 
until control ceases. 

The Group’s intragroup transactions, receivables, liabilities, unrealised margins, and 
internal distribution of profits are eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements. The allocation of profit (loss) for the period to non-controlling 
interests is presented in the context of a comprehensive income statement. The 
portion of non-controlling interests in equity is presented as a separate item in the 
equity of the balance sheet.

Associated companies are companies in which the Group exerts significant influ-
ence. The Group has determined that significant influence primarily occurs when 
the Group holds 20 - 50 per cent of the voting power in a company, or the Group 
otherwise exercises significant influence but has no control. Associate companies 
are consolidated into the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. 
The portion of an associate company’s loss that exceeds the carrying amount of the 

1 | BASIC INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY, GROUP STRUCTURE, ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND INFORMATION  
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investment is not consolidated unless the Group is committed to the fulfilment of 
the obligations of the associate company. There were no consolidated associated 
companies within the Group in the financial periods of 2023 or 2024.

Presenting non-controlling interest in situations where there are separate contrac-
tual conditions requires management discretion. The management has exercised its 
discretion in presenting the non-controlling interest separately in the equity and in 
connection with the comprehensive income statement as concerns subsidiaries, in 
which United Bankers has the option or right to purchase the interests of non-con-
trolling shareholders. At the time of reporting, non-controlling shareholders have 
the right to dividends and to the net assets of the companies.

Items included in the financial statements of group companies are valued using 
the currency of the economic environment in which the company primarily oper-
ates (“Operating Currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in euros, which is the operating and presentation currency of the parent Company.

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into the local operating currency 
using the monthly average rates. Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are converted into operating currencies at the exchange rates prevail-
ing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange rate differences are recognised 
in the income statement item Net gains or losses from trading in securities and 
foreign currencies.

Group structure

As at 31 December 2024, the United Bankers Group included the following companies:

Parent company Ownership Registered office
United Bankers Plc Helsinki

Subsidiaries (direct and indirect) Ownership Registered office

Equity of 
the company 
31.12.2024 
EUR 1,000

Profit (loss) of the 
company 

2024 EUR 1,000
UB Corporate Finance Ltd 100% Helsinki 237 -5
UB Asset Management Ltd* 100% Helsinki 12,625 1,818
UB Fund Management Company Ltd 100% Helsinki 1,180 313
UB Nordic Forest Management Ltd 100% Helsinki 705 3
UB Yritysrahoitus Oy 90% Helsinki 45 121
UB Rahoitus Oy 100% Helsinki 352 -3
UB Meklarit Oy 100% Helsinki 4 0
UB Finnish Property Oy 79% Helsinki 782 775
UB Clean Energy Ltd 79% Helsinki 76 762
UB Nordic Forest Fund III Management Ltd 100% Helsinki 7 -0
UB Nordic Forest Fund IV Management Ltd 100% Helsinki 16 1
UB Forest & Fibre Advisory Ltd 78% Helsinki 600 281
UB Forest & Fibre Management Ltd 78% Helsinki 100 -
UB Asuntorahasto Management Oy 100% Helsinki - -

 * UB Asset Management Ltd has a branch in Sweden.
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Structured funds

Interests held by the Group in structured entities not consolidated into the group financial statements comprise the private equity funds listed below. The subsidiaries of 
the Group act as general partners of the limited partnerships and as fund managers in the private equity funds. In these funds, the management company steers all signif-
icant operations and makes investment decisions in accordance with the fund bylaws  The Group considers that it is not significantly exposed to the variable income 
of the funds. The funds are not consolidated into the group financial statements.

Group company Fund Description of fund
Investment of the 
Group EUR 1,000

UB Yritysrahoitus Oy UB Yritysrahoitusrahasto I Ky Private equity fund for corporate lending 0
UB Yritysrahoitus Oy UB Yritysrahoitusrahasto I Feeder Ky Private equity fund for corporate lending 1
UB Nordic Forest Management Ltd UB Nordic Forest Fund III Ky Private equity fund for forestry 462*
UB Nordic Forest Fund III Management Ltd UB Nordic Forest Fund III Syöttörahasto I Ky Private equity fund for forestry 1
UB Nordic Forest Fund III Management Ltd UB Nordic Forest Fund III Syöttörahasto II Ky Private equity fund for forestry 1
UB Nordic Forest Fund III Management Ltd UB Nordic Forest Fund III Syöttörahasto III Ky Private equity fund for forestry 1
UB Nordic Forest Fund III Management Ltd UB Nordic Forest Fund III Syöttörahasto IV Ky Private equity fund for forestry 1
UB Nordic Forest Fund III Management Ltd UB Nordic Forest Fund III Syöttörahasto V Ky Private equity fund for forestry 1
UB Nordic Forest Fund IV Management Ltd UB Nordic Forest Fund IV LP Private equity fund for forestry 687*

UB Forest & Fibre Management Ltd UB Forest Industry Green Growth Fund I LP
Private equity fund for forestry and 
bio-based industry

2,332*

UB Forest & Fibre Management Ltd UB Forest Industry Green Growth Feeder Fund I LP
Private equity fund for forestry and 
bio-based industry

1

UB Forest & Fibre Management Ltd UB Forest Industry Green Growth Feeder Fund II LP
Private equity fund for forestry and bio-ba-
sed industry

1

UB Asuntorahasto Management Oy UB Asuntorahasto I LP Private equity fund for housing -
UB Asuntorahasto Management Oy UB Asuntorahasto Feeder I LP Private equity fund for housing 1

Management fees and other fees of the funds are recognised in the comprehensive income statement item Fees and commission income. The Group’s investments to funds are 
recognised in the balance sheet item Shares and units. Group’s risk of losses is limited to the carrying amount of the investment. *NAV of group companies’ investments.

1.4 CORPOR ATE ARR ANGEMENTS

Acquired subsidiaries are consolidated into the consolidated financial statements 
using the acquisition method. The consideration provided and the identifiable as-
sets and the accepted liabilities of the acquired company are valued at fair values 
at the time of the acquisition. The consideration provided includes any assets dis-
posed of, liabilities incurred by the acquiring party towards the previous owners 
of the target of the acquisition as well as any issued equity-based interests. The 
consideration provided does not include transactions to be treated as not related 
to the acquisition, but, rather, these are recognised through profit or loss in con-
nection with the acquisition.

Any contingent consideration (earnout) related to business combinations is valued 
at fair value at the time of the acquisition. It is classified either as a liability or equity. 
Contingent consideration classified as a liability is valued at fair value at the end 
date of each reporting period. The profit or loss incurred from same is recognised 
in profit or loss. Contingent compensation classified as equity is not revalued.

Expenses related to acquisitions, such as advisory fees, are recognised as an ex 
pense in the periods during which the costs are incurred and services received, 
excluding costs arising from the issuance of debt or equity securities.

Assumptions and uncertainty factors related to estimations

The determination of fair values related to business combinations requires manage-
ment discretion concerning the recognition and measurement at fair value of the 
consideration provided as well as of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities. In business combinations in the financial year 2018, customer relation-
ships have been identified as intangible assets separate from goodwill and have 
been recorded in the consolidated balance sheet. Goodwill and customer relation-
ships are tested for impairment annually. Goodwill and customer relationships are 
tested for impairment yearly.

Acquisitions during the 2023 and 2024 financial periods

In 2023 and 2024, the Group did not acquire additional shares from non-controlling 
interest holders.
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2 | SEGMENT REPORTING
 

2 .1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

A business segment is a part of the Group that carries on business operations from 
which the Group can accrue income and incur expenses, and for which separate 
financial information is available. Segment reporting follows the Group’s accounting 
policies as per the segment division.

Wealth Management

The Group’s Wealth Management business segment encompasses the management 
of funds, the Group’s asset management products and services, sale of investment 
services and securities brokerage.

Capital Markets Services

The Group’s Capital Markets Services business segment provides customers with 
listing services, borrowed and equity financing arrangements, loan-based financing 
solutions and on online crowd funding platform. 

The highest operative decision-making body in the company evaluates the perfor-
mance of the business segments regularly and makes decisions concerning the 

resources to be allocated to the segments. The highest operative decision-making 
body in the Group is the Group Board of Directors. The Board of Directors monitors 
the profitability (EBITDA) of the business segments. Segment-specific balance 
sheet information has not been presented as the Board of Directors do not monitor 
the balance sheet for each segment specifically. The presented business segment 
information is based on the internal reporting of the Group to the management and 
the segments only include external accounting items. 

The other items include other income and expenses of the Group that are not re-
ported as part of the reportable segments. The income consists of the own invest-
ments of the parent Company and other business income. The expenses comprise 
administrative expenses that have not been allocated to the business segments. 

The primary operational area of the Group’s business segments is Finland. The 
Group does not have customer relationships that would constitute in excess of 10% 
of the total income of the Group. Also geographically, the proportion of the income 
from countries other than Finland does not exceed 10%. The distribution of fee and 
commission income of the business segments has been described in Note 3. Net 
fee and commission income and assets under management.

1.5 MANAGEMENT DISCRET ION

The most important discretionary decisions made by the man-
agement and key uncertainty factors related to estimations and 
assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the IFRS requires man-
agement to make discretionary decisions and to use estimations and assumptions 
that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities on the balance sheet date, the re-
porting of contingent assets and liabilities and the amounts of income and expenses 
during the reporting period. These estimations and assumptions are based on past 
experience and other justified factors, such as expectations of future events which 
the management of United Bankers believes to be reasonable in view of the cir-
cumstances on the end date of reporting period, and at the time such estimations 
and assumptions were made.

Albeit these assumptions are based on the best understanding of events and actions 
by United Bankers’ management at the time of preparation of the financial state-
ments, it is possible that the materialised situations may differ from these estima-
tions. Estimates and assumptions are evaluated continuously and while preparing 
the financial statements. The Group may be compelled to adjust its assessments, 
if the circumstances upon which such assessments are based, change, or if United 
Bankers receives new information or it gains more experience. Any changes shall 
be recognised in accounting in the financial period during which the estimations 
or assumptions are adjusted.

Utilisation of the decisions and assessments based on management 
discretion

The discretionary decisions made by the management that the management has 
made in applying the accounting policies for the financial statements and that have 
the greatest impact on the presented figures, pertain to the following areas:

-	 Allocation of goodwill and determination of the level of testing (Notes 1 and 18)
-	 Treatment of fee and commission income (Note 3)
-	 Consolidation: Consolidation criteria for investment funds and treatment 
	 of non-controlling interests (Note 1)
-	 Leases: assessment of the duration of the lease period (Note 20)

The key uncertainty factors related to estimations and assessments presenting a 
significant risk of a material change in the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
during the following financial period, are the following:

-	 Impairment testing of goodwill (Note 18)
-	 Treatment of fee and commission income (Private equity funds in the form 
	 of limited partnerships) (Note 3)

1.6 NEW AND UPDATED STANDARDS FOR THE FOLLOWING 
FINANCIAL YEARS

No standard changes are expected for the following financial period that would have 
a material impact on the Group’s accounting policies. 
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2.2 REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS

2024

EUR 1,000
Wealth  

management Capital markets services Other Group total
Fee and commission income  57,940  646  -   58,586 
Net profit or net loss on trading in securities and foreign currencies 185  -  615  801 
Income from equity investments 4 - 172  175 
Interest income 2444 81 17  2,542 
	 From other segments - - 21  21 
Other operating income  7 -0 0  7 
Total revenue  60,579  728  825  62,132 

Fee and commission expenses -5,200 -14  -  -5,214
Interest expenses -1,346 -0 -78 -1,424
	 To other segments  -  -21  -  -21
Total -6,546 -35 -78 -6,659

NET REVENUE  54,033  693  747  55,473 

Administrative expenses
	 Personnel expenses -19,174 -759 -1,051 -20,985
	 Other administrative expenses -6,782 -353 -379 -7,513
Expected losses on other receivables  -   -   0  0 
Other operating expenses -855  29 -36 -861
Total expenses -26,811 -1,082 -1,466 -29,359

EBITDA  27,222 -390 -719  26,114 

Depreciation and amortisation -2,732
Income taxes -4,943
Profit for the period 18,439



123

3 | NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

2023

EUR 1,000
Wealth  

management Capital markets services Other Group total
Fee and commission income  48,416  686  -   49,102 
Net gains or losses on trading in securities and foreign currencies  28  208  476  712 
Income from equity investments  5  1  68  74 
Interest income  2,104  116  10  2,230 
	 From other segments  -   -   51  51 
Other operating income  26  1 -0  28 
Total revenue  50,579  1,012  605  52,196 

Fee and commission expenses -4,804 -21  -  -4,825
Interest expenses -1,221 -0 -93 -1,314
	 To other segments  -  -51  -  -51
Total -6,025 -72 -93 -6,190

NET REVENUE  44,554  941  512  46,006 

Administrative expenses
	 Personnel expenses -17,636 -825 -546 -19,007
	 Other administrative expenses -6 350 -306 -332 -6 988
Expected losses on other receivables  -   -   6  6 
Other operating expenses -688 -120 -34 -842
Total expenses -24 674 -1 251 -907 -26 832

EBITDA  19 880 -310 -395  19 174 

Depreciation and amortisation -2,209
Income taxes -3,129
Profit for the period 13,837

3.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

Revenue recognition

The United Bankers Group provides wealth management products and services, as 
well as services directed at the capital markets. Services are mainly recognised as 
income over time once the service has been passed on to a customer.

The Group recognises revenue so that it illustrates the passing on of the agreed 
services to a customer in an amount that illustrates the consideration the Group is 
expecting to be entitled to for the services. The evaluation of customer contracts 
and recognising of sales revenue is carried out through the application of a five-
step model that determines the timing and the amount at which the revenue is 
recognised. The model involves the identification of the customer contract and of 

the contractual performance obligations, determination of transaction prices, allo-
cation of the transaction prices to the performance obligations, and recognition of 
the revenue. Transaction prices are primarily fixed within the Group. Revenue over 
time is recognised when the service is being carried out or after the service has 
been provided (one-off).

Wealth Management

The Wealth Management business segment encompasses the management of 
funds, the Group’s asset management products and services, sale of investment 
services and securities brokerage. 

The management fees received from managing the funds are based on the valuation 
of the funds and they are recognised monthly or quarterly, and typically invoiced from 
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the funds during the following month. The fees are determined in accordance with 
the fund’s assets or the original committed capital and the agreed fee percentage 
and recognised over time. Any one-time subscription fees charged in connection 
with fund subscriptions are recognised immediately, as are any one-time redemp-
tion fees charged when units are redeemed.

Performance fees from UCITS, AIFs and limited partnership private equity funds 
are only recognised as income based on the valuation calculations of the funds, 
once the final amount of fees can be reliably estimated, and when it is highly prob-
able that no significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised 
will be necessary.

As a rule, asset management fees are accrued quarterly and invoiced retrospectively, 
usually in the month following the calculation period. Fees based on the perfor-
mance of the asset management customer portfolios are invoiced retrospectively, 
once the amount of fees can be estimated reliably. Any asset management opening 
fees are recognised when invoiced.  

Transaction fees charged from asset management customers are recognised accord-
ing to the trading day. So-called structuring fees pertaining to structured products 
are recognised according to the issue date.

As part of the wealth management services, the Group sells insurance policies of 
its partners. United Bankers never gains control over the transferred products or 
services of the partner, and so only the received insurance agent fees are recog-
nised as revenue.

Fees from securities brokage are recognised by trading day.

Capital Markets Services

The Capital Markets Services business segment encompasses securities brokerage, 
listing services, equity and borrowed capital-based financing arrangements, loan-
based financial solutions and an online crown funding platform. 

The fixed fees from listing services and equity and borrowed capital-based financing 
arrangements are recognised when the service has been passed on and the right  
to the fee has emerged, typically on a monthly basis. Part of the compensation 
may be variable, such as success fees from corporate financing services that are 
recognised once the performance obligations of the transaction has been fulfilled 
or the outcome of the transaction can be reliably estimated. 

Assets related to customer contracts of the Group encompass fee and other receiv-
ables that are presented separately. No recognised assets that meet the balance 

sheet recognition criteria resulting from a receivable associated with a custom-
er agreement have arisen. The Group avails itself of a practical tool and does not 
present the amount of transaction prices allocated to unfulfilled performance ob-
ligations of contracts, where the interval between the transfer of the agreed goods 
or services and payment by the customer is expected to be less than 12 months, 
or the recognised revenue from the customer is in line with the transferred value of 
the services to the customer.

Management discretionary items

IFRS 15 contains a restriction on revenue recognition that requires revenue to be 
recognised only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in 
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur.

United Bankers Group may obtain performance fees from limited partnership forest 
funds that it manages based on the return of the fund. The performance fee, which 
is based on fund agreements and belongs to the management company, will be 
realised and paid once the hurdle rate (IRR) has been achieved during the period 
determined in the fund agreement. The return exceeding the hurdle rate will be 
divided between the management company and investors according to the fund 
agreement (e.g. 20% / 80%). If the return from the fund remains below the hurdle 
rate, the management company receives no performance fee.

United Bankers Group recognises the performance fees from limited partnership 
forest funds as income only when the final amount of fees can be reliably estimated 
and it is highly probable that the conditions for receiving the fees will be met. The 
Group has thorough method of assessing performance fees and commissions. The 
assessment method takes into account, inter alia, an estimate of the future value of 
the private equity fund at the liquidation, the net value of future cashflows and prob-
ability of the liquidation timing. If the calculated performance fee or commission is 
estimated to be highly probable, it is recognised as income. The Group completed 
a transaction on 8 March 2024 where all partnership interests in UB Nordic Forest 
Fund II LP were sold. The transaction generated a performance fee of approximately 
EUR 10.6 million and the cashflows of the transaction were approximately EUR 18.0 
million for the financial year 2024.

Overall limited partnership forest funds have generated approximately EUR 12.4 
million in performance fees for the financial year 2024 (EUR 3.0 million for the 
financial year 2023). The Group’s other receivables include approximately EUR 
7.8 million of the aforementioned performance fees amortised as at 31 Dec 2024 
(approximately EUR 13.4 million at 31 December 2023).
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3.2 BREAKDOWN OF FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Table below shows the breakdown of fee and commission income:
2024 2023

EUR 1,000
Wealth  

management Capital markets services Total
Wealth  

management Capital markets services Total
Funds
	 Management fees 26,556  -  26,556 25,894  -  25,894
	 Performance fees 21,750  -  21,750 13,637  -  13,637
	 Subscription and redemption fees 1,285  -  1,285 1,253  -  1,253
Asset management 7,018  -  7,018 5,153  -  5,153
Structured products 1,332  -  1,332 2,479  -  2,479
Capital market services  -  646 646  -  686 686
Total fee and commission income  57,940  646  58,586  48,416  686 49,102

EUR 1,000 2024  % 2023  %
Recognised at one point in time 6,194 10.6% 6,442 13.1%
Recognised over time  52,392 89.4% 42,660 86.9%
Total 58,586 100.0 % 49,102 100 %

Expected credit losses on receivables have been described in Note 27. Group risks and managing same.

3.3 FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES

The table below shows the breakdown of fee and commission expenses in the 
Group:

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Fee and commission expenses
	 Fees and commissions to agents -4,008 -3,799
	 Fees and commissions to other distributors -463 -499
	 Other fee and commission expense -743 -527
Total -5,214 -4,825

3.4 ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Development of assets under management

The Company’s assets under management amounted to EUR 4.8 billion as at 31 
December 2024 (EUR 4.6 bn as at 31 December 2023) and increased by approx-
imately 4.8 per cent from the level at the end of previous year. A total of EUR 3.0 
billion (EUR 2.9 bn) of United Bankers’ assets under management were invested in 
funds, corresponding to 62 per cent of total of Group assets under management. 
A total of EUR 1.8 billion worth of the aforementioned fund capital was invested in 
real asset investments (EUR 1.9 bn), corresponding to approximately 37 per cent 
of the Group assets under management.
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Income statement item recognises profit from units of private equity fund invest-
ments and dividend income from securities.

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Dividend income from investments held for trading  1  1 
Other income from equity investments  174  73 
Total  175  74 

4 | NET GA INS OR LOSSES FROM TR ADING IN SECURIT IES AND FOREIGN CURRENCIES

5 | INCOME FROM EQUIT Y INVESTMENTS

Interest income and expenses of financial assets and liabilities are recognised using 
the effective interest method.

INTEREST INCOME

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Interest income
	 Claims on credit institutions  2,466  2,179 
	 Claims on public and public-sector entities  1  1 
	 Claims on debt securities  75  50 
Other interest income  0  0 
Total  2,542  2,230 

INTEREST EXPENSES

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Interest expenses to client accounts -1,330 -1,217
Interest expenses to credit institutions -2 -9
Interest expenses on lease liabilities -38 -45
Other interest expenses -55 -43
Total -1,424 -1,314

Accounting policy on financial assets and liabilities are presented in Note 12. Cat-
egories of financial assets and liabilities.

6 | INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES

Income statement item recognises sales profits and losses as well as changes in fair value from trading in securities. In addition, the net profit or loss from trading in for-
eign currencies recognises the exchange rate gains and losses of ordinary business.

2024
EUR 1,000

Sales profits and 
losses

Changes in 
fair value Other items Total

Net profit or loss from trading in securities
	 Debt securities  134  10  -   144 
	 Shares and units  299  368  -   667 
	 Derivative contracts  -   -   -   -  
Total net profit or loss from trading in securities  433  378  -   811 
Net profit or loss from trading in foreign currencies  -   -  -10 -10
Net profit or loss from trading in securities and foreign currencies  433  378 -10  801 

2023
EUR 1,000

Sales profits and 
losses

Changes in 
fair value Other items Total

Net profit or loss from trading in securities
	 Debt securities  209  7  -   216 
	 Shares and units -34  531  -   497 
	 Derivative contracts  -   -   -   -  
Total net profit or loss from trading in securities  175  538  -   713 
Net profit or loss from trading in foreign currencies -1 -1
Net profit or loss from trading in securities and foreign currencies  175  538 -1  712 



127

Other operating income includes profits from other sources than ordinary business 
of United Bankers Group.

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Other operating income 7  28 
Total 7  28 

7 | OTHER OPER ATING INCOME

8 | EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND ADMINISTR AT IVE EXPENSES

The Group had no material sales profits in years 2024 and 2023.

8.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

Employee benefits include the following:
a) short-term employee benefits
b) post-employment benefits
c) other long-term employee benefits
d) termination benefits, as in compensations payable in connection with the ter-
mination of employment 
e) share-based payments

a) Short-term employee benefits include wages and salaries together with benefits 
in kind, annual vacations, and bonuses. These are recognised in the period that the 
work in question is carried out.

b) Post-employment benefits are paid to their receivers after the cessation of the 
employment. At United Bankers, these benefits consist of pensions. Retirement ar-
rangements are handled by external pension companies. Retirement arrangements 
are classified as either a contribution plan or a benefit plan. A contribution plan 
refers to a retirement arrangement, where United Bankers pays fixed contributions 
into a fund, and it has no legal or actual obligation to affect any further payments 
if the fund lacks sufficient assets to pay all of pension benefits. Payments made 
into contribution plans are recognised in the income statement at the periods they 
relate to. Prepayments are recognised as receivables to the extent they will result 
in the decrease of future payments or a cash refund to be received.

The United Bankers Group does not have in place benefit-based pension arrange-
ments.	

c) Other long-term employee benefits comprise any employee benefits other than 
short-term, post-employment and termination benefits. These include, for instance, 
long-term paid leaves, such as sabbatical leave. 

d) Termination benefits are not based on work performance, but, rather, the termi-
nation of employment. These benefits encompass compensations related to em-
ployment termination. Benefits related to employment termination ensue either from 
the decision of the Group to terminate the employment or an employee’s decision to 
accept the benefits offered by United Bankers as compensation for the termination 
of employment. The benefits are recognised at the earliest of the following: when 
United Bankers can no longer withdraw its offer for the benefits, and when the Group 

recognises the cost for reorganisation, in connection with which benefits related to 
the termination of employment are paid.

e) The Group has in place share-based incentive models where payments are made 
as equity instruments of the parent Company. Share-based arrangements are valued 
at fair value when they are granted, and the amount of the incentive is recognised 
in the income statement during the period when the right is acquired. Expenses 
are presented in the personnel expenses for employees and in other administrative 
expenses for tied agents in relation to directed share issues.

8.2 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Salaries and fees -17,625 -15,771
Social security costs
	 Pension expenses (defined contribution plans) -2,776 -2,600
	 Other social security costs -584 -637
Total -20,985 -19,007

Information on employee benefits of the key personnel of the Group’s management 
is presented in Note 29. Related party transactions.

8.3 NUMBER OF PERSONNEL

Personnel in full-time equivalents (FTE)
2024 2023

Average number of personnel during the period 158 158
Number of personnel at the end of the period 161 160

2024 2023
Average number of personnel during the period
	 Permanent full-time personnel 143 143
	 Permanent part-time personnel 5 6
	 Fixed-term personnel 11 9
Total 158 158
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8.4 SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE PL ANS

Share-based payments

Share-based incentive plan for key personnel

On 24 June 2015, United Bankers Plc introduced a share-based incentive plan for 
key personnel. The purpose of the incentive plan is to support the Group’s business 
strategy, to align the objectives of owners and key employees in an effort to increase 
the value of the Company in the long term, to retain key employees and to provide 
them with a competitive remuneration system based on the earning of Company 
shares and the development of the value of the Company.

During the financial period, the share-based incentive plan comprised three 3-year 
earning periods, calendar years 2022-2024, 2023-2025 and 2024-2026. The com-
pany’s Board of Directors decides on the earning criteria and targets of the incentive 
plan at the beginning of the earning period. The bonuses paid under the plan are 
based on the achievement of the qualitative and financial targets set by the Board 
of Directors for the Group and the individual targets set for each key employee. The 
bonus, if any, for each earning period is paid after the end of the earning period. 
The plan encompasses seven key employees in the company. Bonuses under the 
share-based incentive plan are paid partially in company shares (approximately 
25%) and partially in cash (approximately 75%).

Personnel and tied agent share-based incentive plan

On 29 April 2024, United Bankers’ Board of Directors resolved to carry out directed 
share issue for consideration to the Group’s employees and management as well as 
the Group’s tied agents and  to certain holding companies of key persons acting as 
directors of alternative investment funds managed by the Company’s Group. A total 
of 190,000 new shares were subscribed for in the Employee Share Issue and in the 
Tied Agent Share Issue. The subscribed shares had no special earnings conditions 
and the subscribed shares enabled participation in additional Share Matching Plans. 
The difference of EUR 324 thousand between subscription price and market price 
of directed share issues was recognized as an expense in the financial year 2024.

The share-based incentive plan for personnel and tied agents have a vesting period, 
commencing on 27 May 2024 and ending on 30 September 2027. The prerequisite 

for being entitled to remuneration is for the participant to subscribe for shares in the 
directed share issues, as well as owning the shares subject to the share ownership 
requirement for the entire duration of the vesting period. Provided the participant’s 
share ownership requirement is met, and their employment or service relationship 
or tied agent or co-operation relationship is in force at the end of the vesting pe-
riod, the participant shall receive shares without consideration from the Company 
as remuneration. In the personnel share issue, the participant will receive by way 
of gross remuneration one (1) matching share for every two (2) shares subject to 
the shareholding requirement. In the tied agent share issue, the participant will re-
ceive by way of gross remuneration 1.2 shares for each two (2) shares that subject 
to the shareholding requirement. The remuneration shall be payble in the form of 
cash and shares of the Company upon expiry of the vesting period.

Key personnel incentive plan 2024–2026 2023–2025 2022-2024
Maximum share amount (pcs)* 59,729 51,711 54,415
End of earning period 31.12.2026 31.12.2025 31.12.2024
Earning targets Employment and result Employment and result Employment and result
Fulfilment of earning targets 92% 93% 87%
Share value on issue date  14.40 €  13.60 €  14.20 € 

*Includes also the part paid in cash  

For financial year 2024, a total of EUR 1,158 thousand worth of expenses (EUR 817 thousand for financial year 2023) and a total of EUR 1,384 thousand (EUR 1,349 
thousand as at 31 December 2023) worth of liabilities were recognized and accrued in relation to the key personnel incentive plan.

Personnel and Tied Agent Matching Share Plan 2024
Maximum share amount (pcs) 98,535
End of vesting period 30/09/2027
Vesting period targets Employment and share ownership
Fulfilment of vesting period targets 92%
Share value on issue date 15.70

Shares to be given based on the additional share matching plan have been valued at estimated fair value on the issue date, with a deduction for an estimated amount of 
the dividends to be paid before the end of the vesting period. 

For year 2024, total of EUR 281 thousand of expenses (EUR 0 thousand in 2023)  were recognized in relation to the personnel and tied agent Share Matching Plans.
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The Group’s other operating expenses include mainly lease expenses, property 
maintenance costs as well as fees to authorities and insurance expenses. Also any 
earnouts to non-controlling owners have been recognised in other operating ex-
penses, in case they differ from the originally estimated amount.

Breakdown of other operating expenses

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Lease expenses -166 -187
Property maintenance costs -103 -123
Insurances -116 -117
Fees to authorities -401 -375
Earnouts  -   113 

Other expenses -75 -153

Total -861 -842

Fees to auditors

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Statutory fees -130 -122
Other fees -29 -21
Total -159 -143

9 | OTHER OPER ATING EXPENSES

10.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

The tax expense in the income statement consists of:

-	 tax based on the taxable profit for the financial period, and
- 	 changes in deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets. 
Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except when they are directly related to 
items recognised in shareholders’ equity or other items in comprehensive income. 
In this case, also income tax is recorded in the items in question.

Tax based on the taxable income for the period is calculated on the basis of taxable 
income determined by the tax laws and the current tax rate (or the rate effectively 
accepted by the date of the financial statements) of each of the countries in which 
United Bankers operates and generates taxable income. The tax is adjusted for 
any taxes related to previous financial periods. Non-income taxes are included in 
other operating expenses. The tax for the financial period is calculated using the 
tax rates (and laws) that are prescribed or practically approved by the date of the 
close of the reporting period.

The taxable profit differs from the result reported in the consolidated financial 
statements, because:
- 	 income and expenses may be accounted for and taxed in different years, and/or
- 	 certain income items are not taxable at all or certain expense items not 
	 deductible for tax purposes.

As a rule, deferred tax is recorded in accordance with the debt method:
- 	 from the temporary differences between the carrying amounts and taxable values 
	 of assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial statements, and
- 	 from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for deductible temporary differences only to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable income will arise in the future against which 
United Bankers can take advantage of the temporary difference. The amount of the 
deferred tax asset and the probability of its exploitation are reassessed at the end 
of each reporting period. A deduction is recognised from the carrying amount of a 
deferred tax asset if that tax benefit is no longer considered probable.

Deferred tax liability is usually recorded in the balance sheet in full. However, a 
deferred tax liability is not recognised if it is attributable to:
- 	 the initial recognition of goodwill, or
- 	 the initial recognition of an asset or liability, when it is not related to a business 
	 combination and the transaction at the time of its occurrence has no bearing on 
	 the accounting profit or taxable profit.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for investments in subsidiaries, except when 
United Bankers is able to determine the timing of the unwinding of the temporary dif-
ference, and the temporary difference is unlikely to unwind in the foreseeable future.

10 | INCOME TA XES8.5 ADMINISTR AT IVE EXPENSES 

EUR 1,000 2024 2023

Other personnel expenses -729 -469
IT and communication expenses -2,707 -2,524
Consulting and other services -1,798 -1,663
Marketing and IR expenses -708 -891

Sales and travel expenses -979 -889

Other administrative expenses -593 -552
Total -7,513 -6,988
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined using the tax rates (and tax laws) 
that are likely to be in effect in the period in which the asset is realised or otherwise 
utilised or the liability is settled. The tax rate shall be the one in force on the date 
of the end of the reporting period or the rates for the year following the financial 
period, provided they have been effectively accepted by the date of the reporting 
period in the relevant countries.

10.2 TA XES BASED ON THE TA X ABLE INCOME OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Taxes based on the taxable income of 
the financial year

-6,156 -2,601

Taxes for previous financial periods  6 -1
Change of deferred taxes  1,207 -526
Total -4,943 -3,129

10.3 RECONCIL IAT ION CALCUL AT ION BET WEEN THE TA XES ON INCOME STATEMENT AND THE INCOME TA XES 
CALCUL ATED BY THE TA X R ATE APPLIED IN FINL AND

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Profit (loss) before income taxes  23,382  16,966 
Tax calculated by domestic tax rate (20 per cent)  4,676  3,393 
Effect of foreign tax rates  44 -189
Effect of income not subject to tax -5 -36
Effect of non-deductible expenses  256  104 
Previous years’ losses confirmed in taxation -25 -168
Unrecognised deferred tax assets on taxable losses  1  25 
Taxes for previous financial periods -6  1 
Taxes on income statement  4,943  3,129 

10.4 CHANGES IN DEFERRED TA X ASSETS AND L IABIL IT IES

2024
EUR 1,000 1.1.2024 Recognised in profit and loss Recognised in equity 31.12.2024
Deferred tax assets
Expected credit losses  2 -0  -   1 
Total  2 -0  -   1 

Deferred tax liabilities
Combination of businesses  298 -72  -   226 
Changes in fair value of receivables and investments  2,713 -1,134  -   1,579 
Group eliminations  5 -1  -   5 
Total  3,016 -1,207  -   1,809 
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11 | EARNINGS PER SHARE

11.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing:
-	 the profit for the financial period belonging to the shareholders of 
	 the parent company
-	 by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the financial 
	 period

The Company has only one class of shares.

For the purposes of calculating diluted earnings/loss per share, the weighted av-
erage number of shares is adjusted to take into account the weighted average of 
the matching shares that would have been issued assuming the dilutive effect of 
all potential ordinary shares. The Group’s dilutive potential ordinary shares consist 
mainly of share-based incentives plans and corporate arrangements.

11.2 EARNINGS PER SHARE

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Financial year profit attributable to equity holders of 
parent company

 18,042  13,289 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during financial period (pcs)

10,863,231 10,745,276

Undiluted earnings per share  
(EUR / share)

1.66  1.24 

Financial year profit attributable to equity holders of 
parent company

 18,042  13,289 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during financial period adjusted by dilution (pcs)

10,979,914 10,787,002

Diluted earnings per share (EUR / share)  1.64  1.23 

Changes in number of shares in financial periods 2023-2024 have been presented 
in Note 26. Equity.

2023
EUR 1,000 1.1.2023 Recognised in profit and loss Recognised in equity 31.12.2023
Deferred tax assets
Expected credit losses  3 -1  -   2 
Total  3 -1  -   2 

Deferred tax liabilities
Combination of businesses  370 -72  -   298 
Changes in fair value of receivables and investments  2,115  598  -   2,713 
Group eliminations  6 -0  -   5 
Total  2,491  525  -   3,016 

10.5 TA X LOSSES OF THE GROUP

EUR 1,000 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
Losses confirmed in taxation, unrecognised deferred tax asset 722  611 
Total 722  611 
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12 | CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND L IABIL IT IES

12.1 FINANCIAL ASSETS

United Bankers classifies financial assets into the following categories:
- financial assets to be recognised at fair value through profit or loss
- financial assets to be recognised at amortised cost.

Financial assets are classified at the time of the initial acquisition based on the 
purpose of their acquisition. The classification is based on the objectives of the 
United Bankers’ business model and the contractual cash flows of financial assets.

All purchases and sales of financial assets are recorded on the date of the transac-
tion. Transaction costs are included in the initial carrying amount of financial assets 
in the case of an item that is not valued at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
assets valued at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at fair value at their 
original recognition and transaction costs are recognised immediately in the income 
statement. The recognition of financial assets from the balance sheet occurs when 
the Group has lost its contractual right to cash flows or when it has transferred a 
significant part of the risks and income outside the Group.

Financial assets entered at amortised cost

The Group classifies as financial assets valued at amortised cost financial assets 
whose business model is designed to hold financial assets and to collect cash flows 
pertaining to same, consisting exclusively of capital and interest payments. At initial 
recognition, United Bankers recognises receivables valued at amortised cost at fair 
value. Receivables from credit institutions, the public and public corporations, as 
well as trade receivables, are recorded at amortised cost. The Group’s receivables 
primarily consist of brokerage receivables related to the Group’s and/or customers’ 
securities transactions and fee receivables.

The Group recognises a deduction of expected credit losses from the financial 
assets recognised at amortised cost. The calculation of expected credit losses 
and the amounts recognised during the financial period are described in Note 27 
Group risks and managing same. All realised credit losses are recognised in profit 
or loss. United Bankers has not recorded any significant actualised credit losses 
during the financial period.

Financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or loss

United Bankers classifies at fair value, through profit or loss, financial assets that are 
acquired for holding for trading or that it classifies at fair value at the time of initial 
recognition as being recognised in profit or loss. The Group classifies investments 
in equity instruments, such as investments in shares and participations and mutual 
fund units, as financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or loss. The 
Group classifies investments in bonds, commercial papers and other certificates of 
receivables at fair value to be recognised in profit or loss. The Group has classified 
private equity investments in limited partnerships, in which the Group acts as the 
general partner, into items recognised at fair value through profit or loss. Gains and 
losses, dividends, interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses, and capital 

gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise.

12.2 FINANCIAL L IABIL IT IES

United Bankers classifies financial liabilities into the following categories:
-	 financial liabilities valued at amortised cost, and
-	 financial liabilities valued at fair value through profit or loss.

In connection with the initial recognition, the Group recognises the financial liability 
at fair value. In the case of financial liabilities other than those recognised at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to it are added to 
or deducted from the item. Financial liabilities valued at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognised at fair value at the time of initial recognition. Transaction costs 
are recognised as an expense immediately.

Financial liabilities are written off the balance sheet when the liability has ceased to 
exist, i.e., the Group’s obligation has been fulfilled, cancelled or otherwise expired.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities classified at amortised cost are valued using the effective interest 
method. The financial liabilities recognised in the Group’s amortised cost consist 
of liabilities to credit institutions, lease liabilities and trade payables. Financial 
debt is classified as short-term unless United Bankers has an unconditional right 
to postpone the settlement of the debt for at least 12 months from the date of the 
end of the reporting period. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if 
they fall due within 12 months.

Financial liabilities entered at fair value through profit or loss

The Group has not classified financial liabilities at fair value to be valued in profit 
or loss. Additional purchase prices arising from the combination of businesses are 
valued at fair value through profit or loss.

12.3 VALUAT ION AT FA IR VALUE

The fair value of an asset or liability is the price that would be obtained from the 
sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of a liability between market participants in 
a normal transaction carried out on the valuation date. The fair value of a financial 
instrument is determined either by means of quotations from active markets or, in 
the absence of functioning markets, by using the Group’s valuation methods. Fair 
values are classified as follows at the different levels of the fair values hierarchy:

-	 Level 1: Fair values are based on unadjusted price quotations published in 
	 an active market.
-	 Level 2: quoted prices other than those at level 1 that can be observed for 
	 the asset or liability in question, either directly (i.e., as price) or indirectly 
	 (i.e., derived from prices).
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-	 Level 3: input data on an asset or liability that is not based on observable 
	 market data.

Level 1: the price source to be used may, for instance, be the stock exchange rate, 
actual trades or purchase quotations in the functioning market for certificates of 
receivables, and published NAV values for fund investments, for which subscrip-
tions and redemptions are carried out.

Level 2: This level entails the classification of receivables in purchase quotations or 
valuation models when quotations or parameters of valuation models are available 
in markets that are not fully functional.

Level 3: This level includes investments in closed-end private equity funds and in 
open-end funds whose investments are not sufficiently liquid to be classified at 
level 1 or 2. Level 3 funds are valued at the NAV values reported by the manage-
ment company. Unlisted shares are valued at acquisition cost unless there is an 
indication of impairment or no transactions have been carried out with the share. 
Some receivables are also classified in this category, if there are no quotations or 
price parameters of valuation models available in a sufficiently functioning market 
that would meet the level 2 criteria.

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities valued at amortised cost is 
deemed to correspond to the fair value.

12.4 CL ASSIFICAT ION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND L IABIL IT IES

Classification of financial assets and liabilities is presented in the table below.

2024
EUR 1,000

Measured at amortised 
cost

Fair valued through profit 
and loss

Total carrying 
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  0  -   0  0 - - -
Claims on credit institutions  13,330  -   13,330  13,330 - - -
Claims on public and public-sector 
entities

 3  -   3  3 - - -

Debt securities  -   1,844  1,844  1,844 -  1,180  664 
Shares and units  -   22,764  22,764  22,764  14,644  -   8,120 
Accounts receivable  7,242 -  7,242  7,242 - - -
Total 20,575 24,608  45,183  45,183  14,644  1,180  8,784 

EUR 1,000
Valued at amortised 

cost
Fair valued through profit 

and loss
Total carrying 

amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  
Accounts payable and other short-term 
liabilities

 11,243  -   11,243  11,243  -   -   -  

Lease liabilities  1,282  -   1,282  1,282  -   -   -  
Total  12,525  -   12,525  12,525  -   -   -  
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2023
EUR 1,000

Measured at amortised 
cost

Fair valued through profit 
and loss

Total carrying 
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  0 -  0  0 - - -
Claims on credit institutions  9,352 -  9,352  9,352 - - -
Claims on public and public-sector 
entities

 4 -  4  4 - - -

Debt securities -  1,239  1,239  1,239 -  449  790 
Shares and units -  8,220  8,220  8,220  3,068 -  5,152 

Accounts receivable  7,848 -  7,848  7,848 - - -

Total 17,204 9,459  26,663  26,663  3,068  449  5,942 

EUR 1,000
Valued at amortised 

cost
Fair valued through profit 

and loss
Total carrying 

amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions  -  -  -   -  - - -
Accounts payable and other short-term 
liabilities

 11,344 -  11,344  11,344 - - -

Lease liabilities  1,896 -  1,896  1,896 - - -
Total  13,240  -   13,240  13,240  -   -   -  

During the financial period no transfers took place between the levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Breakdown of financial assets categorised in level 3

Recognised at fair value through profit and loss

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Financial assets
	 Debt securities 664 790
	 Private equity funds 3,480 2,626
	 AIFs 4,516 2,419
	 Unlisted shares and units 124 108
Total 8,784 5,942

Reconciliation of financial assets categorised in level 3

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Opening balance, 1 Jan 5,942 3,319
Purchases  14,804  12,730 
Sales -12,146 -10,369
Change in fair value - profit and loss 183 263
Ending balance, 31 Dec 8,784 5,942
Unrealised gains and losses through profit and loss 
(cumulative)

406 630
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14 | CL A IMS ON CREDIT INST ITUT IONS

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Repayable on demand
	 From domestic credit institutions 9,015 6,740
	 From foreign credit institutions 4,316 2,613
Effect of expected credit losses -1 -1
Total repayable on demand  13,330  9,352 

Expected credit losses EUR 0.6 thousand (EUR 0.5 thousand) are deducted from 
claims on credit institutions. Accounting policy for expected credit losses is de-
scribed in Note 27. Group risks and managing same.  

15 | CL A IMS ON PUBLIC AND PUBLIC-SECTOR ENT IT IES

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Loan receivables 3 4
Total 3  4 

13 | CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group comprise cash on hand.

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Cash and cash equivalents 0 0
Total 0  0 

16 | DEBT SECURIT IES

Issued by other than public-sector entities 2024
EUR 1,000 Publicly quoted Other Total
Fair valued through profit and loss
	 Bonds issued by banks  -  664  664 
	 Other debt securities  -  1,180 1,180
of which classified as held for trading
	 Bonds issued by banks  -   664  664 
	 Other debt securities  -   1,180 1,180
Total  -   1,844  1,844 

Issued by other than public-sector entities 2023
EUR 1,000 Publicly quoted Other Total
Fair valued through profit and loss
	 Bonds issued by banks  -  790  790 
	 Other debt securities  -  449 449
of which classified as held for trading    
	 Bonds issued by banks  -   790  790 
	 Other debt securities  -   449 449
Total  -   1,239  1,239 
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17 | SHARES AND UNITS

2024
EUR 1,000 Publicly quoted Other Total
Valued at fair value through profit and loss
	 Held for trading  14,644  4,515 19,159
	 Other shares and units  -  3,605 3,605
Total  14,644  8,120  22,764 

2023
EUR 1,000 Publicly quoted Other Total
Valued at fair value through profit and loss
	 Held for trading  3,068  2,418 5,486
	 Other shares and units  -  2,734 2,734
Total  3,068  5,152  8,220 

Items in publicly quoted consist mainly investments to stock markets or open ended funds of the Group and other items are mainly investments to closed ended private 
equity funds or unlisted shares.

18 | INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

The intangible assets of the Group comprise the following items: goodwill, customer 
relationships and other intangible assets (IT programs).

Goodwill

Goodwill is the amount by which the consideration provided, the portion of non-con-
trolling interests and the fair value of the interest previously owned in the object 
of the acquisition, combined, exceeds the fair value of the identifiable net assets. 
Goodwill reflects, inter alia, the expected future synergies from the acquisitions. 
Goodwill is not amortised, but, rather, it is tested for potential impairment annually 
and whenever there is an indication that the value may be impaired, see Note 18.3. 
Goodwill is measured at its initial cost less any impairment.

Other intangible assets

Intangible asset is capitalised in the balance sheet only if it is probable that the 
expected future economic benefit of the asset will flow to United Bankers and the 
cost of the asset can be reliably determined. An intangible asset with a limited useful 
life is initially capitalised in the balance sheet at its initial cost and depreciations 
are allocated on a systematic basis as an expense during the expected useful life. 
All the other costs are recognised as an expense, once incurred.

The useful economic life of customer relationships acquired in business com-
binations has been assessed as two to ten years. Depreciations are allocated as 
straight-line depreciation over the useful life.

The other intangible assets of the Group encompass primarily IT programs the eco-
nomic useful life of which is five years. Depreciations are allocated as straight-line 
depreciation over the useful life.

United Bankers reviews the depreciation schedules and methods no less than at 
the end of each financial period. If the useful economic life of an asset differs from 
previous estimations, the depreciation schedule is adjusted accordingly. Changes 
can be attributable, for instance, to technological advances or changes in demand 
or in the competitive landscape.

Impairment of other intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there are indica-
tions that the value of an intangible asset other than goodwill has been impaired. If 
there are any indications, United Bankers will estimate the recoverable amount of 
that asset. Recoverable amount is the fair value of the asset less the sales cost or 
its higher value in use. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In connection with the 
recognition of the impairment, the Group remeasures the economic useful life of the 
tangible asset. The impairment is reversed, if the circumstances have changed and 
the recoverable amount of the asset has altered since the recognition of impairment. 
However, impairment is not reversed by more than what the carrying amount of the 
asset would be without recognising the impairment.
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Research and development costs

Research expenses are recognised as an expense in the income statement. De-
velopment costs are capitalised in the balance sheet as intangible assets once the 
development phase costs are reliably determinable, product finalisation is tech-
nically feasible, the Group is able to either utilise or sell the product, the Group is 

able to demonstrate how the product will generate future economic benefits and the 
Group has both the intention and the resources to finalise the development work and 
either use the product or sell it. Previously recognised research expenses are not 
subsequently capitalised in the balance sheet. In relation to assets, depreciations 
are recognised once it is ready to be used. An asset that is not yet available for use, 
is tested for impairment annually.

18.2 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill Customer relationships Other intangible assets Total
2024 2023 2024 2022 2024 2023 2024 2023

Acquisition cost
Opening balance, 1 Jan  15,593  15,593  4,009  4,009  9,838  7,447  13,846  11,456 
Additions  -   -   -   -   2,332  2,391  2,332  2,391 
Disposals  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  
Ending balance, 31 Dec  15,593  15,593  4,009  4,009  12,170  9,838  16,179  13,846 

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment
Opening balance, 1 Jan -  -  -2,518 -2,156 -5,228 -4,198 -7,747 -6,354
Depreciation for the period -  -  -362 -362 -1,490 -1,031 -1,853 -1,393
Impairments - -  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Ending balance, 31 Dec - - -2,881 -2,518 -6,719 -5,228 -9,599 -7,747

Carrying amount, 1 Jan  15,593  15,593  1,490  1,852  4,609  3,249  6,099  5,102 
Carrying amount, 31 Dec  15,593  15,593  1,128  1,490  5,451  4,609  6,579  6,099 

Customer relationships have been recognised in connection with the acquisition of the wealth management business of Suomen Pankkiiriliike and KJK Capital. Other in-
tangible assets are largely purchases related to IT programs.

18.3 IMPAIRMENT TEST ING -  GOODWILL

Accounting policy

Goodwill is allocated for impairment testing to those cash flow generating units, or 
groups of cash flow generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the combination that generated the goodwill. The cash flow generating unit is the 
smallest identifiable group of assets of United Bankers that generates cash flows 
that are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets or groups of assets.

Impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of cash flow generating 
unit exceeds the recoverable amount of the unit. The recoverable amount is the fair 
value of an asset or cash flow generating unit less the expenses attributable to the 
disposal, or value in use, depending on which one is greater. United Bankers de-
fines the recoverable amount based on value in use. Future cash flows are based 
on assets under management in Wealth Management, which are affected inter 
alia by the market development. In Capital Markets services, future cash flows are 
significantly affected by the number of transactions and the related success fees. 
Estimates are based on the management views of the aforementioned. The impair-
ment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed.

Assumptions and uncertainty factors related to estimations

At each reporting date, United Bankers’ management assesses whether there are 
any indications of impairment in goodwill (or in any other intangible or tangible 
asset or right-of-use asset). Indications are assessed with indicators that consider 
economic performance, such as reporting by the Group management or monitor-
ing of the economic environment and markets. Indications can include, inter alia:
- unexpected changes in the assumptions of the testing calculations
- changes in market conditions

In impairment testing, United Bankers has determined the recoverable amount of 
a cash generating unit based on value in use. The cashflow projections used in 
testing are based on approved forecasts of the management that cover a period of 
three years. The cashflows after the forecast period have been extrapolated by a 
growth rate of 3 per cent.
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Distribution of goodwill for segments

EUR 1,000 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
Wealth Management 15,093 15,093
Capital Market Services 500 500
Total 15,593 15,593

Key variables in the determination of the value in use were 
the following:

-	 Cashflows have been expected to be allocated linearly during the year in 
	 the cashflow calculation.
-	 Investments have been accrued in the calculation by the level of the previous 
	 years increased by growth and known future investments. The demand for 
	 working capital is not expected to increase significantly.
-	 Discount rate: The discount rate has been determined based on the weighted 
	 average cost of capital (WACC). The pre-tax discount rate of Wealth manage- 
	 ment was 12.5 per cent (12.5 per cent) and the discount rate after tax 10.0 per 
	 cent (10.0 per cent). The pre-tax discount rate of Capital Market Services was 
	 15.6% (12.5%) and the discount rate after tax 12.5% (10,0%).
-	 Growth rate of cash flows d uring the forecast period: During the three-year 
 	 forecast period, cash flows of Wealth Management business segment have 
	 been estimated to grow at a rate of approximately 6.5 per cent annually and 
	 cash flows of Capital Markets Services business segment have been estimated 
	 to turn positive. Cashflows at terminal value after the forecast period have 
	 been extrapolated by 3 per cent growth in both segments. The rate can be 
	 justified by the short three-year period employed in the calculation.

Impairment testing is carried out annually and the most recent impairment test 
was carried out of the situation as at 31 December 2024. Based on the impairment 
testing, the Group considers that no need for the impairment of goodwill has been 
identified.

Sensitivity analysis

Calculations used in goodwill impairment testing require the management to make 
forward-looking assessments. Assessments of the management and the critical 
uncertainty factors associated with same relate to the defining of parameters con-
cerning calculations of the recoverable amount. United Bankers’ management has 
assessed the recoverable amount of the Wealth Management and Capital Markets 
Services business segments and assessed the key variables in the cashflow mod-
el. Based on a reasonable assessment, the relatively feasible change in any of the 
parameters would not result in the recognition of any material impairment losses. 

In connection with goodwill testing, the sensitivity of cash flow models to changes 
in various parameters, for instance, changes in the discount rate or terminal value, 
has been assessed. or instance, the discount rate could increase by 20% or the 
terminal value decrease by 100% and there would be no need for impairment. In 
goodwill testing, the future cash flows of Capital Market Services are expected to 
turn positive. The market value of the company as at 31 December 2024 was ap-
proximately EUR 195.1 million and the total balance sheet of the Group amounted 
to EUR 88.5 million. 

19 | TANGIBLE ASSETS

19.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

The tangible assets acquired by the Group are initially measured at their cost. Initial 
cost includes those expenses that occur due to the acquisition of the asset, including 
installation expenses. After the initial recognition, a tangible asset is presented in 
the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Conven-
tional repair and maintenance costs are recognised as an expense in the financial 
period during which they have occurred.

The depreciable amount of tangible assets is entered as straight-line depreciation 
over the asset’s useful economic lives that are the following:

-	 Office equipment and furniture: 5 or 8 years
-	 IT equipment: 5 years
-	 Other tangible assets (office renovation expenses): 5 years

The estimated economic lives and residual values are reviewed no less than at the 
end of each reporting period, and if they differ materially from the previous estimates, 
depreciation periods are adjusted accordingly. The recording of depreciations is 
ceased when the asset is recognised as being held for sale. The Group assesses at 
the end of each reporting period whether there are indications of any impairment 

in the value of the assets. In case such indications are detected, United Bankers 
estimates the future recoverable amount of the asset. Impairment is recognised 
when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

Gains and losses incurred from disposals and retiring of tangible assets are cal-
culated as the difference between the net gains received and carrying amount. 
Gains and losses on sales are recognised in Other operating income and Other 
operating expenses.

Impairment of other tangible assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there are indications 
of the impairment of the value of an asset. If such indications are detected, United 
Bankers estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. The recoverable amount is 
the fair value of the asset less costs to sell or any higher value in use. Impairment is 
recognised in the income statement when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. At the recognition of impairment, the Group remeasures the 
economic useful life of the tangible asset. Impairment is reversed, if circumstanc-
es have changed and the recoverable amount of the asset has changed since the 
recognition of the impairment. However, impairment is not reversed by more than 
what the carrying amount of the asset would be without recognising the impairment.



139

19.2 TANGIBLE ASSETS

EUR 1,000
Office equipment, furniture 

and IT equipment Office renovation expenses Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Acquisition cost
Opening balance, 1 Jan  1,438  1,172  1,807  1,217  3,244  2,389 
Additions  17  266  26  589  43  855 
Disposals  -  -  -   -   -   -  
Ending balance, 31 Dec  1,455  1,438  1,832  1,807  3,287  3,244 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Opening balance, 1 Jan -973 -856 -1,201 -1,049 -2,174 -1,906
Depreciation for the period -116 -117 -155 -152 -270 -269
Ending balance, 31 Dec -1,089 -973 -1,356 -1,201 -2,445 -2,174

Carrying amount, 1 Jan  464  315  605  168  1,070  483 
Carrying amount, 31 Dec  366  464 476  605  842  1,070 

Right-of-use assets  1,218  1,828 
Total tangible assets  2,060  2,898 

Notes concerning the leased right-of-use assets of the Group have been presented in Note 20. Leases.

20 | LEASES

20.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

The Group has leased mainly business premises, warehouses and employee apart-
ments. As a rule, United Bankers recognises in its balance sheet all assets related 
to leases (right-of-use assets) and lease liabilities. Exceptions from this are short-
term leases and leases for low-value assets, the accounting treatment of which is 
described below. At the time of the conclusion of the contract, the Group assesses 
whether the contract is a lease or whether it includes a lease. A contract is a lease 
or includes a lease if the agreement confers a right to control the use of an identi-
fied asset item for a fixed period against consideration.

United Bankers recognises the right-of-use asset and the lease liability at the in-
ception of the contract. Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, which 
includes:
- 	 the amount of the lease liability at the original valuation
- 	 rents paid up to the commencement of the contract, less any incentives received 
	 in connection with the lease (e.g., months for which the lessor does not charge 
	 rent);
- 	 any initial direct costs incurred by United Bankers, and
- 	 an estimate of the costs incurred by United Bankers from restoring the item 
	 into its original state.
 

After the commencement of the contract, right-of-use assets are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. They are adjusted for certain 
items arising from the remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation of right-
of-use assets is recognised on a straight-line basis from the commencement of 
the contract, either over the useful life of the right-of-use asset or over the lease 
term. The estimated lease period for leases in force until further notice, pertain-
ing to United Bankers’ premises, is five years. If necessary, the right-of-use asset 
is tested for impairment and any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

Initially, a lease liability is valued at the present value of lease payments that have 
not been paid at the inception of the lease. The Group applies the interest rate of 
United Bankers’ additional credit as the discount rate. The leases included in the 
value of the lease liability consist of the following items:
- 	 flat-rate charges, including de facto flat-rate charges,
- 	 variable rents, which depend on the index or price level and are initially 
	 determined on the basis of the index or price level at the date of 
	 commencement of the contract;
- 	 the amounts expected to be paid by the lessee on the basis of the residual 
	 value guarantees, and
- 	 the strike price of a call option, if it is reasonably certain that United Bankers 
	 will exercise that option.
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Subsequently, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. The lease liability is reassessed when there has been a change 
in future lease payments due to a change in the index or price level, if the Group 
estimates that the expected residual value will change or if the Group changes its 
estimate of whether it intends to exercise a buy, extension or termination option. 
When a lease liability is reassigned in this way, a corresponding adjustment is 
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or it is recognised in profit 
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset had been reduced to zero.

United Bankers has decided not to recognise in the balance sheet right-of-use as-
sets and lease liabilities that pertain to:
-	 short-term leases (with a maximum rental period of 12 months), and
-	 leases of low-value assets (the value of each such asset when new does not 
	 exceed approximately EUR 5,000).

These assets items consist of leases of business premises and employee apart-
ments classified as short-term. The Group recognises the rental costs related to 
the aforementioned leases as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

20.2 SOLUT IONS BASED ON THE DISCRET ION OF THE 
MANAGEMENT

The treatment of leases under IFRS 16 requires the use of management’s estimates 
and assumptions, including factors related to the determination of the lease term, 
in the assessment of lease contracts in force until further notice and in determining 
the discount rate to be applied. The Group’s most essential lease agreement for the 
head office is valid until further notice and can be terminated with less than 1 year’s 
notice. Management has estimated that the Company will continue to operate in 
the said premises. The Group estimates the lease period at the time of reporting, 
unless amendments are made to the agreement for other reasons.

The Group reassessed the lease period on 31 December 2021 and stated that 
the Company will remain in the business premises for the foreseeable future. The 
lease liability was updated to correspond to the 5-year estimate and the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset was adjusted by the corresponding value at the 
end of the financial period 2021. The Group will next assess the lease period as 
the 5-year period draws to a close, unless amendments are made to the agreement 
for other reasons.

20.3 TANGIBLE ASSETS ACQUIRED BY LEASES
Business premises

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Acquisition cost 1.1. 4,829 4,642
Additions / disposals / remeasurement -1  187 
Acquisition cost 31.12.  4,828  4,829 
Depreciation of the financial period -609 -547
Accumulated depreciation 31.12. -3,000 -2,453
Carrying amount 31.12.  1,218  1,828 

Tangible assets acquired by leases are business premises and they are recognised 
on the row Tangible assets of the consolidated balance sheet. Carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset was adjusted by the change of lease liability at the end of 
the financial period 31.12.2024.

20.4 LEASE L IABIL IT IES

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Less than one year  632  613 
Exceeding one year but less than five years  651  1,283 
Total  1,282  1,896 

Value of lease liability was remeasured as at 31.12.2024 to correspond realised 
index increased rents of fiscal year 2025. Discount rate used, the original interest 
rate of United Bankers’ additional credit, was 2,0%. Lease liabilities are presented 
on the row Other liabilities of the consolidated balance sheet. Maturity analysis of 
lease liabilities has been presented in Note 27. Group risks and managing same.

20.5 ITEMS RECOGNISED THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Lease expenses of short-term leases (included 
in items Other administrative expenses and Other 
operating expenses)

-166 -187

Depreciation of right-of-use assets by asset group 
(business premises) (included in item Depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment)

-609 -547

Lease interest expenses (included in item Interest 
expenses)

-38 -45

20.6 ITEMS RECOGNISED ON CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Total outgoing cash flow due to leases -651 -581 
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21 | OTHER ASSETS

22 | ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAYMENTS

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Items due to interests 503 469
Tax receivables 386 418
Other accrued income and prepayments 929 830
Total  1,818  1,716 

23 | L IABIL IT IES TO CREDIT INST ITUT IONS

The Group has at its disposal a credit line of EUR 7 million, which at the end of the 
financial period 2024 remained undrawn. 	

24 | OTHER L IABIL IT IES

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Accounts payable of securities 19 0
Brokerage payables of securities 5,732 7,150
Lease liabilities 1,282 1,896
Tax liabilities 65 239
Fee and commission liabilities 3,368 2,187
Other liabilities  2,104  2,007 
Total 12,571 13,479

Other liabilities encompass mainly short-term accounts payable.

25 | ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Items due to interests  1,223  1 
Personnel related  7,128  6,837 
Tax liabilities  4,247  1,217 
Total 12,598 8,055

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Accounts receivable of securities 725 170
Brokerage receivables of securities 5,732 7,150
Other assets 18,028 23,677
Total  24,485  30,997 

Other assets include mainly fee receivables from funds, business partners and 
customers.
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26 | EQUIT Y

26.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

The Group classifies its instruments based on their nature as equity or a financial 
liability:

-	 An equity instrument is any agreement that evidences entitlement to a portion 
	 of United Bankers’ assets after all its liabilities have been deducted.

-	 Financial liability is an instrument that obligates United Bankers to hand over 
	 cash or cash equivalents, or the holder of which has the right to demand cash 
	 or cash equivalents from United Bankers.

26.2 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE CL ASSES

Accounting policy

Share capital encompasses the parent company’s ordinary shares classified as 
shareholders’ equity. Share subscription prices received in connection with share 
issues are recognised in share capital to the extent it has not been decided in the 
share issue resolution that the subscription price is to be recognised in the un-
restricted equity fund. The transaction costs incurred from issues of new shares 
are recognised in equity as a deduction from received payments and adjusted by 
the tax effects.

The Company has only one class of shares.

The shares do not have any nominal value. All outstanding shares have been fully 
paid.

Changes in share amount and equity of the Group

Below table describes the changes in pieces of the shares and corresponding changes in equity of the Group.

2024 Pieces EUR 1,000
Share capital Reserve for non-restricted equity

1 January 2024 10,773,043  5,464 22,901
Addition in financial year  190,000  -   2,963 
Deduction in financial year  -   -  -5,472
31 December 2024 10,963,043 5,464 20,392

Total dividend of EUR 5,386 thousand and an equity repayment from reserve for non-restricted equity of EUR 5,472 thousand has been distributed in financial year 2024.

2023 Pieces EUR 1,000
Share capital Reserve for non-restricted equity

1 January 2023 10,693,955  5,464 24,606
Addition in financial year  79,088  -   -  
Deduction in financial year  -   -  -1,704
31 December 2023 10,773,043 5,464 22,901

Total dividend of EUR 8,073 thousand and an equity repayment from reserve for non-restricted equity of EUR 1,631 thousand has been distributed in financial year 2023.
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26.3 TREASURY SHARES

Accounting policy

Compensation paid for the treasury shares and the immediate costs for the transac-
tions, adjusted by tax effects, are deducted from equity until the shares are invalidat-
ed or they are re-issued. If the aforementioned treasury shares are subsequently sold 
onwards, or they are re-issued, the compensation received is recognised directly 
as equity, less any immediate transaction costs and tax effects.

The Company has acquired a total of 32,020 treasury shares for a total of EUR 576 
thousand euros during the financial period 2024. At the end of the financial period, 
the Company held a total of 29,858 (18,716) treasury shares whose acquisition 
value amounted to EUR 531 thousand euros (277 thousand euros).

Authorisations of the Board of Directors 

Authorisations of the Board of Directors to resolve on the issuance of 
shares

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 22 March 2024 authorised the Board 
of Directors to decide on the issuance of shares and special rights entitling to 
shares pursuant to Chapter 10, Section 1 of the Companies Act in one or more 
lots. The number of shares to be issued based on the authorisation shall not exceed 
700,000 shares, which on the day of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
corresponded to approximately 6.49 per cent of all the shares in the company. The 
authorisation shall remain in force until the adjournment of the next Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders, however latest until 30 June 2025. As at 31 December 
2024, 510,000 shares have not been utilized of the authorization.              

Authorisations of the Board of Directors to resolve on the
repurchase of the Company’s own shares

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 22 March 2024 authorized the Board 
of Directors to decide on the repurchase and/or on the acceptance as pledge of the 
company’s own shares. The number of own shares to be repurchased and/or ac-
cepted as pledge shall not exceed 150,000 shares, which on the day of the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders corresponded to approximately 1.39 per cent of 
all the shares in the company. Only the unrestricted equity of the company can be 
used to repurchase own shares on the basis of the authorisation. The authorisation 
shall remain in force until the adjournment of the next Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders, however, latest until 30 June 2025. In year 2024, the Company uti-
lized 29,139 shares of the authorisation, thus as at end of financial year, 120,861 
shares have not been utilized of the authorization.  

26.4 RESERVES

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity includes other equity investments and 
the subscription price of shares to the extent it is not entered in share capital.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings are earnings cumulated from the previous financial periods that 
have not been transferred to other equity reserves or distributed as to the share-
holders as dividends.

26.5 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objective of the Group’s capital management is to create an efficient capital 
structure that ensures normal operating conditions and growth possibilities for the 
Group, as well as to ensure capital adequacy in relation to the risks of the business. 
The management of United Bankers follows the credit and market risks of the po-
sitions, capital adequacy and liquidity as part of the balance sheet control. Further 
information on capital management is available in the Note 27. Group risks and 
managing same and the Capital Adequacy section of the annual report.



144

27 | GROUP R ISKS AND MANAGING SAME

Risk management refers to the identification, assessment, measurement, limitation, 
prevention and monitoring of risks arising from business operations and materially 
associated with same. Risk management aims to reduce the likelihood of unfore-
seen losses or reputational threats, to ensure the adequacy of own funds relative to 
risk positions and thus to contribute to ensuring the execution of the strategy and 
the objectives set. The aim is also to promote the financial security of customers. 
Internal control constitutes a part of management, administration and daily work. 
Internal control refers to all measures undertaken within the United Bankers Group 
to ensure the attainment of the set targets and business operations that are efficient, 
economical, reliable and as uninterrupted as possible.

Organisation and roles of control activities

The Board of Directors of United Bankers Plc bears overall responsibility for organ-
ising internal control. The responsibilities of internal control and the tasks of the 
different parties involved can be described with the aid of three lines of defense. 
Each line of defense and each party in same plays their own part in the internal 
control system.

The first line of defense consists of business units. The heads of business units are 
responsible for the practical implementation of the day-to-day business operations 
and the related risk management. The business units participate in the identifica-
tion and assessment of the risks of their own operations and in the implementation 
of related risk management measures. Internal control is part of every employee’s 
daily job description.

The second line of defence consists of the risk management and compliance func-
tion. The task of the second line of defence is to monitor and support the first line 
of defence in internal control and risk anticipation, as well as in mitigating the 
impact of the risks that have materialised. In addition, the second line of defence 
maintains and develops internal control and risk management methods, proposes 
improvements to the principles of risk management and monitors the implementa-
tion of principles and methods. Material changes in the risk profile detected by the 
second line of defence are reported to the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee 
and the Management Team.

The third line of defence comprised the internal audit. The internal auditor’s task 
is to assess the status of the internal control of the business functions and of the 
second line of defence and to produce information and proposals for measures for 
the management and the Board of Directors to enhance the efficiency of business 
operations and monitoring. The United Bankers Group does not have its own sepa-
rate internal audit function. In the United Bankers Group, the internal audit function 
is organised as an outsourced service, managed by a third-party reputable operator 
selected by the Company’s Board of Directors. In 2024, KPMG Oy Ab was respon-
sible for the internal audit. In addition to internal audit, the external audit operates 
in the third line of defence. 

The Board of Directors of United Bankers Plc bears overall responsibility for arrang-
ing risk management. The Board of Directors defines the objectives of risk manage-
ment, the limits of risk-taking, responsibilities, indicators and control principles. 

The Board of Directors adopts the principles and plans steering risk management 
on an annual basis and oversees compliance with same. The Board of Directors 
regularly monitors the state of risk management and the development of key risks 
and has appointed an Audit Committee to assist the Board of Directors in ensuring 
that the United Bankers Group has in place an adequate internal control system 
encompassing its entire operations, to ensure the Company’s risk management is 
arranged in a due manner and to monitor the financial reporting process.

United Bankers Group’s independent risk management is the responsibility of the 
risk management function. The risk management function assists the management 
and business operations of the Group and its supervised subsidiaries in attaining 
their objectives by providing a systematic approach to the assessment and devel-
opment of the effectiveness of risk management, control and, for instance, man-
agement and administrative processes. The task of the risk management function 
is to ensure and oversee that risk management is at a sufficient level relative to 
the quality, scope, diversity and risks of the business operations of the Group and 
the companies belonging to same. The risk management function oversees daily 
business operations and compliance with the set risk limits and principles for the 
assumption of risk. The risk management function reports its findings regularly to 
the executive management and the Board of Directors.

The Risk Management function coordinates an annual risk assessment of the Group’s 
strategy and Group companies’ operative business, with the aid of which risks 
threatening the set objectives and the business are identified, assessed, measured, 
and methods for managing the probability of risks are determined. Risks assessed 
as pertinent to the operations are recorded in the risk management plan and risk 
management measures are determined for same and the development of the risks 
are followed on a regular basis. The Group’s risks and potential implications are 
also managed through insurances, the currentness of which is assessed annually. 

The Compliance function ensures that United Bankers complies with the legislation 
and the guidelines and regulations issued by the authorities. The function ensures 
that the management and the Board of Directors are aware of any material changes 
in regulations and the possible impact of same on the Group and the companies 
belonging to same. Furthermore, it ensures that the procedures applied in cus-
tomer relationships meet the requirements of the law and official regulations and 
that the requirement of the equal treatment of customers is met. Another key task 
of the Compliance function is to develop and maintain internal guidelines together 
with the business operations, to train personnel, to monitor compliance with the 
guidelines, and to identify, manage and report risks related to non-compliance. The 
Compliance function is steered by the Compliance Policy adopted by the Board of 
Directors and the Annual Action Plan. The Compliance function reports its find-
ings to the executive management and the Board of Directors on a regular basis. 

Internal audit constitutes independent objective assessment and assurance activ-
ity, the purpose of which is to audit the adequacy, effectiveness and efficiency of 
internal control in accordance with the annual plan. The activities of the internal 
audit serve to support the top and executive management, as well as the rest of the 
organisation in achieving the Group’s objectives and developing its operations. In-
ternal Audit reports its audit findings to the Board of Directors. Further information 



145

on the organisation of risk management is available from the Annual Report, under 
the Corporate Governance Statement.

27.1 PRIMARY R ISK AREAS

The United Bankers Group is exposed to the following risks: 

-	 Strategic risks: risks of change in strategic choices, adoption of new 
	 products and services, and business environment
-	 Operational risks: procedural, processual, systemic, information securi-
ty 
	 and data protection risks, as well as risks caused by a third-party
-	 Financial risks: market, liquidity, credit and foreign exchange risks 

27.1.1 Strategic risks

Strategic risk arises from changes in the operating environment, slow response to 
changes in the operating environment or customer behaviour, the wrong choice 
of strategy, capability or change management in the implementation of the strate-
gy, failure to manage partnerships or, for instance, to introduce new products and 
services. Identifying strategic risks and opportunities comprises an integral part 
of United Bankers Group’s strategic planning and continuous business develop-
ment. For instance, the strategy process, the annual risk assessment and product 
development process entails the assessment of strategic risks, identifying actions 
pertaining to the management of same, and assessing their potential impact on 
the United Bankers Group’s overall risk position and the development of, inter alia, 
the capital requirement. Strategic risks have impact to the formation of profit, thus 
strategic risks are aimed to be overseen and managed.

The amount of assets under management has a direct impact upon the amount of 
fee and commission income received by the Group. The amount of assets under 
management is contingent upon new sales and the number of customers lost, the 
success of the investments made, as well as the performance of the market. The 
Group’s fee income is partly dependent on the performance of the equity and fixed 
income markets. The success of the sale of asset management services, funds 
and structured products that are of material relevance for the Group’s business are 
primarily dependent upon the level of general demand for investment services.

The Group’s management strives through its actions to influence the manageability 
of operations and improve profitability through ensuring the efficient organisation 
of business operations, supervising development projects that are of crucial impor-
tance for the business, carrying out strategically and economically sound corporate 
acquisitions, as well as through making successful key recruitments and committing 
existing personnel. The Group’s management can also partially influence new sales 
and the cost structure, for instance, by investing in the continuous development 
of products and services and by focusing on products and service concepts that 
generate steady cash flow. The Group’s management cannot through its actions 
influence the general market performance or the state of the economy.

The Board of Directors and executive management of the United Bankers Group 
seek to identify and manage strategic business risks through proactive planning 
based on estimates and forecasts of geopolitical and market development, the 

competitive landscape, partner status and customer needs assessment. The Board 
of Directors of United Bankers Group reviews the approved Group strategy and the 
related strategic risks on a regular basis.

27.1.2 Financial risks

Financial risk refers to the risk arising from the operating environment and any market 
changes occurring in same. Financial risks include market, liquidity and credit risks. 

27.1.2.1 Market risk

Market risk refers to the possibility of loss due to fluctuations in market prices. 
Categories of market risk include interest rate, foreign exchange and equity risk. 
Market risk also includes potential losses ensuing from changes in risk factors (e.g., 
volatility and correlations).

United Bankers Group’s market risks consist of changes in the market prices of eq-
uity, fixed income, fund and other potential investments, as well as fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates. The primary portion of the United Bankers Group’s market 
risk arises from the price risk of trading books and strategic investments. Invest-
ments in the trading book comprise investments in stocks, bonds or structured in-
vestments that support brokerage. Investments in the trading book are short-term 
in nature. Strategic investments mainly comprise investments in own open funds or 
private equity funds in the form of limited partnerships. Market risks do not have a 
significant impact on United Bankers Plc’s result under normal market conditions. 
The aforementioned market risks must not, under any circumstances, jeopardise 
continuity or profitability.

The Board of Directors of the United Bankers Group adopts the market risk strategy 
annually. The executive management is responsible for the practical implementa-
tion of the market risk strategy. Its management is in turn the responsibility of the 
risk management function. The Board of Directors has imposed limits, inter alia, 
on investments in securities issued by an individual issuer or on the volumes of 
trading stocks and strategic investments. The risk management function reports its 
findings to the executive management and the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

In capital adequacy calculation, the Group’s market risk is measured from posi-
tions related to trading books. In accordance with the minimum capital adequacy 
calculation, the required amount of own funds is reserved to cover market risk. 
The minimum capital adequacy requirement is calculated for the position risk of 
the trading books as well as for the foreign exchange risk of the entire operation. 
Investments classified in the Group’s trading book amounted to EUR 21.0 million 
as at 31 December 2024 (EUR 6.7 million as at 31 December 2023). The minimum 
own funds required for market risk amounted on 31 December 2024 to EUR 3.2 
million (EUR 1.0 million as at 31 December 2023).

The market risk of strategic investments is monitored separately in the capital ad-
equacy calculation. The Group’s strategic investments as at 31 December 2024 
amounted to EUR 3.5 million (EUR 2.7 million as at 31 December 2023). The 
Group classifies mainly the long-term investments in private equity funds as stra-
tegic investments. 
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The exposure of strategic investments to normal fluctuations in market prices has not 
been considered to pose a significant risk to the Group. In a simple sensitivity anal-
ysis a 20% price decrease for investments would have an impact of approximately 
EUR 0.7 million (EUR 0.5 million as at 31 December 2023) on the Group’s result.

Minimum capital adequacy requirement for market risk

2024
EUR 1,000

Original 
exposure value

Risk-weighted 
exposure value

Trading book positions
	 - equity instruments  19,159  38,318 
	 - debt instruments  1,844  1,722 
The currency risk of all operations  155  155 
Total exposure value 21,158 40,195
Minimum capital adequacy requirement 3,216

2023
EUR 1,000

Original 
exposure value

Risk-weighted 
exposure value

Trading book positions
	 - equity instruments  5,486  10,972 
	 - debt instruments  1,239  810 
The currency risk of all operations  569  569 
Total exposure value 7,294 12,351
Minimum capital adequacy requirement 988

Items exposed to currency risk

The Group is exposed mainly to currencies of United States Dollar and Swedish 
Krona.

2024
EUR 1,000 USD SEK
Securities on balance sheet -  -  
Bank accounts  54 89
Total  54 89

2023
EUR 1,000 USD SEK
Securities on balance sheet  2  -  
Bank accounts  14  516 
Total  15  516 

Sensitivity analysis of the changes in currency rates

Executive management of United Bankers Group foresees that as the Group’s ex-
posure to currency rates is insignificant, also the changes of currency rates are 
assessed to have insignificant effect to the financial statements of the Company.

27.1.2.2 Liquidity risk

The Group’s Board of Directors approves the liquidity risk strategy annually. The 
Group’s executive management is responsible for the practical execution of the li-
quidity risk strategy, while the financial administration and risk management function 
are responsible for the management and oversight of the liquidity risk strategy. The 
financial management and risk management function report their findings to the 
executive management and the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

The liquidity risk is the risk of the companies in the United Bankers Group being 
unable able to carry on normal business activities or settle their payment obligations 
as they mature due to the scarcity of liquid assets. In the United Bankers Group, 
liquidity risk arises primarily from the market liquidity risk and/or an increase in 
the cost level.

The Group manages its liquidity risk through liquidity planning, assessment and 
reporting of the liquidity situation, as well as through a properly dimensioned li-
quidity reserve, continuity and contingency planning, and effective and continuous 
liquidity situation management. In terms of liquidity risk, the Group’s risk appetite 
is conservative. In order to secure daily liquidity, the Group endeavours to keep the 
required amount of assets in cash and other liquid assets. In addition, the Group 
has at its disposal overdraft bank accounts.

Pursuant to the Investment Firm Regulation (IFR), investment firms must possess 
liquid assets in an amount of no less than one third of the capital requirement for 
fixed overheads calculated in accordance with IFR. The capital requirement of the 
United Bankers Group calculated on the basis fixed overhead costs is EUR 5.8 mil-
lion and the liquidity requirement calculated on the basis of same amounts to EUR 
1.9 million. As at 31 December 2024, the liquid assets of the United Bankers Group 
amounted to EUR 13.3 million. 
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Following table describes the maturity of financial assets.

31.12.2024

EUR 1,000
less than 3 

months 3-12 months 1-5 years over 5 years Total
Financial assets
Claims on credit institutions  13,330 - - -  13,330 
Claims on public and public-sector entities --  1  2 -  3 
Debt securities  245  75  1,109  415  1,844 
Total  13,576  76  1,111  415  15,177 

31.12.2023

EUR 1,000
less than 3 

months 3-12 months 1-5 years over 5 years Total
Financial assets
Claims on credit institutions  9,352  -   -   -   9,352 
Claims on public and public-sector entities  - 1 3  -   4 
Debt securities  297  89  754  100  1,239 
Total  9,649  90  757  100  10,596 

Following table describes the maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on agreements. The information presented in the table are undiscounted and include both 
interest payments and capital returns.

31.12.2024 Cashflows on the basis of contracts
EUR 1,000 Total less than 2 months 3-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years over 5 years
Liabilities to credit institutions  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Lease liabilities  1,282  105  526  651  -   -  
Brokerage payables of securities  5,732  5,732  -   -   -   -  
Accounts payable and other liabilities  5,556  5,556  -   -   -   -  
Future interest payments on debt  1,262  1,227  21  13  -   -  
Guarantees on behalf of others  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Total  13,832  12,621  548  664  -   -  

31.12.2023 Cashflows on the basis of contracts
EUR 1,000 Total less than 2 months 3-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years over 5 years
Liabilities to credit institutions  -  - - -
Lease liabilities  1,896  102  511  1,283 
Brokerage payables of securities  7,150  7,150 - -
Accounts payable and other liabilities  4,433  4,433 - -
Future interest payments on debt  78  8  32  39 
Guarantees on behalf of others  -  - - -
Total  13,557  11,693  542  1,321 -  -  

The Group has at its disposal a credit line of EUR 7 million, which at the end of the financial period 2024 remained undrawn.
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27.1.2.3 Credit risk

The Board of Directors of the Group adopts the credit risk strategy annually. The 
Group’s executive management is responsible for the practical implementation of 
the credit risk strategy, while the financial administration and risk management 
function are responsible for the management and supervision of the credit risk 
strategy. The Group’s financial administration monitors the credit risk related to 
receivables and any credit risk concentrations. The financial management and risk 
management function report their findings to the executive management and the 
Board of Directors on a regular basis.

Credit risk refers to the risk of a loss that would result from the contractual coun-
terparties and customers of the companies belonging to the United Bankers Group 
being unable to meet their agreed obligations, and the collateral received not secur-
ing the receivables. Credit risk also includes country and settlement risks. Country 
risk is a credit risk associated with foreign receivables allocated by country. The 
settlement risk is a risk associated with the settlement process of losing a receiv-
able that is the subject of the settlement process.

The Group manages its credit risk through, inter alia, lines of credit and margin re-
quirements that are evaluated, for instance, on the basis of the market situation and 
the customer. In the management of clearing risk, the focus is on ensuring the suit-
ability and reliability of counterparties, and the risk is mitigated by means of stand-
ard-form contracts and by centralising the settlements in reliable clearing centres.

Concentration risks

Concentration risk may consist, for instance, of customer risks and risk concen-
trations caused by circumstances ensuing, for instance, from the low number of 
counterparties or customers, the magnitude of any individual transaction or the 
dependence of operations on an individual product or service.

The Board of Directors of the Group has adopted the principles and monitoring 
limits concerning the concentration risk related to customers and the management 
thereof as part of the credit risk management principles. The United Bankers Group 
manages the concentration risk by, inter alia, limiting the exposure value of the 
concentration risk pertaining to an individual customer or a group of customers to 
25% of own funds. Payment transactions as part of financial management monitor 
the concentration risk pertaining to customers on a daily basis.

Expected credit losses

The Group calculates the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) from financial assets valued at 
amortised cost. The expected credit loss illustrates a probability-weighted estima-

tion of materialising credit risks. The expected loss deductible item is recognised 
for receivables from credit institutions and customer receivables, recognised in the 
balance sheet under “Other assets”.

In relation to receivables from credit institutions, the amount of expected credit 
losses (ECL) is calculated using the formula: ECL = liability x probability of a credit 
event x loss arising from the credit event (%). The calculation is conducted using the 
credit institution-specific credit event probabilities available in the market, as well 
as the recovery rates of same. Where these values are not available in the market 
for a specific credit institution, the average of the values of the other credit insti-
tutions are utilised for same. A similar approach is also applied to fee receivables 
from funds and capital transactions.

The Group applies a simplified procedure for determining expected credit losses for 
customer receivables recognised at amortised cost (excl. receivables related to fund 
and capital transactions). In this case, the expected credit losses are recorded in 
an amount that reflects the expected credit loss over the entire term of validity. The 
calculation employs a reserve matrix based on historical data on previously realised 
credit losses in the Group and the Group’s assessment of future financial conditions. 

The Group recognises receivables that are delayed in excess of 90 days as credit 
losses.

Reconciliation of Expected Credit Losses (ECL)

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Carrying amount, 1 Jan 9 15
ECL on claims on credit institutions, change 0 -4
ECL on claims on clients, change -2 -2
Carrying amount, 31 Dec 7 9

Impairment losses on other receivables in the financial period

Changes in expected credit losses and materialised credit losses are recognised 
on profit and loss item “Expected credit losses on loans and other receivables”. 
Below table describes the change of impairment losses in other receivables in the 
financial period.

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
ECL on claims on credit institutions 0 4
ECL on claims on clients 2 2
Materialised credit losses -2  -  
Total 0 6
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Items exposed to credit risk and credit loss allowance

2024  EUR 1,000 Gross value Credit loss percentage Deduction for loss
Claims on credit institutions  13,330 0.00%  -  

Claims on clients
	 Fund and capital markets receivables  9,434 0.01%  1 

	 Brokerage business (not due) 0,1%  5,732 0.10%  6 
	 Matured brokerage receivables -
		  Total  5,732  6 

	 Short-term accounts receivable (not due), 0,1%  469 0.10%  0 
	 Matured -
		  Total  469  0 

Total 28,966 7

2023  EUR 1,000 Gross value Credit loss percentage Deduction for loss
Claims on credit institutions  9,353 0.01%  1 

Claims on clients
	 Fund and capital markets receivables  9,285 0.01%  0 

	 Brokerage business (not due) 0,1%  7,150 0.10%  7 
	 Matured brokerage receivables - - -
		  Total  7,150  7 

	 Short-term accounts receivable (not due), 0,1%  966 0.10%  1 
	 Matured - - -
		  Total  966  1 

Total  26,754  9 

27.1.3 Operational risks

Operational risk refers to the direct or indirect risk of financial loss caused by inad-
equate or failed internal processes, personnel, systems or external factors. Typical-
ly, operational risks include procedural, process, system and information security 
risks, as well as risks caused by third-party. Operational risk can manifest itself, for 
instance, in the form of a loss or deterioration of reputation or trust.

The management of operational risks is viewed in the United Bankers Group as one 
of the most crucial elements of risk management. The Board of Directors of the 
United Bankers Group adopts the principles of operational risk management on an 
annual basis. A group-wide operational risk management procedure process has 
been devised for the identification, assessment, control and reporting of operational 
risks. The Group’s various functions are responsible for identifying and managing 
operational risks in their own segment, relating, for instance, to products, services, 
persons, processes, business partners and systems, and report their findings to the 

risk management function and function’s supervisor through notification platform. 
The significance of the identified risks is assessed, inter alia, on the basis of their 
financial impact and the likelihood of their materialisation. The risk management 
function reports on supervisory findings, measures taken, and overall operative 
risk area development to the executive management and the Board of Directors on 
a regular basis. Reporting of losses caused by operational disruptions and errors, 
as well as by operational risks, to the authorities is carried out in accordance with 
the set requirements.

The starting point for operational risk management is to prevent the materialisation 
of risks and to mitigate the damage caused by risks. Operational risk management 
includes, inter alia, ensuring the functionality of daily work processes and systems 
and adequate controls, monitoring compliance with regulations and internal guide-
lines, training personnel and ensuring the sufficiency of training and expertise, ar-
ranging for information security, oversight of outsourced functions and ascertaining 
the functionality of the approval process for new products and services. In an effort 
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to minimise materialised risks, the Group has also prepared for the risks and mate-
rialisation of same, for instance through insurance arrangements.

Procedural risk is part of operational risk. The objective of the Compliance function 
is to ensure that all subsidiaries of the United Bankers Group comply with laws, 
government guidelines and regulations, market self-regulation and internal policies 
and guidelines. The Compliance function also monitors and ensures that appro-
priate and ethically acceptable principles and practices are abided by in customer 
relationships. In addition to financial and reputational loss, the materialisation of a 
procedural risk can also entail other adverse implications, such as sanctions. The 
responsibility for regulatory compliance and oversight of compliance lies with sen-
ior and executive management as well as all supervisors. Each person employed 
by the United Bankers Group is responsible for their part for complying with the 
regulations and internal guidelines. Procedural risk is managed through monitoring 
the development of legislation, instructing, training and consulting the organisa-
tion on compliance with regulatory procedures, and overseeing compliance of the 
procedures of the organisation with the regulations.

Data protection and security risks comprise a part of the operational risk. The op-
erations of the United Bankers Group are heavily reliant on the exploitation of infor-
mation technology and traffic. The key objective of all operations within the Group 
is the efficient, error-free and secure processing of data in various formats. The 
aim is to ensure the confidentiality, correctness and usability of data at all stages 
of operations. The Board of Directors assesses the level and adequacy of data pro-
tection and security and adopts policies governing same on an annual basis. United 
Bankers Group has appointed an Information Security Officer and a Data Protection 
Officer, who are, for their part, responsible for developing, directing, monitoring 
and maintaining the related guidelines for information security and data protection 
in co-operation with business units, as well as for reporting to the management.

Also risks caused by third-party are considered as operational risks, which may be 
related to operations of external service, external system or other external business 
partner. United Bankers Group has guidelines for the principles to be followed, when 
its business operations are transferred to external parties of the Group. The guide-
line ensures that outsourced operations’ operational risks management and control 
are arranged according to FSA regulations. In addition, United Bankers Group fol-

lows process for identifying counterparties to ensure, inter alia, the reliability, data 
protection and uninterrupted operations of the used third-party service providers.

The capital requirement for operational risks constitutes part of the capital require-
ment imposed upon investment firms, as stipulated for in the Investment Firm Reg-
ulation. The own funds requirement of the United Bankers Group calculated on the 
basis of fixed overhead costs amounted to EUR 5.8 million and the Group’s own 
funds amounted to EUR 20.5 million as at 31 December 2024.

27.2 CONTINUIT Y MANAGEMENT

United Bankers Group has implemented a continuity management process, in 
which continuity threats to business are identified and evaluated on a regular ba-
sis. The process also ensures business continuity in possible disruptions through 
preparations and practices. The objective of continuity plan is to ensure the level 
of operations and customer service, safety of personnel and clients, trust of stake-
holders, tangible and intangible assets and to comply with regulation. In addition to 
the continuity plans to each core business, the requisite recovery plans have been 
devised for the systems, along with a recovery plan setting forth the measures for 
ensuring business continuity in the event of a deterioration in the financial position 
of the United Bankers Group.

27.3 CAPITAL ADEQUACY MANAGEMENT

The United Bankers Group is subject to the following external capital requirements: 
the EU Capital Requirements Directive for Investment Firms (EU 2019/3034 IFD) 
and the Capital Requirements Regulation (EU 2019/2033 IFR) and, where applica-
ble, the EU Capital Requirements Directive (CRD IV) and the Capital Requirements 
Regulation (EU 575/2013 CRR). 
  
The Board of Directors of United Bankers Plc has set a minimum target requirement 
for the solvency of the Group at 13 per cent. As at 31 December 2024, the capital 
adequacy ratio of the Group amounted to 28.4 per cent. Further details concerning 
the capital adequacy and capital adequacy management of the Group are available 
in the capital adequacy section of the Annual Report published by United Bankers.
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28 | OFF BAL ANCE SHEET ITEMS AND COMMITMENTS

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent liability is recognised, when:
-	 United Bankers has a potential obligation that has arisen on account of previous  
	 events and the existence of which is not ascertained until in connection with 
	 a future event that is beyond United Bankers’ control
-	 United Bankers has an existing obligation that has arisen on account of previous 
	 events, but the materialisation of the payment obligation is improbable, or
-	 United Bankers is unable to estimate the amount of the existing obligation with 
	 sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but, rather, they are 
presented as a Note, unless the materialisation of the payment obligation is highly 
improbable.

A contingent asset is recognised, when:
-	 The economic benefit inuring to the benefit of United Bankers is probable but not 
	 practically certain, and
-	 It is dependent on an event that is beyond United Bankers’ control

Contingent assets are presented in the notes. If the materialisation of an income 
item is practically certain, it is recognised in accounting.

As at the date of the financial statements, United Bankers does not have any con-
tingent liabilities or contingent assets.

Given commitments

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
On own behalf
	 Investment commitments 4,313  4,705 
On behalf of others
	 Bank loan guarantees 1,440  1,440 
Total 5,753  6,145 

29 | REL ATED PART Y TR ANSACTIONS

29.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY

Related parties of the Group’s parent company United Bankers Plc include the 
following:
-	 Board of Directors, CEO and management team of the Group as key personnel 
	 belonging to the management of the Group
-	 Entities in which the aforementioned persons exercise control, joint control, 
	 or significant influence
-	 close family members of the above-mentioned persons
-	 its subsidiaries
-	 Subsidiaries’ members of the board of directors, managing directors and their           	
	 controlled entities  

Related party transactions include transactions with related parties that are not 
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements or that are paid for by funds 
managed by same. 

29.2 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OF KE Y PERSONNEL 
BELONGING TO THE MANAGEMENT

The amounts presented in the following tables correspond to the expenses rec-
ognised in the relevant financial years. Salaries include benefits in kind, if any. 
Share-based payments have been recognised through the fees recognised from 

management share-based incentive models. A portion of the compensation has 
been delayed and the final value of same is determined subsequently in connection 
with the confirmation of the remuneration and payments.
 
The management of the Company had the possibility of participating in the per-
sonnel share issue in spring 2024, where personnel was offered the possibility of 
subscribing for shares of the Company at a 10 per cent discount from the market 
price. Shares subscribed for in the personnel share issue confer rights to additional 
shares to be paid subsequently. The number of shares subscribed for and the addi-
tional shares that the management is entitled to are presented below.

The company’s Board of Directors appointed John Ojanperä as the new CEO of 
United Bankers, effective November 1, 2024. Patrick Anderson served as the CEO 
until October 31, 2024. The table below presents the CEO compensation for Patrick 
Anderson from January 1 to October 31, 2024, and for John Ojanperä from November 
1 to December 31, 2024. John Ojanperä did not receive any additional compen-
sation beyond his fixed monthly salary for his tenure as CEO from November 1 to 
December 31, 2024. The share amounts related to the personnel share issue refer 
to the shares subscribed by John Ojanperä.
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CEO

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 183 177
Pensions (contribution plan)  57  63 
Share-based payments 190 146
Total  430  386 

Subscribed shares in employee share issue in 2024, pcs.  3,204  
Gross remuneration of share matching plan, shares, pcs.  1,602  

Board of Directors

Members of the Board of Directors who are not employed by the Group have been 
paid remuneration for their work pursuant to the resolution of the AGM. Members 
of the Board of Directors who are employed by the Group are not compensated for 
their BoD work as their salary expenses are considered to be related to the opera-
tional business, rather than to the work of the Board of Directors. Furthermore, one 
Board member has been compensated for their work as a Board member on the 
Board of Directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Remuneration for BoD work to external BoD members and 
Chairman

154 135

Remuneration paid by group subsidiaries 3 4

Key personnel in management

EUR 1,000 2024 2023
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  943  874 
Pensions (contribution plan)  170  159 
Share-based payments  1,008  674 
Total  2,121  1,707 

Subscribed shares in employee share issue in 2024, pcs.  6,673   
Gross remuneration of share matching plan, shares, pcs.  3,337   

29.3 OTHER REL ATED PART Y TR ANSACTIONS AND OPEN 
BAL ANCES

The company controlled by person related to a Group company, i.e. Quantum Cap-
ital Oy has concluded tied agent agreement and/or insurance agency agreement 
with Group companies belonging to the Group. The Group companies return com-
mission income to the agents related to the distribution of investment products.
Companies Konnun Tuulikallio Oy and Suomen Varainhoitopalvelut Oy, which were 
in 2023 controlled by persons related to the Group, were not considered as related 
parties of the Group in 2024.

In addition, United Bankers Plc, its Group companies or funds managed by the 
Group companies procure consulting services from Häggblom & Partners Ltd Oy, 
a company controlled by a person related to the Company. 

In addition to the services mentioned above, persons related to the Group or com-
panies controlled by them have carried out other transactions with United Bankers 
Plc, its Group companies or funds managed by Group companies. The transac-
tions have included, for example, other services or products sold to the Group. In 
addition, the Group has given secondary bank guarantees to retain key personnel.

All transactions with the Group are on the same terms as transactions with unre-
lated parties, and the Group has separate internal processes in place for the ap-
proval of related party transactions. The table below shows the transactions with 
related parties during the financial period and the comparative period that are not 
eliminated in the consolidated financials or that are paid for by funds managed by 
the Group company.

United Bankers Plc has granted 20,878 of its own shares as part of the share-based 
incentive plan for management to the key employees covered by the plan.

Transactions with related parties

EUR 1,000 1.1.-31.12.2024 1.1.-31.12.2023
Tied agent fees  199  578 
Consultation fees  110  184 
Other transactions  11  21 
Loans extended  -    -   
Total  320  782 
of which with funds managed by the 
Group

 16  58 

In the years 2023 and 2024, the Group did not acquire additional shares from 
non-controlling interest holders.
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Parent Company’s financial statements
INCOME STATEMENT 1.1.2024 – 31.12 .2024

EUR 1,000 Note 1.1.-31.12.2024 1.1.-31.12.2023

Fee and commission income  -  
Net gains or losses from trading in securities and foreign currencies 2.1
	 Net income from trading in securities 615 476
Income from equity investments 2.2
	 From group companies  4,000  1,100 
	 From other equity investments 172 68
Interest Income 2.3 38 61
Other operating income 2.4 7,716 7,005

INCOME FROM INVESTMENT SERVICES ACTIVITIES 12,541 8,710

Fee expenses  -  
Interest expenses 2.3 -40 -48
Administrative expenses
	 Personnel expenses 2.5
		  Salaries and remuneration  -4,423 -3,826
		  Social security expenses
			   Pension expenses -689 -691
			   Other social security expenses -140 -152
	 Other administrative expenses 2.6 -3,165 -2,913
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and 
intangible assets 2.7 -1,701 -1,239
Other operating expenses 2.8 -921 -918
Impairment of securities 2.9 -1 -

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) 1,462 -1,077

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES 1,462 -1,077

Appropriations 2.10 29,236 11,533
Income taxes 2.11 -5,392 -1,891

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 25,306 8,565
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ASSETS, EUR 1,000 Note 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Cash and equivalents 0  0 
Claims on credit institutions 3.1
	 Repayable on demand 729 988
Claims on the public and public-sector entities 3.2 290 699
Debt securities 3.3
	 From other than public-sector entities 492  -  
Shares and units 3.4 22,444 7,616
Shares and units in group companies 3.4 28,811 28,811
Intangible assets 3.5/3.7 5,878 5,116
Tangible assets 3.6/3.7
	 Other tangible assets 320 408
Other assets 3.8/3.14/3.15/3.16 1,851 355
Accrued income and prepayments 3.9 494 480

TOTAL ASSETS 61,309 44,473

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY, EUR 1,000 Note 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

LIABILITIES
Liabilities to credit institutions 3.10/3.14/3.15 -  -  
Liabilities to public and public-sector entities 3.11/3.14/3.15 475  4,089 
Other liabilities 3.12/3.14/3.15
	 Other liabilities 807 615
Accrued expenses and deferred income 3.13 5,703 2,277
LIABILITIES TOTAL 6,985 6,981

APPROPRIATIONS
Depreciation difference 14  17 

EQUITY 3.17
Share capital 5,464 5,464
Unrestricted reserves
	 Reserve for non-restricted equity 20,936 23,446
Retained earnings (loss)  2,603  -  
Profit (loss) for the financial period 25,306 8,565
TOTAL EQUITY 54,310 37,475

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 61,309 44,473
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR 1,000 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Cash flow from operating activities
Income received from sales -29 -34
Other operating income received 7,716 7,005
Operating costs paid -9,224 -8,525
Cash flow from operating activities before finance costs and taxes -1,538 -1,554
Interest and finance costs paid from operating activities -40 -48
Interest received from operating activities 38 61
Income taxes paid -2,277 -1,892
Cash flow from operating activities -3,817 -3,432

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisitions of tangible and intangible assets -2,375 -3,245
Changes in claims on the public and public-sector entities 409 -186
Investments in financial assets -14,642 1,257
Dividends received from investments 4,172 1,168
Cash flow from investing activities -12,437 -1,006

Cash flow from financing activities
Change of loans -3,613 2,438
Proceeds from share issues 2,963 -
Acquisition of treasury shares -576 -295
Received group contributions 28,080 12,521
Dividends paid -10,859 -9,686
Cash flow from financing activities 15,995 4,977

Change in cash and cash equivalents -259 538

Change in cash and cash equivalents -259 538
	 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 988 450
	 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 730 988
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Notes to the Parent Company
1 | NOTES ON THE PREPAR ATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 | NOTES TO INCOME STATEMENT ITEMS OF PARENT COMPANY (EUR 1,000)

Notes on the preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Act on Credit 
Institutions, the Decree of the Ministry of Finance on the Financial Statements and 
Consolidated Financial Statements of Credit Institutions and Investment Services 
Companies, and the Regulation and Guideline 2/2016 of the Financial Supervisory 
Authority’s Compendium of Regulations: Financial Sector Accounting, Financial 
Statements and Annual Report. 

Valuation principles of financial assets and liabilities

The Company’s investments are valued in fair value through profit and loss. Loans 
and other receivables are valued at cost, less possible impairment loss. Financial 
liabilities are valued at fair value. Shares and units in group companies are valued 
at cost.

Intangible and tangible assets

Intangible and tangible assets are valued at cost, less depreciation as planned and 
impairment. Depreciation periods are calculated straight-line over the estimated 
economic useful life.

Depreciation periods based on estimated useful life are as follows:
Intangible assets
	 -	 IT programs			   5 years
	 -	 Office renovation		  5 years
Tangible assets	
	 -	 IT equipment			   5 years
	 -	 Office equipment and furniture	 5 or 8 years

Transactions in foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into euro using the transaction 
date rates. Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are con-
verted into euro at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. 

Exchange gains and losses related to ordinary business are recognized in net gains 
or losses from trading in foreign currencies.

Company had no positions in foreign currencies at the end of financial periods.

Principles followed in recognizing interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognized on accrual basis.

Principles followed in recognizing and presenting leases  
 
Expenses related to leases are recognized on accrual basis for the rental period and 
presented in other operating expenses.

Presenting and rounding of figures

The figures in the financial statements are rounded to thou-
sands of euros. All the figures presented in the tables have been rounded and 
consequently the sum of individual figures may deviate from the sum presented. 

Amount of EUR 0,0 corresponds that the absolute value is less than EUR 500. If the 
value of an item is EUR 0, it is presented as an empty cell.

2.1 Net gains or losses from trading in securities and foreign cur-
rencies

Year 2024 Sales profits and losses Changes in fair value Total
From debt securities  -   15  15 
From shares and units  88  512  601 
Total  88  527  615 

Year 2023 Sales profits and losses Changes in fair value Total
From debt securities  9  0  9 
From shares and units  0  467  467 
Total  9  467  476 
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2.2 Income from equity investments

2024 2023
Income from equity investments  172  68 
Dividend income from group companies  4,000  1,100 
Total  4,172  1,168 

2.3 Breakdown of interest income and expenses on the basis of 
balance sheet items

Interest income 2024 2023
Receivables from the public and public corporations  38  55 
Debt securities  -   7 
Other interest income  0  0 
Total  38  61 

Interest expenses 2024 2023
Liabilities to credit institutions -37 -42
Other interest expenses -3 -6
Total -40 -48

2.4 Other operating income

2024 2023
Management fee income from group companies 7,716 7,005
Other operating income  0 -0
Total  7,716  7,005 

2.5 Personnel expenses

2024 2023
Salaries and fees -4,423 -3,826
Pension expenses -689 -691
Other social security costs -140 -152
Total -5,252 -4,669

Personnel in full-time equivalents (FTE)  45  45 
Personnel at the end of financial period (FTE)  43  47 

2.6 Other administrative expenses

2024 2023
Other personnel expenses -375 -187
IT and communication expenses -1,722 -1,558
Consulting and other services -452 -376
Other administrative expenses -616 -792
Total -3,165 -2,913

2.7 Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and 
intangible assets

2024 2023
Depreciation as planned -1,701 -1,239

2.8 Other operating expenses

2024 2023
Lease expenses -573 -566
Property maintenance costs -91 -107
Insurances and fees to authorities -251 -247
Other expenses -6  2 
Total -921 -918

2.9 Impairment of securities
Permanent losses in income statement 2024 2023
Impairment losses on other financial assets -1 -

2.10 Appropriations

2024 2023
Received and given group contributions
	 UB Asset Management Ltd  8,569  8,545 
	 UB Fund Management Company Ltd  1,500  480 
	 UB Nordic Forest Management Ltd  19,515  1,650 
	 UB Nordic Forest Fund IV Management Ltd  25 -
	 UB Corporate Finance Ltd -250 -
	 UB Rahoitus Ltd -126 -
	 UB Brokerage Company Ltd  -   875 
	 Total  29,233  11,550 
Change of depreciation difference  3 -17
Total  29,236  11,533 

2.11 Income taxes

2024 2023
Income taxes from profit of the financial period -5,394 -1,887
Income taxes from previous financial period 1 -4
Total -5,392 -1,891

Information concerning business segments and geographical markets

The Company has decided not to divide its business segments in its capital ade-
quacy reporting and financial statements. The only registered office of the Company 
is located in Finland.
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3 | NOTES TO BAL ANCE SHEET ITEMS OF PARENT COMPANY (FAS) (EUR 1,000)

3.1 Claims on credit institutions

All repayable on demand 2024 2023
Claims from domestic credit institutions 729 988
Total 729 988

3.2 Claims on the public and public-sector entities

2024 2023
Convertible bonds -  -  
Receivables from group companies 290 699
Total 290 699

3.3 Debt securities

Debt securities 2024
Issued by other than public corporations Publicly quoted Other Total
Financial assets entered at fair value through profit and loss  -   492  492 
	 Bonds issued by banks  -   -   -  
	 Other debt securities  -   492  492 

Debt securities 2023
Issued by other than public corporations Publicly quoted Other Total
Financial assets entered at fair value through profit and loss  -   -   -  
	 Bonds issued by banks  -   -   -  
	 Other debt securities  -   -   -  

3.4 Shares and units

Shares and units 2024 Publicly quoted Other Total
Financial assets entered at fair value through profit and loss  14,534  7,910  22,444 
 of which classified as held for trading  14,534  4,515  19,049 
Shares and units in group companies -  28,811  28,811 

Shares and units 2023 Publicly quoted Other Total
Financial assets entered at fair value through profit and loss  2,949  4,667  7,616 
 of which classified as held for trading  2,949  2,418  5,367 
Shares and units in group companies  -   28,811  28,811 
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3.5 Intangible assets
2024 2023

IT programs 5,402 4,510
Office renovation expenses 476 605
Total 5,878 5,116

3.6 Tangible assets
2024 2023

Machinery and equipment 320 408

3.7 Intangible and tangible assets
2024 2023

Other intangible assets
	 Acquisition cost, 1 Jan 11,191 8,211
	 Additions 2,358 2,980
	 Acquisition cost, 31 Dec 13,549 11,191

	 Accumulated depreciation and impairment, 1 Jan -6,075 -4,942
	 Depreciation for the period -1,596 -1,133
	 Accumulated depreciation and impairment, 31 Dec -7,671 -6,075

Carrying amount, 31 Dec 5,878 5,116

Other tangible assets
	 Acquisition cost, 1 Jan 1,166 900
	 Additions 17 266
	 Acquisition cost, 31 Dec 1,183 1,166

	 Accumulated depreciation and impairment, 1 Jan -758 -653
	 Depreciation for the period -105 -105
	 Accumulated depreciation and impairment, 31 Dec -863 -758

Carrying amount, 31 Dec 320 408

3.8 Other assets
2024 2023

Receivables from group companies 1,849 353
Other assets 2 2
Total 1,851 355

3.9 Accrued income and prepayments
2024 2023

Tax receivables 133 150
Other accrued income and prepayments 361 330
Total 494 480

3.10 Liabilities to credit institutions and 
central banks

Repayable on demand 2024 2023
	 to credit institutions -  -  
Total -  -  

3.11 Liabilities to public and public-sector entities

Repayable on demand 2024 2023
	 to group companies 475  4,089 
Total 475  4,089 

3.12 Other liabilities
2024 2023

Tax liabilities 15 172
Other short-term liabilities 792 443
Total 807 615

3.13 Accrued expenses and deferred income
2024 2023

Items due to interest 3 1
Personnel related 2,198 1,889
Tax liabilities 3,502 387
Total 5,703 2,277
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3.14 Fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities
2024 2023

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  0  0  0  0 
Claims on credit institutions  729  729  988  988 
Claims on public and public-sector entities  290  290  699  699 
Debt securities  492  492  -   -  
Shares and units  22,444  22,444  7,616  7,616 
Shares and units in group companies  28,811  28,811  28,811  28,811 
Total 52,766 52,766 38,114 38,114

Financial liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions  -   -   -   -  
Liabilities to public and public-sector entities  475  475  4,089  4,089 
Total 475 475 4,089 4,089

3.15 Maturity of financial assets and financial liabilities

31.12.2024
EUR 1,000 less than 3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years over 5 years Total
Financial assets
Claims on credit institutions  729  -   -   -   729 
Claims on public and public-sector entities  -   -   290  -   290 
Debt securities  -   -   492  -   492 
Total  729  -   782  -   1,512 

31.12.2023
EUR 1,000 less than 3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years over 5 years Total
Financial assets
Claims on credit institutions  988  -   -   -   988 
Claims on public and public-sector entities  -   188  511  -   699 
Debt securities  -   -   -   -   -  
Total  988  188  511  -   1,687 

31.12.2024 Cashflows on the basis of contracts
EUR 1,000 less than 3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years over 5 years Total
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions  -   -   -   -   -  
Liabilities to public and public-sector entities  -   102  373  -   475 
Total  -   102  373  -   475 

31.12.2023 Cashflows on the basis of contracts
EUR 1,000 less than 3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years over 5 years Total
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions  -   -   -   -   -  
Liabilities to public and public-sector entities  4,089  -   -   4,089 
Total  -   4,089  -   -   4,089 
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3.16 Financial instruments measured at fair value on balance sheet

31.12.2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Debt securities  -   -   492  492 
Shares and units  14,534  -   7,910  22,444 
Shares and units in group companies  -   -  28,811 28,811
Total 14,534  -   37,213 51,747

Unrealised profit and loss (cumulative)  365 

31.12.2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Debt securities - - -  -  
Shares and units  2,949  -   4,667  7,616 
Shares and units in group companies 28,811 28,811
Total 2,949  -   33,478 36,427

Unrealised profit and loss (cumulative)  446 

Hierarchy levels
Level 1: 	 Fair values are based on unadjusted price quotations published in 
			   an active market.
Level 2: 	 Quoted prices other than those at level 1 that can be observed for 
			   the asset or liability in question, either directly (i.e., as price) or 
			   indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).
Level 3: 	 Input data on an asset or liability that is not based on observable 
			   market data.

3.17 Equity
2024 2023

Share capital, 1 Jan  5,464  5,464 

  Addition of share capital  -   -  
Share capital, 31 Dec  5,464  5,464 

Reserve for non-restricted equity, 1 Jan  23,446  25,150 
	 Share issues  2,963  -  
	 Distribution of funds -5,472 -1,613
	 Acquisition of treasury shares  -  -91
Reserve for non-restricted equity, 31 Dec  20,936  23,446 

Retained earnings, 1 Jan  8,565  8,277 
	 Distribution of dividend -5,386 -8,073
	 Acquisition of treasury shares -576 -204
Retained earnings, 31 Dec  2,603  - 

Profit (loss) for the period  25,306  8,565 

Equity, 31 Dec 54,310  37,475 

Information on shares and share capital has been presented in Note 26. of 
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Board of Directors’ 
proposal concerning 
distribution of dividend

4 | NOTES TO GUAR ANTEES AND COMMITMENTS  
(EUR 1,000)

4.1 Guarantees provided

On behalf of others 2024 2023
Bank loan guarantees 940  940 

4.2 Pension commitments

The pension security of the personnel has been arranged in accordance with the 
statutory pension insurance scheme.

4.3 Leasing and rental liabilities
2024 2023

Lease Oy Julius Tallberg Ab, commitment within one 
year

433 428

4.4 Other off balance sheet items

2024 2023
Investment commitments 4,257 4,626

United Bankers Plc’s result for the financial period 1 January – 31 December 2024 
amounted to EUR 25,306,153.19. The company’s distributable assets as at 31 
December 2024 were EUR 48.8 million, of which the appropriations of retained 
earnings are EUR 27.9 million and the distributable funds in the reserve of invested 
unrestricted equity fund are EUR 20.9 million.  

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders that 
based on the balance sheet adopted for the financial period ended on 31 December 
2024, a total dividend of EUR 1.10 per share be paid. The total dividend distribution 
in accordance with the proposal, calculated at the number of shares outstanding at 
the date of the financial statements, amounts to EUR 12,026,503.50. No dividend 
shall be payable on treasury shares held by the company. 

The Board of Directors proposes that the dividend be distributed in two instalments, 
with payments made in April and October. The first instalment of the dividend will 
be paid to a shareholder who is registered in the company’s shareholders’ register 
maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd on the record date for dividend payment, 25 
March 2025. The dividend is proposed to be paid out on 1 April 2025. The second 
instalment of the dividend will be paid to a shareholder who is registered in the 
company’s shareholders’ register maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd on the record 
date for dividend payment, 26 September 2025. The dividend is proposed to be paid 
out on 3 October 2025. The Board of Directors proposes it be authorised, if neces-
sary, to decide on a new record date and payment date for the second instalment 
of the dividend, if the rules of Euroclear Finland Ltd or the regulations concerning 
the Finnish book-entry system change or otherwise require it. 

No material changes have taken place in the company’s financial position since the 
end of the financial year. The proposed dividend distribution do not, according to 
the Board of Directors, endanger the solvency of the company.

5 | OTHER NOTES (EUR 1,000)

5.1 Fees to auditors

2024 2023
Statutory fees 44 41
Other fees 7 5
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Signatures of the financial statements and 
the report of the Board of Directors

AUDITOR’S NOTE

In Helsinki, on 27 February 2025

A report on the audit performed has been issued today.

In Helsinki, on 27 February 2025

Oy Tuokko Ltd

Janne Elo, APA

Johan Linder
Chairman

Rasmus Finnilä

Eero Suomela

John Ojanperä
CEO

Rainer Häggblom

Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow

Tarja Pääkkönen

Lennart Robertsson
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Auditor’s report 
(Translation of the Finnish Original)

To the Annual General Meeting of United Bankers Oyj

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of United Bankers Oyj (company code 
2355443-6) for the year ended 31.12.2024. The financial statements comprise 
the consolidated balance sheet, statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, 
income statement, statement of cash flows and notes.

In our opinion

•	 the consolidated financial statements where statement of comprehensive income 
shows a profit of 18,439 million euros give a true and fair view of the group’s finan-
cial position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU

•	 the financial statements where parent company’s income statement shows a profit 
of 25,306 million euros give a true and fair view of the parent company’s financial 
performance and financial position in accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of financial statements in Finland and comply with stat-
utory requirements.

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Audit Com-
mittee.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Our 
responsibilities under good auditing practice are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the parent company and of the group companies in accord-
ance with the ethical requirements that are applicable in Finland and are relevant 
to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements.

In our best knowledge and understanding, the non-audit services that we have 
provided to the parent company and group companies are in compliance with laws 
and regulations applicable in Finland regarding these services, and we have not 
provided any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of regulation 
(EU) 537/2014. The non-audit services that we have provided have been disclosed 
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opin-
ion on these matters.

We have also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls. This 
includes consideration of whether there was evidence of management bias that 
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
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KE Y AUDIT MAT TER HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KE Y AUDIT MAT TER

Revenue recognition of fee income (accounting principles and notes to the consolidated financial statements 3.2 pp.124)

Valuation of goodwill (accounting principles and notes to the consolidated financial statements 18.3, pp.136–137)

•	 Assets managed by the United Bankers entitle the group to charge management 
fees and success fees and other fees on the basis of agreements with customers 
and partners. The fees may vary considerably from year to year.

•	 Fee income is calculated based on contractual and other data using both auto-
matic systems and manual methods. This means that there is some amount of risk 
associated with the correctness of the calculations.

•	 The management fees and success fees of funds in the consolidated financial 
statements amounted to 48,3 million euros.

•	 Commissions from managed assets, structured investments and capital market 
services amounted to 9,0 million euros in the consolidated financial statements.

•	 Revenue recognition is a key audit matter as fee income forms a considerable 
proportion of the consolidated income statement and there is risk associated with 
the correctness of the calculations.

•	 We have studied the business processes concerning commission income and 
assessed the control environment. 

•	 Our auditing procedures also include the comparison of the subledger and main 
accounts, substantive testing of commission income, and auditing the correctness 
of the timing and amounts of revenue recognised.

•	 As to the funds, we have audited the calculation methods of management fees 
and success fees and compared the applicable calculation parameters with indi-
vidual fund agreements or fund rules.

•	 As to the capital market services, structured investments and capital market ser-
vices based on the agreements we have audited the timing and amounts of revenue 
recognised.

•	 We have assessed the sufficiency of notes related to consolidated fee income in 
relation to the requirements of the IFRS 15 standard.

•	 United Bankers group has previously expanded its operations through acquisi-
tions, resulting in a goodwill of 15,6 million euros. Goodwill represents 18% of the 
Group’s total assets and 25% of the Group’s equity. 

•	 Goodwill is valued on the basis of management estimate about the value in use 
calculations of the cash generating units. The assumptions applied to determine 
the value in use include among others net sales growth, Group profitability and the 
discount rate applied on net cash flows. 

•	 Valuation of goodwill was determined to be a key audit matter because the as-
sessment process is judgmental and because of the significance of goodwill to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

•	 We have evaluated the methodologies, impairment calculations and underlying 
assumptions applied by the management in the impairment testing. We have also 
compared the principles used for impairment testing to the requirements of the IAS 
36 Impairment of assets standard.

•	 We have assessed the key assumptions in the calculations, such as net sales 
growth, operational profitability and discount rate in relation to the Group budget, 
external data sources and our own views of appropriate assumptions. 

•	 We have audited the technical correctness of the calculations and assessed the 
historical accuracy of managementś  estimation.

•	 We have also assessed the sufficiency of the disclosures related to goodwill. 
Moreover, we have assessed the adequacy of disclosures about the sensitivity of 
the impairment assessment.
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There are no significant risks of material misstatement referred to in EU regulation 
No 537/241, point (c) of Article 10(2) relating to the consolidated financial state-
ments or the parent company’s financial statements.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director 
for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and of 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws and 
regulations governing the preparation of financial statements in Finland and comply 
with statutory requirements. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing Di-
rector are responsible for assessing the parent company’s and the group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The financial statements 
are prepared using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an inten-
tion to liquidate the parent company or the group or cease operations, or there is 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accord-
ance with good auditing practice will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing practice, we exercise profes-
sional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
 
•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collu-
sion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the parent company’s or the group’s 
internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the Managing 
Director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit ev-
idence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or condi-
tions that may cast significant doubt on the parent company’s or the group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the parent 
company or the group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial state-
ments, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events so that the financial statements give a true 
and fair view.

•	 We plan and perform group audit in order to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other mat-
ters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, includ-
ing any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have com-
plied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a mat-
ter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.
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Helsinki, 27 February 2025

Oy Tuokko Ltd
Audit Firm

Janne Elo 
Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)

OTHER REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

Information about the audit assignment 

Oy Tuokko Ltd has acted for 23 consecutive years, since 2002, as the auditor cho-
sen by the annual general meeting. United Bankers Oyj became a public interest 
entity on 18th of June 2020. Authorised Public Accountant Janne Elo has been the 
company’s auditor since 2011.

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the report of the Board of Directors 
and the information included in the Annual Report but does not include the finan-
cial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained the report of the 
Board of Directors prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the Annual Report 
is expected to be made available to us after that date. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. With respect 
to the report of the Board of Directors, our responsibility also includes considering 
whether the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with 
the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent 
with the information in the financial statements and the report of the Board of Di-
rectors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material mis-
statement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.
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Capital adequacy management

Capital adequacy management comprises a part of the man-
agement and decision-making of the United Bankers Group at 
both the strategic and operational levels and, hence, constitutes 
a component of the reliable management of same. The objec-
tive of the capital adequacy management process is to safeguard 
the risk-bearing capacity of the United Bankers Group in relation 
to all material operational risks and thus to ensure the long-term 
continuity of operations. The adopted premise is that the amount, 
quality and allocation of own funds in the United Bankers Group 
must at all times be sufficient to cover the material risks encoun-
tered by the Group. 

The Board of Directors of the United Bankers Group bears overall 
responsibility for capital adequacy management. The Board of 
Directors annually adopts and assesses the principles concern-
ing capital adequacy management and the process as well as the 
disclosure of capital adequacy information. In order to safeguard 
its capital adequacy, the United Bankers Group sets risk-based 
capital targets and devises a capital plan for attaining such tar-
gets, submitted to the Group’s Board of Directors for approval. 
The objective of internal control and risk management is to sup-
port the management of the Group by ensuring that the opera-
tions of the Group do not entail the assumption of risks so high as 
to pose a material risk to the capital adequacy or liquidity of the 
companies belonging to the Group.

The practical responsibility for capital adequacy management lies 
primarily with the financial administration and executive manage-
ment of the Group. The capital adequacy management process is 
an element consisting of a business and capital strategy. Capital 
adequacy management is based on the Group’s business plan, 
budget and capital plan, which are updated annually. The United 
Bankers Group strives towards proactive capital planning. The 
Group assesses and maintains the quantity, quality and alloca-
tion of the requisite internal capital. The amount must be sufficient 
to cover the risks to which the United Bankers Group is or may 

be exposed. The Group undergoes an annual risk assessment 
coordinated by the risk management function, aimed to identify, 
assess, measure and mitigate risks, the materialisation of which 
would jeopardise the attainment of the Group’s objectives and 
have an adverse effect, for instance, on the amount of capital. 
The capital plans contain defined targets for the capital adequacy 
level, along with the key risks and the methods for managing 
same.

The premise for measuring and assessing the risk-based capital 
needs of the United Bankers Group in capital adequacy manage-
ment are the results produced by the Pillar 1 calculation meth-
ods. United Bankers assesses the minimum capital requirement 
on the basis of the results produced by the Pillar 1 calculation 
methods and expands the analysis by including such dimensions 
of said risks that are excluded from the scope of the Pillar 1 calcu-
lation (the so-called Pillar 2 elements). The total capital adequacy 
ratio of the United Bankers Group has been set at a minimum tar-
get level of 13 per cent, which is being monitored. The executive 
management and financial administration monitor to ensure the 
capital adequacy management corresponds to the defined risk 
profile and capital adequacy targets. The financial administration 
reports any monitoring findings to the executive management and 
the Board of Directors on a regular basis. An audit firm conducts 
an annual assessment of the Group’s capital adequacy manage-
ment. 

The capital adequacy of the Group

The capital adequacy framework for investment firms (IFD/IFR) 
applies to the licensed investment firms within the Group and 
to the parent company United Bankers Plc as a holding entity. 
Pursuant to the regulation, the capital requirement of the United 
Bankers Group as at 31 December 2024 was determined on the 
basis of fixed overheads. At the end of the review period, the ade-
quacy of the Group was at a very good level. 
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The Group’s Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET 1) as at 31 Decem-
ber 2024 amounted to EUR 20.5 million (EUR 15.6 million) and the 
ratio of the Group’s own funds to the required minimum capital 
requirement amounted to 355.1 per cent (301.6 per cent). As at 31 
December 2024, the Group’s capital adequacy ratio calculated 

on the basis of the capital requirement under the IFR regulation 
amounted to 28.4 per cent (24.1 per cent). The Group manage-
ment has set a minimum capital adequacy target level of 13 per 
cent. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s equity ratio amounted 
to 69.5 per cent (67.7 per cent as at 31 December 2023).

GROUP CAPITAL ADEQUACY

EUR 1,000 IFR 31.12.2024 IFR 31.12.2023

Equity 61,500 51,572
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) before deductions 61,500 51,572
Deductions from CET 1
	 Intangible assets 22,172 21,692
	 Unconfirmed profit for the period 18,042 13,289
	 Other deductions 792 963

Total deductions from CET 1 41,006 35,944
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) 20,494 15,627

Additional Tier 1 (AT1) - -
Tier 1 (T1 = CET1 + AT1) 20,494 15,627

Tier 2 (T2) - -
Total Capital (TC = T1 + T2) 20,494 15,627

Own funds requirement (IFR)
	 Absolute minimum requirement 750 750
	 Fixed overheads requirement 5,772 5,181
	 K-factor requirement 4,065 1,931
Applicable requirement (most restrictive) 5,772 5,181

Common equity tier (CET1) / own funds requirement 355.1% 301.6%
Tier 1 (T1) / own funds requirement 355.1% 301.6%
Total capital (TC) / own funds requirement 355.1% 301.6%

Risk-weighted items total - Total risk exposure 72,152 64,758

Common equity tier (CET1) / risk-weights 28.4% 24.1%
Tier 1 (T1) / risk-weights 28.4% 24.1%
Total capital (TC) / risk-weights 28.4% 24.1%
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United Bankers Plc
Corporate governance statement 2024

1. Introduction

United Bankers Plc (hereinafter ”United Bankers” or ”Company”) 
is a Finnish public limited liability company, whose shares are 
publicly traded on the official list of Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd (”Helsinki 
Stock Exchange”). 

United Bankers complies with the Finnish Corporate Governance 
Code (the “Code”) issued by the Securities Market Association 
and in force as of 1 January 2025.1 This Corporate Governance 
Statement has been prepared in accordance with the Code, 
which is available at www.cgfinland.fi. 

This statement has been reviewed by United Banker’s Board of 
Directors’ Audit Committee. The statutory auditors of the com-
pany have verified that this statement has been prepared, and 
that its description of the main features of the internal control and 
risk management systems related to the financial reporting pro-
cess is consistent with the Company’s financial statements. This 
statement is presented as a separate report from the Report of 
the Board of Directors. Documents in relation to United Bankers 
required by the Corporate Governance Code, are available on 
United Bankers’ website at unitedbankers.fi.

United Bankers’ corporate governance is based on its Articles of 
Association, the Companies Act, the Securities Market Act, the 
Market Abuse Regulation, regulations and guidelines issued by 
the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority, as well as the rules 
and insider guidelines of Helsinki Stock Exchange. In addition, in 
its capacity as an entity owning an investment services company 
and a fund management company, the Company is obligated 
to abide by specific financial industry regulation. Consequently, 
corporate governance of the Company entails also complying 
with the Act on Investment Services, Act on Credit Institutions to 
the extent applicable, the provisions of the Act on Mutual Funds 
and Act on Alternative Investment Fund Managers, as well as the 
guidelines issued by the European Banking Authority and the 
European Securities Market Authority.

In addition, the values and internal Code of Conduct of the Com-
pany guide the decision-making, governance, and operations of 
United Bankers. For United Bankers, responsibility means eco-
nomic, social, and environmental responsibility. As a company, 
United Bankers wants to take ownership and support the sus-
tainable development of the environment and society. This is 
reflected in the Company’s strategy, values, and actions. Respon-
sibility is also a key part of our value creation and United Bankers’ 
growth strategy.

1 Taking the transition provision of Recommendation 8 into account.

United Bankers Plc
CEO John Ojanperä

UB ASSET MANAGEMENT
CEO Jani Lehti

UB FUND MANAGEMENT COMPANY
CEO Timo Ronkainen

UB CORPORATE FINANCE
CEO Ville Väisänen

UB NORDIC FOREST MANAGEMENT
CEO Jyri Hietala

https://www.cgfinland.fi/en/
https://unitedbankers.fi/en/
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2. Descriptions Concerning Corporate Governance 

2.1 Governance Structure

In addition to the parent company United Bankers, acting as the 
holding company, the United Bankers Group encompasses four 
subsidiaries fully owned by the Company: UB Asset Manage-
ment Ltd, UB Fund Management Company Ltd, UB Corporate 
Finance Ltd, and UB Nordic Forest Management Ltd, the two 
first-mentioned of which constitute licensed companies subject 
to the supervision of the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority. 
In addition, the United Bankers Group includes the subsidiaries of 
the aforementioned subsidiaries (hereinafter, all of the aforemen-
tioned companies, along with their subsidiaries, jointly referred to 
as the ”United Bankers Group”).

The administration, management, and oversight of United Bank-
ers is divided between the General Meeting of Shareholders, the 
Board of Directors and the CEO as described below. In the oper-
ative management of the Company, the CEO is assisted by other 
members of the Management Team, consisting of the directors 
of the various business segments of the United Bankers Group, 
as well as of the directors of different Group functions. The Man-
agement Team manages matters relating to the Company and 
the entire Group. The Management Team assists the CEO in the 
adoption and implementation of group-level operating principles 
and procedures. The CEO acts as the Chairman of the Manage-
ment Team.

The planning, strategic management, steering, and risk manage-
ment of the operations of the United Bankers Group have been 
centralised within the Group’s parent company United Bankers. 
The Board of Directors of the parent company also addresses 
certain far-reaching and significant matters of the subsidiar-
ies in its meetings, as well as exercises ownership control in all 
its subsidiaries. The Board of Directors of the parent company 
addresses matters from the Group’s perspective and at a more 
general level than the Boards of the subsidiaries.

In United Bankers’ each subsidiary, executive power is vested not 
only with the parent company, but also with the own Board of 
Directors and CEO of each subsidiary. The Boards of the subsid-

iaries have, when applicable, adopted the intra-group guidelines, 
governance and steering systems, processes, and mechanisms 
affirmed by the Board of Directors or the CEO of the parent com-
pany as binding upon the subsidiaries to ensure the organisation 
of effective and dependable corporate governance. Regardless 
of group-level decision-making, licensed companies within the 
Group are responsible for completing the tasks assigned to them 
under the legislation and authority regulations.

2.2 General Meeting of Shareholders

The General Meeting constitutes United Bankers’ highest deci-
sion-making body, where shareholders of the Company partici-
pate in the steering and supervision of the Company. At the Gen-
eral Meeting, each United Bankers’ share confers one (1) vote. 
By attending the General Meeting either in person or via a proxy, 
shareholders may exercise their right to speak and vote and to 
participate in the decision-making in matters related to the Com-
pany. The Board of Directors may decide that the shareholders 
may also attend the General Meeting in a manner whereby share-
holders exercise their decision-making powers by using telecom-
munications and technical means before or during the General 
Meeting.

The matters to be addressed at the General Meeting have been 
determined in the Companies Act and in United Bankers’ Articles 
of Association. In addition, the General Meeting discusses any 
matter presented to the meeting by the Board of Directors. Pur-
suant to the Companies Act, the shareholders have the right to 
have a matter falling under the competence of the General Meet-
ing discussed at the meeting. The Company announces annu-
ally on its website, on 31 December at latest, the date by which 
shareholders must submit to the Company’s Board of Directors 
any matter they wish the subsequent Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders to discuss.

Notice of the General Meeting is published on the Company’s 
website and by means of a stock exchange release at earliest of 
two months and at latest of three weeks prior to the General Meet-
ing, however, no less than nine days prior to the date of record 
of the General Meeting.  Documents to be presented at the Gen-
eral Meeting and resolution proposals of the Board of Directors to 
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the General Meeting are made available for review on the United 
Bankers’ website at latest of three weeks prior to the General 
Meeting.

To ensure the interaction between the shareholders and the Com-
pany’s governing bodies, as well as the shareholders’ right to 
pose questions, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, mem-
bers of the Board of Directors, and the CEO are, as a rule, present 
at the General Meeting. In addition, a nominee for the Board of 
Directors must be present at the General Meeting resolving upon 
their election. Furthermore, the auditor of the Company is present 
at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

In 2024, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders was held in 
Helsinki on 22 March 2024. The Board of Directors decided that 
the company’s shareholders may also exercise their voting rights 
by voting in advance. Shareholders who were registered in the 
shareholders’ register of the company maintained by Euroclear 
Finland Ltd on the record date of the Annual General Meeting had 
the possibility to follow the Annual General Meeting via a webcast. 
A total of 66 shareholders were represented at the General Meet-
ing, having voted in advance or attending the General Meeting 
either in person or by a proxy. Approximately 57 per cent of the 
votes conferred by all the shares were represented at the meeting. 
The shareholders did not submit any counterproposals or pose 
any questions.

In addition, Johan Linder, Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and Board Members Rasmus Finnilä, Rainer Häggblom, Tarja 
Pääkkönen, Eero Suomela and Lennart Robertsson, CEO Patrick 
Anderson, Chair of the General Meeting, Attorney at Law, Janne 
Rainvuori, General Counsel Nina Rosenlew, and the Company’s 
auditor, Oy Tuokko Ltd, represented by the Company’s principal 
auditor, Authorised Public Accountant KHT Janne Tuokko, were 
also present at the Annual General Meeting. Also, members of the 
company’s management team and other staff as well as repre-
sentatives of Innovatics Oy, the company’s registration and voting 
service provider for the AGM were present at the meeting.

An Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders is convened 
when deemed expedient by the Board of Directors. In addition, 
the auditor and shareholders representing more than ten per cent 
of the Company’s shares, have the right to require the conven-
ing of an Extraordinary General Meeting to process a matter they 
have brought forth. No Extraordinary General Meetings were con-
vened in 2024.

2.3 Board of Directors  

2.3.1 Composition of the Board of Directors

The General Meeting elects the members of the Board of Direc-
tors. The names of the candidates are stated in the notice of the 
General Meeting. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the 
Board of Directors must consist of no less than four and no more 
than eight ordinary members. The Board of Directors elects their 
Chairman and Vice Chairman from among its members. Mem-
bers of the Board of Directors are elected for a term ending at the 
adjournment of the first Annual General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers following the election. The General Meeting resolves upon the 
remuneration payable to the members of the Board of Directors.

The Company discloses the following personal and ownership 
information concerning the members of the Board of Directors: 
name, year of birth, year of commencement of Board member-
ship, education, nationality, principal occupation, as well as the 
number of Company shares owned by them and/or their con-
trolled corporations. Additionally, any dependency on the Com-
pany or the major shareholders of the Company, as well as 
grounds on which the member of the Board of Directors is not 
considered independent, are stated in accordance with the CG 
Code. This information is available on the Company’s website at 
unitedbankers.fi.

https://unitedbankers.fi/en/united-bankers-group/corporate-governance/board-of-directors/


173

On 22 March 2024, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders confirmed the number of the members of the Board of Directors at seven and elected 
the following members to United Bankers’ Board of Directors:

Board Member Born Member since Education Nationality Main occupation Number of shares held 
in United Bankers,
31 Dec 2024*

Johan Linder,
Chairman since 
2010

1959, 
man

2010 LL.M Finnish United Bankers Plc, Chairman 
of the Board, Oy Karl Fazer Ab, 
Board member

36,529

Lennart Robertsson,
Vice Chairman since 
2018

1959, 
man

2017 BSc (Econ and Bus Admin) Swedish United Bankers Plc, Vice Chairman 
of the Board; InterFagervik AB, 
founder, Chairman of the Board 

2,910

Elisabeth Dreijer von 
Sydow

1985, 
woman

2024 M.Sc. Intellectual Capital 
Management, B.Sc. 
Business Administration

Swedish Oy Karl Fazer Ab, Board member 1,454

Rasmus Finnilä 1960, 
man

2022 (member 
also during 
2013-2020)

MSc (Econ and Bus Admin) Finnish UB Asset Management Ltd, 
Asset Manager 

1,105,330

Rainer Häggblom 1956, 
man

2014 MSc (Agriculture and 
Forestry), MSc (Econ and 
Bus Admin)

Finnish Häggblom & Partners Ltd. Oy, 
Chairman of the Board 

109,086

Tarja Pääkkönen 1962, 
woman

2018 MSc (Tech), Lic.Sc.(Tech)
D.Sc. (Tech, Strategies)

Finnish Boardman Oy, Partner 10,342

Eero Suomela 1953, 
man

2020 MSc (Econ and Bus Admin) Finnish Board professional 10,000

*) Number of Company shares held by the Board members and their controlled entities at the end of the financial period on 31 December 2024. Total 1,275,651

The Board of Directors elected Johan Linder as its Chairman and Lennart Robertsson as its Vice Chairman. Nina Rosenlew, General Counsel, acted as the secretary to 
the Board of Directors.
The members of the Board of Directors are not a part of the operative management of the company.

2.3.2 Preparation of the Proposal for the Composition of the Board of Directors

The Company’s Articles of Association do not contain any provi-
sions regarding the order in which the members of the Board of 
Directors are to be appointed. The proposal to the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting of Shareholders as to the number of members of 
the Board of Directors as well as composition and remuneration 
of the Board of Directors is submitted by the major shareholders 
of the Company. The Company does not have a separate Share-
holders’ Nomination Board.

Evaluation of the knowledge, skills, and experience of the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors is conducted in accordance with 
the financial industry regulation, both concerning new members 
and on a regular basis, all members of the Board of Directors. In 
addition, the nomination of candidates for the Board of Directors 
is based on the Diversity Principles of the Board of Directors. 
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2.3.3 Competence and Independence Requirements for 
the Board of Directors 

A person to be elected as a member of the Board of Directors 
must possess both the competence and the sufficient time to 
carry out the task. In addition to the CG Code, independence and 
competence requirements for Board members have been stip-
ulated in the Act on Investment Services, in the regulations and 
guidelines issued by the Financial Supervisory Authority as well 
as in other regulation and guidelines applicable to the financial 
industry.

The Company facilitates the working of the Board through pro-
viding members of the Board of Directors with sufficient informa-
tion concerning the operations of the Company and of the United 
Bankers Group. A member of United Bankers’ Board of Directors 
must submit to the Board of Directors and to the Company ade-
quate information in order to have the assessment of their com-
petence and independence carried out, as well as communicate 
any changes in such details. The Board of Directors conducts an 
assessment of the independence of its members and announces 
the outcome of the assessment on the Company’s website. The 
assessment of independence also considers the comparable cir-
cumstances of private persons or legal entities belonging to the 
member’s circle of related parties. Companies belonging to the 
same corporate group as the company are equated with the com-
pany.

United Bankers’ Board of Directors consists both of experts in the 
industry the Company operates in, and of representatives of the 
Company’s major shareholders. Based on the member-specific 
overall assessment conducted by the Board of Directors in accor-
dance with the CG Code, five of the members of the Board of 
Directors are independent of the Company: Johan Linder, Tarja 
Pääkkönen, Lennart Robertsson, Eero Suomela and Elisabeth 
Dreijer von Sydow. Johan Linder has been a continuous member 
of the Board of Directors for more than ten years, but accord-
ing to the Board’s overall assessment, it has not compromised 
his independence nor are there any other factors or matters that 
would compromise his independence. According to the assess-
ment of the Board of Directors, six of the members of the Board of 
Directors are independent of the Company’s major shareholders: 

Johan Linder, Rainer Häggblom, Tarja Pääkkönen, Lennart Rob-
ertsson, Eero Suomela and Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow. Five of 
the members of the Board of Directors are independent both of 
the Company and of the Company’s major shareholders: Johan 
Linder, Tarja Pääkkönen, Lennart Robertsson, Eero Suomela and 
Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow.

2.3.4 Principles Concerning the Diversity of the Board of 
Directors 

United Bankers is committed to promote the diversity of the com-
position of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has 
approved principles concerning diversity of the Board of Direc-
tors, which are complied with in the working of the Board of Direc-
tors, and in the planning of the composition of the Board. The 
materialisation and progress of diversity is assessed in the annual 
self-assessment of the Board of Directors.

The objective of diversity is to ensure that the Board collectively 
possesses a broad range of expertise, experience, and perspec-
tives, as well as familiarity with the business operations of the 
United Bankers Group. However, in the election of Board mem-
bers, the primary criteria are the qualifications, skills, and personal 
attributes of each candidate. A sufficient number of Board mem-
bers shall have relevant professional experience and education 
essential to the Company’s business, enabling them to compe-
tently address matters related to the financial industry and a listed 
company. The members elected to the Board should contribute 
to and enhance the Board’s efficiency and operational capability.

In addition to the aforementioned criteria, Board elections aim to 
promote diversity. The objective is to ensure an appropriate num-
ber of members representing different nationalities, age groups, 
genders, educational and professional backgrounds, and vary-
ing lengths of tenure. Board members should also complement 
each other in terms of personal attributes and capabilities. The 
candidates proposed to the General Meeting should collectively 
exhibit diverse perspectives, qualities, and experience. Further-
more, they should be recognized as reliable and innovative indi-
viduals who can constructively question decisions and challenge 
the Company’s operative management.
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Both genders shall be represented in the Board of Directors. 
There shall be balanced representation of women and men in the 
Board of Directors no later than 30 June 2026.

2.3.4.1 The Fulfilment of the Principles Concerning 
the Diversity of the Board of Directors

The Company has been implementing the principles concerning 
diversity in the composition of the Board of Directors in 2024. At 
the close of the financial period 2024, members of the Board of 
Directors represented experience from a variety of executive and 
board positions, expertise on financial markets and business life 
and they possessed mutually complimentary educational back-
grounds, skillsets, and experience. All members of United Bank-
ers’ Board of Directors possess higher education degrees, repre-
senting economic sciences, law, agriculture and forestry as well 
as engineering sciences. The longest term of office of the Board 
members had lasted for fourteen (14) years, and the shortest less 
than one year, with the median being six (6) years. The average 
age of the members of the Board of Directors was sixty-two (62), 
and the age difference between the youngest and oldest member 
was thirty-two (32) years. The Board of Directors comprised five 
(5) men (71%) and two (2) women (29%) in 2024.

Diversity of the Board of Directors (31.12.2024)

Tenure

 0–3 years    4–6 years 
 7–9 years    ≥10 years

1

2 2

2

Citizenship

 Finnish    Swedish

2

5

Age (years)

 30–39    40–49    50–59 
 60–69    ≥70

11

5

Gender

 Men    Women

5

2

2.3.5 Duties of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is entrusted with the overall responsibil-
ity for the steering and oversight of the Company and the United 
Bankers Group and for ensuring that the Company’s corporate 
governance, operations as well as the supervision of its account-
ing and asset management activities are duly organised. The 
Board of Directors discusses and adopts the Company strategy, 
as well as the principles and procedures regarding the organisa-
tion, accounting, and oversight of asset management. The Board 
of Directors has devised written Rules of Procedure for its opera-
tions, setting forth its fundamental duties and meeting practices.

The duties of the Board of Directors include, inter alia: 

•	 Adopting the strategy and vision for the different business 
	 areas of the Company and of the United Bankers Group, as 
	 well as overseeing the execution of the strategy
•	 Adopting the Company’s commercial and financial objectives, 
	 as well as the strategic plans of the Group and its business 
	 segments and monitoring the development of the operative 
	 business functions of the Group companies, changes in the 
	 operating environment and the attainment of the set targets
•	 Adopting the organisational structure and values of the 
	 Company and of the United Bankers Group 
•	 Ensuring that the supervision of accounting and asset 
	 management is duly arranged as well as seeing to the proper 
	 arrangement of corporate governance and operations
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•	 Adopting internal governance and steering principles as well 
	 as monitoring the appropriateness thereof 
•	 Based on the proposal of the Audit Committee, adopting all 
	 internal guidelines, principles and policies required under the 
	 regulation and subject to Board approval
•	 Based on the proposal of the Audit Committee, adopting the 
	 Company’s Corporate Governance Statement 
•	 Adopting the ESG principles and ESG report of the United 
	 Bankers Group of companies
•	 Resolving upon the establishment and composition of Board 
	 committees
•	 Adopting the Rules of Procedure of the Board of Directors and 
	 its committees and the Management Team and assessing 
	 that their content is appropriate and up-to-date
•	 Resolving upon matters of substantial financial significance 
	 or in terms of principle, reorganisations, establishment, 
	 modification or discontinuation of business functions, 
	 investments, mergers and acquisitions, as well as divestments
•	 Resolving upon matters pertaining to the Company’s shares 
	 and other financial instruments, as well as on other related 
	 measures 
•	 Approving material agreements, transactions, and other 
	 arrangements between the related parties of the United 
	 Bankers Group and the group companies
•	 Regularly processing reporting concerning the Company’s 
	 financial standing, including capital adequacy and liquidity 
	 management, the operating results of the Company and of 
	 the United Bankers Group as well as the development of sales 
	 and personnel 
•	 Monitoring the financial statements and other financial 
	 reporting and reliability of such reporting
•	 Approving the Company’s financial statements and half-year 
	 reports as well as financial results releases 
•	 Assessing the independence and competence of the 
	 members of the Board of Directors annually and overseeing 
	 that the members of the Board of Directors satisfy the 
	 independence requirements
•	 Assessing its own performance as a self-assessment once a 
	 year at the end of the period of office, also including an 
	 assessment of committee work
•	 Assessing and providing feedback to the CEO on their 
	 performance on an annual basis

•	 Appointing and dismissing the CEO, resolving upon the terms 
	 and conditions of the CEO’s service agreement as well as, 
	 based on the proposal of the CEO, appointing members of 
	 the Company’s Management Team
•	 Monitoring the expediency of the CEO’s actions as well as 
	 supervising and steering the operative management of 
	 the Company
•	 Approving and proposing the remuneration policy to
	 the General Meeting 
•	 Processing and approving, based on a proposal by 
	 the Remuneration Committee, the principles of the United 
	 Bankers’ remuneration systems
•	 Approving and presenting the remuneration report to 
	 the General Meeting, approving other information concerning 
	 remuneration
•	 Monitoring and supervising the efficiency, functioning, and 
	 procedures of internal control as well as risk and capital 
	 adequacy management, as well as approving the operating 
	 principles of internal control and internal audit, and risk and 
	 capital adequacy management
•	 Overseeing that the applicable laws and authority regulations 
	 are adhered to within the United Bankers Group and that 
	 the competent authorities are duly reported to  
•	 Approving and overseeing the Company’s and the United 
	 Bankers Group’s overall risk strategy, processing the report 
	 on risk management, the compliance function as well as on 
	 the risks actualised
•	 Convening the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and 
	 submitting proposals to it, determining the Company’s 
	 dividend policy, and making a proposal to the Annual General 
	 Meeting of Shareholders on dividend distribution
•	 Confirming the objectives in the United Bankers Group’s 
	 personnel plan
•	 Processing pending and threatened legal and administrative 
	 processes that may have a material effect on the financial 
	 standing of the Company

United Bankers’ Board of Directors addresses matters of its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries at a general level in its meetings, to 
the extent such matters have material financial relevance or are 
far-reaching in their effects or are significant in terms of principle. 
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The actual resolutions are, however, passed at the Board meet-
ings of each subsidiary.

It is the obligation of the Board of Directors to promote the inter-
ests of the Company and of all its shareholders. The Board of 
Directors assesses its operations and working methods annually 
and refines its operation based on the outcome of the assess-
ment.

2.3.6 Attendance at Meetings of the Board of Directors 

United Bankers’ Board of Directors convenes in accordance with 
a pre-confirmed meeting schedule, as a rule once per month 
and no less than ten times per year. Where necessary, or owing 
to the urgency of matters, the Board of Directors may also con-
vene more often than this or pass resolutions without convening a 
meeting. During the financial period 2024, the Board of Directors 
convened a total of thirteen times.

Attendance of members of the Board of Directors at meetings in 
2024:

Board Member	 Meetings
Johan Linder, Chairman	 13/13
Lennart Robertsson, Vice Chairman	 13/13
Rasmus Finnilä	 13/13
Rainer Häggblom	 13/13
Tarja Pääkkönen	 12/13
Eero Suomela	 13/13
Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow	 8/8

2.3.7 Board’s Self-Assessment

The Board of Directors assesses its performance and operating 
methods on an annual basis. The assessment is usually conducted 
in the form of a self-assessment and the results are addressed 
and discussed at the December meeting of the Board of Direc-
tors. Board members evaluate the performance of the Board of 
Directors in their duties and responsibilities set forth above, the 
composition and structure of the Board of Directors, working cul-
ture, efficiency of Board meetings, as well as the performance 
of individual members of the Board of Directors. Furthermore, 

members of the Board of Directors evaluate the performance and 
working methods of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and of 
the committees. Any identified areas for improvement are consid-
ered when planning the work of the Board of Directors.

2.4 Committees of the Board of Directors

2.4.1 General

United Bankers’ Board of Directors has established an Audit 
Committee and a Remuneration Committee for the purposes of 
preparing matters under its responsibility, reporting on their work 
to the Board of Directors on a regular basis. 

The Board of Directors appoints the members of each commit-
tee and their chairmen from among its members each year at 
the organizational meeting of the Board of Directors following the 
Annual General Meeting. Each committee shall consist of at least 
three members. The committees are not vested with any indepen-
dent decision-making power, but, rather, the Board of Directors 
passes resolutions based on their preparatory work.

2.4.2 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is tasked with assisting United Bankers’ 
Board of Directors in ensuring that the United Bankers Group has 
in place an adequate internal monitoring system encompassing 
its entire operations, seeing to it that the Company’s risk manage-
ment has been appropriately arranged and monitoring the report-
ing process pertaining to the financial statements.

Further duties of the Audit Committee include, inter alia:

•	 monitoring and assessing the correctness of the Company’s 
	 financial reporting, as well as the reliability of such reporting, 
	 and monitoring the content and scope of the statutory audit of 
	 the financial statements and of the consolidated financial 
	 statements;
•	 overseeing the annual accounts reporting process and 
	 issuing recommendations with the intention of ensuring 
	 the reliability of the reporting process;
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•	 overseeing the formulation of the Company’s accounting 
	 practices;
•	 monitoring that the Company’s operations and internal control 
	 has been organised in a manner required by the applicable 
	 laws, regulations, as well as by good management and 
	 governance practices; and
•	 preparing the proposal to be submitted to the Annual General 
	 Meeting of Shareholders concerning the selection and 
	 remuneration of the auditors. 

A minimum of two members of the Audit Committee must be 
independent of United Bankers and a minimum of one member 
must be independent of United Bankers’ major shareholders. No 
less than one member of the Audit Committee must be an inde-
pendent person with expertise in accounting or auditing.

The members of United Bankers’ Audit Committee in 2024 and 
the attendance at meetings per each member is indicated in the 
following table.

Audit Committee Member	 Meetings
Eero Suomela, Chairman	 6/6
Rainer Häggblom	 5/6
Johan Linder	 6/6

2.4.3 Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee assists the Board of Directors in 
preparing matters pertaining to the general remuneration princi-
ples and the remuneration and the succession of the CEO and 
senior management. The Remuneration Committee also prepares 
matters regarding the remuneration of the heads of control func-
tions. Furthermore, tasks of the committee include assisting the 
Board of Directors with preparing matters pertaining to the remu-
neration of the personnel, as well as in the regular assessment of 
the functioning of the remuneration system and supervision of its 
compliance. The majority of the members of the Remuneration 
Committee must be independent of United Bankers.

The members of the Remuneration Committee in 2024 and the 
attendance at meetings per each member is indicated in the fol-
lowing table.

Remuneration Committee Member	 Meetings
Johan Linder, Chairman	 7/7
Tarja Pääkkönen 	 7/7
Lennart Robertsson	 7/7
Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow	 4/4

2.5 CEO

The Board of Directors of United Bankers appointed John 
Ojanperä (b. 1981), M.Sc. (Econ.), as the new CEO of United  
Bankers as of 1 November 2024. Ojanperä, who joined United 
Bankers Group in 2014, has been the CEO of UB Fund Manage-
ment Company Ltd and a member of the United Bankers’ man-
agement team since 2016. He has also acted as Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of UB Asset Management Ltd, and as a mem-
ber of the Board of Directors of several other subsidiaries of the 
Group.

Patrick Anderson (b. 1979), M.Sc. (Econ.), served as the CEO of 
the Company from 2007 until 31 October 2024. Anderson resigned 
from his own initiative and acts as the advisor of Ojanperä as of 1 
November 2024 until the end of the Annual General Meeting 2025. 
Significant shareholders of United Bankers, representing approx-
imately 40 per cent of the shares in the Company, announced 
on 17 October 2024 that they will propose to the Annual General 
Meeting 2025 that Patrick Anderson be elected as a member of 
the Board of Directors of United Bankers. The current members 
of United Bankers’ Board of Directors had stated to elect Patrick 
Anderson as Chairman of the Board, provided the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting 2025 elects them and Anderson as members of the 
Board. The proposal was announced on 22 January 2025.

The CEO executes and oversees United Bankers’ day-to-day 
business operations and administration in accordance with the 
resolutions of the Board of Directors, and guidelines issued 
by the Board of Directors. The CEO ensures that the United  
Bankers Group’s accounts are kept in accordance with the legis-
lation and that financial management and asset management has 
been arranged reliably. The CEO further ensures that the risk man-
agement, compliance function, and internal audit of the United  
Bankers Group have been organised in an expedient manner and 
in accordance with the principles and guidelines adopted by the 
Board of Directors.
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The CEO is appointed by United Bankers’ Board of Directors. The 
CEO is only permitted to undertake actions that are unusual and 
far-reaching considering the scope and nature of the Company’s 
activities when authorised to do so by the Board of Directors. The 
CEO shall not be elected to act as the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors or, as a rule, as a member of the Board of Directors.

2.6 Other Management Team 

The task of the United Bankers’ Management Team is to assist 
the CEO of United Bankers in the operational management of 

Management Team in 2024

Name Position Personal information Number of shares held in United 
Bankers directly or through 
controlled entities 31 Dec 2024*

John Ojanperä CEO of United Bankers as from 1 November 
2024, CEO of UB Fund Management Company 
Ltd until 31 October 2024

Year of birth: 1981, man
Education: MSc (Economics and Business Administration)
Management Team member since: 2016

71,045

Patrick Anderson CEO of United Bankers and Management Team 
member until 31 October 2024

Year of birth: 1979, man
Education: MSc (Economics and Business Administration)
Management Team member 2007-31 October 2024

600,000

Jani Lehti CEO of UB Asset Management Ltd Year of birth: 1966, man
Education: MSc (Economics and Business Administration)
Management Team member since: 2012

498,346

Inka Noramaa Chief Communications Officer Year of birth: 1975, woman
Education: MSc (Economics and Business Administration)
Management Team member since: 2018

89,509

Timo Ronkainen CEO of UB Fund Management Company Ltd as 
from 1 November 2024, Head of Institutional 
Asset Management until 31 October 2024

Year of birth: 1965, man
Education: MSc (Economics and Business Administration)
Management Team member since: 2012

248,655

Jarkko Saukkola COO of United Bankers Year of birth: 1968, man
Education: MSc (Economics and Business Administration)
Management Team member since: 2018

16,745

Jukka Rasku Head of UB Private Year of birth: 1979, man
Education: MSc (Economics and Business Administration)
Management Team member since: 2020

21,729

From 1 January to 31 October 2024, the Management Team consisted of six men and one woman. From 1 November to 31 December 2024, it comprised five men and 
one woman.

The Company’s Board of Directors resolves upon the terms and conditions of the service and employment relationships of the CEO and members of the Group’s 
Management Team as well as other compensation. Further details concerning remuneration are available from United Bankers’ website at unitedbankers.fi. 

the Company and United Bankers Group in accordance with the 
objectives set by the Board of Directors. 

The Management Team, inter alia, processes and prepares mat-
ters related to the business strategy and the internal guidelines 
of the United Bankers Group. The Management Team convenes 
mainly once a week. The Management Team is not an actual gov-
erning body under company law, but it has de facto a significant 
position within the organisation of the Company’s management.

https://unitedbankers.fi/en/
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3. Internal Control, Risk Management and Other Control Procedures

3.1 General Description of Internal Control  

With the assistance of the Audit Committee, United Bankers’ 
Board of Directors is responsible for the evaluation and moni-
toring of internal control and risk management systems. Internal 
control and risk management encompasses all the functions of 
the United Bankers Group. The objective of the risk management 
of the United Bankers Group is to seek to systematically iden-
tify, assess, process, and prevent risks resulting from the busi-
ness operations of the Group that may either in the short or in the 
long term have a negative impact on the business of the United  
Bankers Group or its revenue formation, or compromise its oper-
ations as mandated by regulation. 

The Board of Directors confirms the principles of risk manage-
ment, internal control, internal audit and the compliance func-
tion, liabilities, Group risk limits, and other general guidelines in 
accordance with which the internal control, risk management, 
compliance function, and internal audit are organised. The CEO 
is responsible for the implementation of the principles affirmed 
by the Board of Directors within the organisation of the United  
Bankers Group.

The internal control and risk management of the United Bankers 
Group are built on the principle of three lines of defence: 

3.1.1 Business Segments – First Line of Defence

Risk management is part of internal control. Consequently, the 
Group’s subsidiaries and business segments, as the first line of 
defence, are responsible for the identification of risks, risk man-
agement measures, as well as the construction of the internal 
control processes and knowhow. The Boards of Directors and 
management of the Group’s subsidiaries, as well as the directors 
of the business segments are responsible for ensuring that risk 
management and internal control is at an adequate level in the 
said functions through ascertaining the appropriate safeguards 
as well as processes for identifying, assessing and management 
of risks.

3.1.2 Risk Management and Compliance – Second Line of 
Defence

The parent company risk management and compliance functions 
independent of the business of the United Bankers Group com-
prise the second line of defence in risk management and internal 
control. The risk management and compliance functions main-
tain and develop internal control and risk management methods, 
propose improvements to risk management principles and devise 
internal guidelines and processes. They additionally support, 
maintain, and monitor the actualisation of risk management and 
internal control, the deployment of methods and principles as well 
as the legality of governance and of the business.

The risk management functions support the management and 
business functions of the United Bankers Group and of its subsid-
iaries subject to supervision by providing a systematic approach 
to the evaluation and development of the risk management, over-
sight, and administrative processes. The task of the risk manage-
ment function is to ensure and monitor that the risk management 
is at an adequate level relative to the quality, scope, diversity, and 
risks of the business of the companies within the United Bankers 
Group. The risk management function oversees the day-to-day 
business, as well as compliance with the risk limits designated 
for the business segments and the risk exposure principles and 
guidelines. The risk management function reports to the Board of 
Directors on a biannual basis and to the Management Team on a 
quarterly basis.

The compliance function is responsible for overseeing com-
pliance with the regulation within the operations of the United  
Bankers Group as well as supporting management and the busi-
ness segments in the application of legislation, authority regu-
lations and internal guidelines. The compliance function devel-
ops and oversees compliance with due procedure in customer 
relationships as well as the materialisation of the ethical princi-
ples within the United Bankers Group. The compliance function 
reports its observations regularly to United Bankers’ Board of 
Directors or the Audit Committee and to the Management Team. 
Furthermore, the compliance function reports its findings to the 
Board of Directors biannually.
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3.1.3 Internal Audit – Third Line of Defence  

The third line of defence consists of internal audit, independent 
of the business functions and providing support for the Board of 
Directors and senior management. The Board of Directors of the 
parent company of the United Bankers Group approves the inter-
nal audit action plan annually, upon the internal audit’s presen-
tation. The task of the internal audit is, through targeted audits, 
to assess the functioning, expediency, and effectiveness of the 
United Bankers Group’s internal oversight system objectively and 
systematically, as well as compliance with internal guidelines and 
their development. A separate audit report is devised of each 
audit. The audit report includes the findings of the internal audit, 
as well as recommendations for remedial action.

The United Bankers Group does not have a separate internal audit 
function of its own. The operation of internal audit in the United 
Bankers Group has been arranged as an outsourced service, 
operated by a reputable external operator selected by the Com-
pany’s Board of Directors. In 2024, internal audit was entrusted to 
KPMG Oy Ab.

3.3 Financial Reporting Process

Oversight of the financial reporting of the United Bankers Group is 
the responsibility of the parent company’s Board of Directors. The 
Board of Directors oversees the financial reporting with the assis-
tance of the Audit Committee. Furthermore, the tasks of the Audit 
Committee include the regular assessment of the risk and capital 
adequacy management, as well as financial audit monitoring.

United Bankers’ CEO and CFO are tasked with ensuring that the 
accounting and financial reporting complies with law, the appli-
cable accounting policies, and the guidelines issued by United 
Bankers’ Board of Directors. The accounting and financial report-
ing of the United Bankers Group has been centralised within the 
financial administration of the parent company. United Bankers’ 
financial administration is centrally responsible for external calcu-
lation and reporting to the Board of Directors and the Management 
Team. United Bankers’ financial administration is also responsi-
ble for the monitoring and reporting of the performance of each 
business segment. The Board of Directors, the Audit Committee, 

CEO, and the Management Team are responsible for the monitor-
ing and thereby ensure the efficiency of internal controls.

United Bankers’ consolidated financial statements for 2024 were 
devised in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). Alongside the IFRS standards, the preparation 
of the United Bankers Group’s financial statements is subject to 
legislation, regulations, and guidelines applicable to investment 
services companies and fund management companies. In addi-
tion to its annual accounts, the United Bankers Group also devises 
a half-year report published every six months in accordance with 
the IAS 34 standard. The guidelines and calculation principles 
regarding financial reporting are applied in all the Group com-
panies. 

3.4 Capital Adequacy Management

The capital adequacy management of the Company comprises 
part of the financial management and administration of the United 
Bankers Group both on strategic and operative level. The objec-
tive of capital adequacy management is to ensure the Group’s 
risk tolerance, as well as the non-disrupted business continu-
ity also in the case of any unexpected events. The assessment 
of capital adequacy is based upon the identification, measure-
ment, and assessment of risks. Capital adequacy management 
and proactive capital planning serves to ensure that the United  
Bankers Group’s own funds are sufficient to cover the material 
risks encountered by the Group and the business operations. The 
adequacy of the capital buffer is tested through stress tests.

4. Audit

At the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the shareholders 
annually elect an auditor for the Company that must be an audit 
firm certified by the Finland Chamber of Commerce. The proposal 
prepared by the Company’s Board of Directors as to the auditor is 
announced in the notice of the General Meeting. United Bankers’ 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on 22 March 2024 
elected Oy Tuokko Ltd as the Company’s auditor, with the respon-
sible auditor being Authorised Public Accountant, KHT Janne Elo.
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The auditors verify that the financial statements of the United 
Bankers Group are prepared in accordance with the applicable 
legislation and guidance and present a true and fair view of the 
financial performance and financial position of the Group to the 
shareholders and other stakeholders. As part of the annual audit 
assignment, the auditors of the United Bankers Group audit the 
books and administration of the Group parent company and its 
subsidiaries. The requirements of internal control are considered 
in the audit plans of the auditors. The auditors submit an annual 
audit report to United Bankers’ Annual General Meeting of Share-
holders. Additionally, the auditors report to the Board of Directors 
the key items in the audit plan, as well as provide a written audit 
report concerning the entire corporate group in connection with 
each half-year report and annual accounts.

The total fees paid to the auditors in 2024 amounted to EUR 
151,985. The audit fee amounted to EUR 123,290. Fees unrelated 
to the audit amounted to EUR 28,695. The other fees primarily 
consist of legal and tax advisory services. 

5. Main Procedures Relating to Insider 
Administration 

The United Bankers Group adheres to the insider and trading 
guidelines adopted by the parent company’s Board of Directors. 
United Bankers has in place an insider administration organisa-
tion determined by the Board of Directors, including the person 
in charge of insider matters and their deputy, as well as the com-
pliance function. Insider administration maintains insider registers 
and a register of persons of the management subject to the dis-
closure obligation and of their related parties, verifies the details 
of those considered as insiders on a regular basis, is responsible 
for granting trading permissions, oversees the compliance with 
insider regulations and provides information of the closed periods 
relating to trading with the Company’s share.

The Company has determined that the persons obligated to dis-
close their transactions with United Bankers’ share and other 
financial instruments include United Bankers’ Board members, 
CEO, other members of the Management Team and the CFO, as 
well as their related parties.

The Company maintains a list of the management members sub-
ject to the disclosure obligation and of their related parties. The 
statutory information concerning the persons’ role in the manage-
ment, their related parties as well as their controlled corporations 
and corporations which they have influence over is maintained in 
the register. A register of the members of the management sub-
ject to the disclosure obligation and their related parties does not 
constitute an insider register.

United Bankers publishes information concerning a transaction 
effected by a member of the management or one of their related 
parties immediately, or latest within two (2) working days of receiv-
ing a notification concerning the transaction.

United Bankers maintains project-specific insider registers of 
persons having access to inside information, as required under 
the insider regulation. Project-specific insiders are not allowed to 
engage in trade with the securities of the relevant company during 
such project. Furthermore, United Bankers maintains a supple-
mentary section of the insider register consisting of permanent 
insiders, identifying persons with a continuous access to inside 
information in the Company. These registers are not public.

United Bankers also maintains a list of persons who have regu-
lar access to the company’s unpublished consolidated financial 
information based on their position, duties or access rights. Per-
sons entered in this list are called financial information recipients. 
Each financial information recipient is informed in writing of his/
her position as such and related obligations.

Pursuant to the internal trading permission procedure of the 
United Bankers Group, members of the Boards of Directors of the 
Group companies, as well as persons employed by the United 
Bankers Group and its tied agents, as well as legally incompe-
tent persons for whom such persons act as guardians, along with 
controlled corporations of such persons, must also request a writ-
ten permission from the person responsible for insider matters to 
trading with United Bankers’ shares or other financial instruments 
prior to carrying out such transaction. The aforementioned per-
sons and instances must also not engage in shorting of United 
Bankers’ shares or other financial instruments.
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United Bankers adheres to a closed period, which commences 
30 days prior to the publication of a half-year financial report or a 
financial statements bulletin and ends at the end of the publica-
tion day (30+1). During the closed period, members of the Boards 
of Directors of the United Bankers Group companies, persons 
employed by the United Bankers Group, as well as tied agents 
and the persons closely associated with them are not allowed to 
trade with United Bankers’ shares or other financial instruments.

6. Principles Concerning Related-Party 
Transactions

United Bankers assesses and monitors transactions carried out 
with its related parties and ensures that any conflicts of interest 
are duly considered in the Company’s decision-making. The 
Company’s Board of Directors has determined the instances con-
sidered as related parties of the Company, with United Bankers’ 
CEO, together with the financial administration, being responsible 
for compiling, maintaining, and updating the register of related.

Transactions between the Company and its related parties are 
acceptable when they contribute to the purpose of the Compa-
ny’s operations and to the Company’s interests and when there 
is a sound business reason. Related-party transactions must 
be carried out in compliance with the general principles of the 
Finnish Companies Act, such as the limited liability company’s 
purpose of generating profit, the principles of equal treatment of 
shareholders as well as the obligation of the Company’s man-
agement to promote the Company’s interests by acting diligently.

The Company’s Board of Directors has determined and adopted 
the principles for monitoring and evaluating United Bankers’ relat-
ed-party transactions. The Board of Director’s Audit Committee 
monitors and evaluates whether the agreements and other legal 
acts concluded between the Company and its related parties fall 
under the scope of the Company’s customary operations and sat-
isfy the arm’s length principle. The Audit Committee also evalu-
ates potential conflicts of interest regarding potential related-party 
transactions and submits recommendations to the Board of 
Directors for appropriate measures in order to execute such 
transactions. Should the contemplated transaction deviate from 
the customary business of the Company or in case its execution 
would not apply the arm’s length principle or be in accordance 
with customary market practices, the transaction shall be can-
celled or submitted to the Board of Directors for approval.

The Company’s CEO, financial administration, and risk manage-
ment function of the Group administration monitor related-party 
transactions as part of the Company’s normal reporting and over-
sight practices.

Material transactions between United Bankers and its related 
parties are reported in the notes of United Bankers’ consolidated 
financial statements. Pursuant to the Securities Market Act, mate-
rial related-party transactions that are not part of the customary 
business operations or that are not executed on customary com-
mercial terms, are also published as stock exchange releases.
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United Bankers Plc
Remuneration report 2024

General

This Remuneration Report sets forth the remuneration of the Board 
of Directors and of the Chief Executive Officer of United Bankers 
Plc (“United Bankers” or the “Company”) for the 2024 financial 
period. The Remuneration Report is based on the requirements 
set out in the Companies Act, the Securities Market Act, the Gov-
ernment Decree on the Remuneration Policy and Remuneration 
Report of the Issuer of Shares as well as the recommendations 
of the Corporate Governance Code 2025 published by the Finn-
ish Securities Market Association. The Remuneration Report also 
describes the Company’s financial performance in the past five 
years, so that the remuneration of the Board of Directors and the 
CEO can be reviewed accordingly.

The Board of Directors of United Bankers appointed John Ojan-
perä (b. 1981), M.Sc. (Econ.), as the new CEO of United Bankers 
as of 1 November 2024. Patrick Anderson (b. 1979), M.Sc. (Econ.), 
served as the CEO of the Company until 31 October 2024. Ander-
son acts as the advisor of Ojanperä as of 1 November 2024 until 
the end of the Annual General Meeting 2025.

The Remuneration Committee of United Bankers’ Board of Direc-
tors has reviewed this Remuneration Report and the Board of 
Directors has approved it to be presented and adopted by share-
holders at United Bankers’ Annual General Meeting 2025. The 
Annual General Meeting’s resolution on the Remuneration Report 
is advisory. The Annual General Meeting 2024 adopted the remu-
neration report for the financial period 2023. No statements 
regarding the remuneration report were presented by sharehold-
ers in the Annual General Meeting, nor was it voted upon.

The company’s auditor has confirmed that the information 
required by the above-mentioned Government Decree have been 
presented in this Remuneration Report.

Remuneration Principles 

This Remuneration Report is based on the remuneration policy for 
the governing bodies of United Bankers (the “Remuneration Pol-
icy”), which has been approved at the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting on 22 March 2024. 

The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and 
the CEO in the financial year 2024 adhered to the Company’s 
effective Remuneration Policy. No temporary deviations from the 
Remuneration Policy were made during the financial year 2024, 
nor did the Board of Directors discover any circumstances or 
activities causing a need to apply the terms concerning the reduc-
tion, revocation, or claw-back of the CEO’s variable remuneration.

The Remuneration Policy seeks to promote a motivating remu-
neration culture and commitment to the Company. Together with 
the other key personnel, the CEO is part of a share incentive plan 
(the “Share Incentive Plan”), intended to support the Company’s 
business strategy and align the objectives of the shareholders 
and key personnel in order to maximise the long-term value of 
the Company. The objective is also to commit the key personnel 
to the Company and to offer a competitive incentive scheme that 
is based on earning the Company’s shares and the development 
of their value.

The CEO’s partially performance-based remuneration aligns the 
Company’s financial performance with the CEO’s remuneration, 
and the targets set out in the Share Incentive Plan are directly 
connected to the performance of United Bankers’ business oper-
ations. The CEO’s share ownership ensures coherence between 
the interests of the shareholders and the CEO.
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In 2024, the remuneration of the governing bodies has supported 
to United Bankers’ business strategy. The Remuneration Commit-
tee and the Board of Directors have evaluated the CEO’s remu-

neration for the year of 2024 to ensure a competitive and fair over-
all remuneration as compared to competitors and other market 
operators.

The Development of United Bankers’ Financial Performance and Remuneration

United Bankers’ financial development has been positive over the 
past five (5) years, with revenue and profit showing growth. The 
development of the wealth management segment essential for 
the Company was strong in 2024, and the Company’s revenue 
and profit reached a new record level.

The Company has set four key indicators that it considers to 
best describe its performance. These indicators include revenue, 
assets under management, adjusted EBITDA, and cost-to-in-
come ratio. The Company has been able to provide its share-
holders steady returns, as illustrated by the development of the 
Company’s share price as well as the development of distribution 
of funds per share.

The table below illustrates the development of the Company’s financial indicators for 2020-2024:

Indicator IFRS 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Revenue of the United Bankers Group, million EUR 34.4 43.8 48.6 52.1 62.1

Assets Under Management, billion EUR 3.8 4.8 4.4 4.6 4.8

Adjusted EBITDA, million EUR 10.3 16.3 18.5 19.1 26.4

Cost-to-Income Ratio 0.74 0.66 0.65 0.67 0.62

Year-End Share Price, EUR 10.70 14.20 13.60 14.40 17.80

Distribution of funds, EUR per share 0.51 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.101)

1) Board of Directors’ proposal of distribution of funds to the Annual General Meeting to be held on 21 March 2025.

The table below shows a comparison of the development of the remuneration of the Board of Directors, the CEO, and the average of an employee of 
the United Bankers Group in 2020-2024:

Remuneration, EUR 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Chairman of the Board 30,000 30,000 33,990 35,240 35,240

Other Board members 20,000 20,000 23,750 25,000 25,000

CEO Patrick Anderson, until 31 October 2024 262,286 325,474 381,469 510,040 437,171

CEO John Ojanperä, as of 1 November 2024 - - - - 30,740

Employee of the United Bankers Group, on average* 91,217 98,423 93,380 94,932 102,166

* The average salary development of an employee of the United Bankers Group is based upon personnel expenses, without social security costs, divided by the average number of 
personnel during the year.
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According to the Remuneration Policy, the remuneration of the 
CEO is partially based upon the attainment of the targets set out 
in advance regarding the development of the Company’s operat-
ing results as well as strategic and other quantitative or qualita-
tive targets. United Bankers’ actualised performance is therefore 
reflected in the long-term performance-based incentives paid to 
the CEO.

Board Remuneration

United Bankers’ Annual General Meeting resolves upon the remu-
neration of the members of the Board of Directors based on 
the proposal by shareholders. Remuneration in 2024 was paid 

according to the resolutions passed in the Annual General Meet-
ings of 2023 and 2024. In 2024 the total remuneration paid to the 
members of the Board of Directors totalled EUR 153,990. 

The fixed annual remuneration of the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors amounted to EUR 35,000 and other members, who were 
not employed by the United Bankers Group, were paid annual 
remuneration in the amount of EUR 25,000. The remuneration 
was paid in cash. The annual remuneration paid to the members 
of the Board of Directors also covered committee work. Members 
of the Board of Directors employed by the United Bankers Group, 
were not paid for their work in the Board of Directors as per the 
resolution of the General Meeting.1 

Board remuneration paid by United Bankers is presented in the table below. The remuneration covers the entire term, which shall expire at the end of 
the following annual general meeting. 

Board member Annual remuneration for Board work/EUR (incl. benefits in kind)*

Johan Linder (Chairman of the Board) 35,240

Lennart Robertsson (Vice Chairman of the Board) 25,000

Elisabeth Dreijer von Sydow 25,000

Eero Suomela 25,000

Tarja Pääkkönen 25,000

Rainer Häggblom 25,000

Rasmus Finnilä** 0

* No additional meeting or committee fee was paid. 
** Employed by a company belonging to the United Bankers Group. According to the resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting, no separate fee for the work in the Board of 
Directors shall be paid.

1 The United Bankers Group procured consultancy services from Häggblom & Partners Ltd. Oy, the controlled corporation of a member of the Board of Directors, Rainer Häggblom, in the 
total amount of EUR 110,122 in 2024. Rainer Häggblom was paid Board remuneration and meeting fees by other United Bankers Group companies in the total amount of EUR 3,400 in 2024. 
Board member Rasmus Finnilä, who is in an employment relationship with UB Asset Management Ltd, was paid a total of EUR 78,272 as salary and other benefits in 2024. The salaries or 
remuneration paid to Board members that are also in an employment, service, or tied agent relationship to United Bankers Group companies adhered to the customary employment, service, 
and tied agency agreement practices and remuneration principles of the United Bankers Group.
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CEO’s Remuneration 

The remuneration paid to United Bankers’ CEO Patrick Anderson in 2023 and during the period 1 January 2024 – 31 October 2024:

Remuneration 2024
EUR

Fee structure  
%*

2023
EUR 

Fee structure  
%*

Fixed annual fee
(including holiday pay and benefits in kind)

152,537 34.9 177,098 34.7

Total of fees based on the share incentive plan’s earning period, paid in 
cash **

209,220 47.9 215,541 42.3

Total of fees based on the share incentive plan’s earning period, paid in 
shares **

75,414 17.2 76,272 15.0

Matching Share Issue in 2023 of the 2019 Employee Share Issue*** - - 41,130 8.0

Total 437,171 100.0 510,041 100.0

* The remuneration structure reflects the relation of the fixed annual remuneration and the cash and equity performance-based bonuses under the share incentive plan in relation to total 
remuneration.
** Includes remuneration paid under the share incentive plan for the earning period ending in the previous year and remuneration paid under the Share Incentive Plan from prior 
performance periods that were deferred in accordance with applicable financial industry regulations in force at time.
*** The Company completed an employee share issue against consideration in September 2019. In connection with the employee share issue was an additional share issue, which was 
completed in January 2023.

In addition to fixed monthly compensation, no other remuneration was paid to United Bankers’ CEO John Ojanperä based on his role as CEO during the period 
1 November 2024 – 31 December 2024.
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Remuneration of United Bankers’ CEO Patrick Anderson between 1 January and 31 October 2024 and John Ojanperä between 1 November 2024 and 
31 December 2024:

Remuneration element Summary of the Remuneration Policy Application in 2024

Fixed remuneration The determination of the level of the CEO’s fixed remuneration 
is based on the CEO’s professional competence, educational 
background, expertise, and professional experience, as well as 
organizational responsibility and the general compensation level 
in corresponding positions. 

Patrick Anderson’s fixed remuneration was EUR 152,537 in total 
(including holiday pay and benefits in kind). 

John Ojanperä’s fixed remuneration was EUR 30,740 (including 
holiday pay and benefits in kind).

Long-term incentive 
plan

The purpose of the long-term incentive plan is to align the 
interests of the CEO with those of the Company’s shareholders 
through the financial performance of the United Bankers Group, 
or the development of the Company’s share price.

The long-term incentive plan may be determined based on the 
attainment of the quantitative or qualitative targets set out by the 
Board of Directors, or the development of the Company’s share 
price.

Based on the earnings period 2021-2023 of the Share Incentive 
Plan, Patrick Anderson received a total of 2,689 shares in the 
Company in 2024, at the price of EUR 16.96 per share, which was 
the volume weighted average price of United Bankers’ share on 
18 March 2024. The total value of the shares at the above-men-
tioned average price amounted to EUR 45,611. Additionally, 
based on the earnings period 2021-2023 of the Share Incentive 
Plan, the CEO was paid a total of EUR 136,800 in cash. 

Proportion of remuneration deferred from prior earnings periods 
pursuant to financial industry regulation paid out in 2024 totaled 
to EUR 102,223.

No remuneration in accordance with the long-term incentive plan 
was paid to John Ojanperä based on his role as CEO.

Ratio of the variable and 
fixed remuneration

The proportion of the fixed salary of the overall compensation 
must be sufficiently high to avoid dependency on the variable 
remuneration and potentially excessive risk-taking. 

The ratio of the fixed and long-term remuneration must be 
proportional, taking into consideration the Company’s long-term 
interest. The amount of long-term remuneration depends also 
on the targets set out by the Board of Directors. The amount of 
the CEO’s variable remuneration and its proportional percentage 
compared to the fixed remuneration must, additionally, adhere 
the maximum limits imposed by the financial industry regulation 
in force from time to time. 

In 2024, the ratio of the long-term incentive and fixed remuner-
ation paid to Patrick Anderson was 186.6%, including deferred 
remuneration from other earnings periods of the Share Incentive 
Plan.

Earning criteria of the 
long-term incentive plan

Long-term incentive plan may be determined based on the attain-
ment of the quantitative or qualitative targets set by the Board of 
Directors, or the development of the Company’s share price.

Remuneration paid out in 2024 to Patrick Anderson based on 
the earnings period 2021-2023 of the Share Incentive Plan, was 
based 70% on performance targets based on the operational 
EBITDA, 20% on sustainability targets, and 10% on assessing 
adherence to the internal guidelines and principles of the Group 
as well as generating high value services and products. Accord-
ing to the Board of Directors’ assessment, the success rate of 
United Bankers Group’s financial targets was 100%, sustainability 
targets 72.8%, and qualitative criteria 91.7%.
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The key terms of the CEO of United Bankers as in force 31 December 2024:

Pension The CEO is covered by the statutory pension benefits system. The CEO is not covered by any additional pension scheme.

Other benefits The CEO may be granted other potential reasonable benefits in 
accordance with market practice to ensure the commitment of a 
competent CEO to the development of the Company.

The Company offers the CEO a phone benefit.

Termination of the CEO’s 
service term

The CEO agreement contains written stipulations concerning 
notice period of termination, non-competition obligation, and 
severance payment.

The CEO’s notice period of termination is six months.

In case the Company terminates the CEO agreement, or the 
agreement is terminated upon the mutual agreement of the 
Company and the CEO, the Company shall carry out a severance 
payment to the CEO that is equivalent to a six (6) month’s fixed 
remuneration prior to the termination. The severance payment 
shall not be carried out in case the Company terminates the 
contract on the grounds that would warrant the termination or 
annulment of an employment contract in accordance with the 
Employment Contracts Act.

Should the CEO’s service relationship end prior to the payment 
of the remuneration under the Share Incentive Plan, as a rule, the 
remuneration would not be paid out.

Long-term incentive plan

United Bankers’ Share Incentive Plan is a long-term incentive 
plan, with a purpose to support the United Bankers’s business 
strategy and to commit key personnel to the Company. Share 
ownership creates a long-term incentive for the management to 
maximise the Company’s long-term value and the possibility for 
competitive earnings. The Share Incentive Plan consists of three-
year earnings periods, and the remuneration from each period fall 
due the following year of the expiry of such earnings period. The 
Company’s Board of Directors resolves upon the earning criteria 
and the set targets in the beginning of each earnings period. 

During the term of the service relationship, the CEO or their con-
trolled entity is not allowed to sell the shares obtained by them via 
the Share Incentive Plan, to the extent the value of such shares in 
the Company falls short of the amount of the CEO’s fixed gross 
annual remuneration.

The remuneration paid out in 2024 to Patrick Anderson was based 
on the attainment of the financial and sustainability targets of the 
Group as well as targets concerning adherence to the internal 
guidelines and principles of the Group as well as generating high 
value services and products set out to the CEO for the earnings 
period 2021-2023. In the earnings period 2021-2023 the earning 
criteria were met so that the CEO’s remuneration according to 
the long-term incentive plan was realised by 93.7% of the maxi-
mum remuneration. In 2024, CEO Patrick Anderson received EUR 
182,412 as remuneration regarding the incentive plan’s earnings 
period 2021-2023. 

No remuneration in accordance with the Share Incentive Plan was 
paid to John Ojanperä based on his role as CEO during 1 Novem-
ber 2024 – 31 December 2024.
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Right to remuneration not fallen due

In 2024 the CEO was a part of three three-year earnings periods of 
the Share Incentive Plan regarding the periods 2022-2024,2023-
2025 as well as 2024-2026. Remuneration of the Share Incentive 
Plan become due and payable after each earnings period.

In the earnings periods 2022-2024, 2023-2025 and 2024-2026 of 
the Share Incentive Plan, applicable to the CEO, the targets set 
out by the Board of Directors shall be emphasized according to 
the table below. The Board of Directors confirms the final amount 
of the remuneration payable separately after the termination of 
each earnings period, and therefore they will be included in the 
Remuneration Reports in the subsequent years.

The targets set for unsettled earnings periods are set out in the table below:

Target Emphasis Additional information

Financial targets of the United 
Bankers Group

70% The financial targets set by the Board of Directors of United Bankers, the achievement of which is measured 
by the Group’s adjusted EBITDA over a period of three years.

Sustainability targets of 
the United Bankers Group

20% Sustainability targets have been set out, among others, to the following criteria for the period of three 
years: execution of the United Bankers’ sustainability strategy, adherence to the Principles for Responsible 
Investment, results of the study conducted by the Scandinavian Financial Research Ltd (SFR), personnel’s 
satisfaction measured by personnel research as well as the attainment of qualitative ESG objectives, 
including good governance.

Essential qualitative criteria of 
the United Bankers Group 

10% Adherence to the internal guidelines and principles of the United Bankers Group as well as generating 
high-value services and products.

The earnings periods of the Share Incentive Plan for the CEOs:

Patrick Anderson* Maximum number of shares Remuneration becoming due and payable Estimated attainment Payment year

2022–2024 8,648 8,242 95.3% 2025

2023–2025 6,019 - - 2026

2024–2026 3,430 - - 2027

*The Share Incentive Plan has expired on behalf of Patrick Anderson as at year end 2024. Maximum number of shares has been adjusted to reflect the length of each earnings period.

John Ojanperä Maximum number of shares Remuneration becoming due and payable Estimated attainment Payment year

2022–2024 8,676 8,268 95.3% 2025

2023–2025 9,059 - - 2026

2024–2026 11,407 - - 2027
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Shares and shareholders

THE LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 31.12.2024

Shareholders Shares % of shares and votes

OY CASTOR-INVEST AB 1,220,000 11.13

AMOS PARTNERS OY 1,116,270 10.18

JARAFI OY 1,105,330 10.08

BOCKHOLMEN INVEST AB 600,000 5.47

J. LEHTI & CO OY 494,850 4.51

OLSIO TOM HENRIK WILHELM 471,051 4.30

JOUHKI MARINA 379,695 3.46

LINDER CASSANDRA MARIE 280,750 2.56

LINDER CHRISTOFFER MAGNUS 280,750 2.56

LINDER CORINNE SOPHIE 280,750 2.56

OY OTTIGER AB 210,000 1.92

CARTELLE OY 205,680 1.88

KONNUN TUULIKALLIO OY 197,000 1.80

VIAPORI KAPITAL OY 184,243 1.68

QUANTUM CAPITAL OY 184,102 1.68

WINBERG PETER VILHELM 108,431 0.99

HÄGGBLOM & PARTNERS LTD. OY 103,774 0.95

JORDAN KARI ALPO ERIK 100,000 0.91

RK-INVEST OY LTD 94,204 0.86

NORAMAA INKA 89,509 0.82

20 largest shareholders total 7,706,389 70.29

Nominee registered 63,099 0.58

Others 3,193,555 29.13

Total 10,963,043 100
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UNITED BANKERS PLC’S SHARE PRICE DEVELOPMENT 2024
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SHAREHOLDING BY SECTOR

UNITED Corporations 56.71%Households 30.89%
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Foreigners 6.99%

Public sector institutions 1.58%
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Non-profit institutions 0.18%
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Information to investors

Basic share information

United Bankers Plc’s shares are listed on Nasdaq Helsinki Stock 
Exchange Ltd. United Bankers has one series of shares, each 
share of which entitles the holder to one vote at the company’s 
General Meeting. All shares carry equal rights in the distribution of 
the company’s assets. United Bankers’ trading code is UNITED.

United Bankers Plc’s shares have been entered into the book-en-
try system on 31 March 2014. Shares are kept for account holders 
registered in the book-entry system, such as also the managers of 
the nominee-registered shares. The book-entry securities system 
is maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd. 

United Bankers’ share capital on 31 December 2024 amounted 
to EUR 5,464,225.47. The total number of fully paid and issued 
shares in the company in accordance with the applicable regula-
tion amounted to 10,963,043. The shares of the company have no 
nominal value and the Articles of Association do not include any 
provisions regarding the maximum or minimum amount of shares 
or share capital. The company has not issued stock options or 
other securities that could be exchanged or converted into shares 
of the company. The company held a total of 29,858 of its own 
shares on 31 December 2024.

Distribution of funds

The company’s dividend policy is to distribute at least 70 per cent 
of the earnings per share or cash flow per share as dividends, 
considering the company’s financial situation and strategy.

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders that based on the balance sheet adopted for the 
financial period ended on 31 December 2024, a total dividend 
of EUR 1.10 per share be paid. The total dividend distribution in 
accordance with the proposal, calculated at the number of shares 
outstanding at the date of the financial statements, amounts to 

EUR 12,026,503.50. No dividend shall be payable on treasury 
shares held by the company. 

The Board of Directors proposes that the dividend be distributed 
in two instalments, with payments made in April and October. The 
first instalment of the dividend will be paid to a shareholder who 
is registered in the company’s shareholders’ register maintained 
by Euroclear Finland Ltd on the record date for dividend payment, 
25 March 2025. The dividend is proposed to be paid out on 1 
April 2025. The second instalment of the dividend will be paid to 
a shareholder who is registered in the company’s shareholders’ 
register maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd on the record date 
for dividend payment, 26 September 2025. The dividend is pro-
posed to be paid out on 3 October 2025. The Board of Directors 
proposes it be authorised, if necessary, to decide on a new record 
date and payment date for the second instalment of the dividend, 
if the rules of Euroclear Finland Ltd or the regulations concerning 
the Finnish book-entry system change or otherwise require it.

The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend of EUR 1.10 per share be distrib-
uted for the financial year. The dividend will be paid in two instalments (EUR 0.55 
and EUR 0.55).

DISTRIBUTION/SHARE EUR
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Information on the general meeting 2025

United Bankers Plc’s Annual General Meeting will be held on Fri-
day 21 March 2025 at 13.00 EET in Helsinki.

IR calendar 2025

In 2025, in addition to the Financial Statements Bulletin, United 
Bankers will publish a Half-Year Financial Report for the period 
of 1 January through 30 June 2025 on or about 21 August 2025.

Releases are published both in Finnish and English. After publica-
tion, the releases are also accessible on the company’s website 
at unitedbankers.fi. United Bankers’ stock exchange and press 
releases, annual reports, half-year financial reports and financial 
statements are also available on the company’s website. In addi-
tion, the company’s press releases can be subscribed to via the 
website. 

Investor contacts 

John Ojanperä, CEO  
Email: john.ojanpera@unitedbankers.fi
Telephone: +358 40 842 3472

Katri Nieminen, CFO 
Email: katri.nieminen@unitedbankers.fi
Telephone: +358 50 564 4787

Inka Noramaa, Chief Communications Officer
Email: inka.noramaa@unitedbankers.fi
Telephone: +358 40 576 4202

Marjo Åström, Investor Relations Manager
Email: marjo.astrom@unitedbankers.fi
Telephone: +358 40 507 6546

Investor Relations
ir@unitedbankers.fi

Analyst following the company 

Sauli Vilén, Inderes 
Telephone: +358 44 025 8908
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